

The Role of the Mitochondrial Permeability Transition Pore in Human Myocardial Protection

Thesis submitted by

Selvaraj Shanmuganathan MBBS FRCS

For the degree of

Doctor of Medicine

University of London

The Hatter Institute and Centre for Cardiology,

University College London Medical School and Hospital,

67 Chenies Mews, London, WC1E 6HX.

Abstract

ABSTRACT

Background:

Coronary artery disease is set to be the world's leading cause of mortality by 2020. Hence novel treatment strategies are urgently required to protect the human myocardium against ischemia-reperfusion injury. This thesis examines the role of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore (MPTP) as a novel target for myocardial protection by interventions applied solely at the time of reperfusion, which can protect the human heart against lethal reperfusion injury.

Methods and Results:

Using human atrial tissue (harvested at the time of routine cardiac bypass surgery), subjected to simulated ischemia and reperfusion injury model, we have demonstrated that the opening of the MPTP at the time of reperfusion is a critical determinant of cardiomyocyte death. We also show that inhibiting MPTP opening, by administering known pharmacological inhibitors of MPTP at the onset of reperfusion, is cardio-protective. Using experimental models in adult human atrial trabeculae, we demonstrate that inhibiting MPTP opening at the time of reperfusion improves myocardial contractile function. Also using human atrial cardiomyocytes we demonstrate that inhibiting MPTP opening at the time of reperfusion improves cellular viability. Finally using the human atrial cardiomyocyte model for inducing and detecting the MPTP opening, we demonstrate the opening of MPTP and also the inhibitory effect of known MPTP inhibitors on MPTP opening.

Conclusion:

We find that MPTP opening does occur in the human atrial cardiomyocyte following ischemiareperfusion injury, and that inhibiting the opening of the MPTP at the time of reperfusion, provides a potential target for human myocardial protection, when the intervention is applied at the time of reperfusion. Therefore, interventions, which target and inhibit MPTP opening, at the time of reperfusion, can protect the myocardium from lethal reperfusion injury and may improve morbidity and mortality from coronary artery disease. This is useful in the clinical settings of ischemia-reperfusion injury such as thrombolysis following an acute myocardial infarction, heart surgery and percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I wish to express my thanks and gratitude to those at the Hatter Institute, my special thanks for all their hard work, unrestricted guidance and the very much needed support, my heartfelt thanks to Professor Derek Yellon and in particular Dr Derek Hausenloy for their guidance, support and encouragement and for providing much inspiration and motivation for this work.

I would also like to thank the Research Fellows at The Hatter Institute, past and present, for their support and encouragement, for their guidance, inspiration and valuable assistance. I would like to thank Mrs Kerry Davis in particular for her guidance and support.

I would also like to acknowledge and express my thanks to Professor Michael Duchen who kindly allowed us to use the Confocal Microscope and for providing valuable guidance and supervision.

Finally, I thank my family and friends for their undoubted patience, understanding and support during the entire course of this study.

Declaration

I confirm that the work presented in this thesis is my own.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

TITLE PAGE	1
ABSTRACT	2
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	3
TABLE OF CONTENTS	4
TABLE OF FIGURES	9
LIST OF TABLES	12
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	13
LIST OF PUBLICATIONS	15

Chapter One: GENERAL INTRODUCTION

1.1	Corona	Coronary Artery Disease 17			
1.2	Муоса	Myocardial Ischemia-Reperfusion Injury 1			
1.3	Муоса	Myocardial Protection by Ischemic Preconditioning			
1.4	Precor 1.4.1	n ditioning the Human Myocardium In Vitro studies	20 20		
	1.4.2	In Vivo studies	20		
		Exercise induced angina	20		
		Pre-infarction Angina	21		
		Angioplasty studies	21		
		Surgical studies	22		
1.5	Муоса	rdial Protection by Intervening at Reperfusion	22		
	1.5.1	Protecting the Human Myocardium against Ischemia-Reperfusion Injury	22		
1.6	Муоса	rdial Protection by Ischemic Post-conditioning (Ipost)	25		
	1.6.1	Ischemic post-conditioning in clinical arena	26		
	1.6.2	Pharmacological post-conditioning	27		
1.7	Муоса	rdial Protection by remote Ischemic conditioning (RIC)	28		
	1.7.1	Remote ischemic preconditioning in clinical arena	29		
1.8	The Mi	itochondrial Permeability Transition Pore (MPTP)	30		
	1.8.1	Characterisation of the Mitochondrial Permeability Transition Pore	30		
		1.8.1.1 Inducers of MPTP Opening	31		
		1.8.1.2 Inhibitors of MPTP Opening	34		
	1.8.2	The Molecular Identification of the MPTP	38		
	1.8.3	The MPTP opens during reperfusion and not during ischemia	41		
	1.8.4	Consequences of MPTP Opening	43		
		1.8.4.1 MPTP opening and Necrotic Cell Death	43		
	405	1.8.4.2 Apoptotic Cell Death and MPTP	44		
	1.8.5	I NE KOIE OT THE MIP I P IN REPERTUSION INJURY	45		

1.9	Summary and Main Objectives of the Thesis	49
-----	---	----

Chapter Two: HYPOTHESIS

Overall hypothesis:

The mitochondrial permeability transition pore (MPTP) is a target for cardioprotection	
In the human heart	50

Aim and objectives:

50

- 1. To determine whether pharmacologically inhibiting MPTP opening at the onset of myocardial reperfusion improves recovery in contractile function in human atrial muscle following a period of sustained simulated ischemia.
- 2. To determine whether pharmacologically inhibiting MPTP opening at the onset of myocardial reperfusion improves the survival of human atrial cardiomyocytes subjected to a period of sustained simulated ischemia.
- 3. To demonstrate that MPTP opening occurs in human atrial cardiomyocytes subjected to oxidative stress, and that MPTP opening can be inhibited by known pharmacological MPTP inhibitors.

Chapter Three: GENERAL METHODS

3.1	Patien	its	52
3.2	Exclu	sion criteria	52
3.3	Prepa	ration of Adult Human right atrial trabeculae	53
	3.3.1	Isolation of Trabeculae	53
		3.3.1.a Oxygenation of isolated muscle preparation	54
		3.3.1.b Method of isolation of muscle	55
	3.3.2	Force transducer	56
	3.3.3	Organ bath	57
	3.3.4	Stabilisation of the trabeculae	59
	3.3.5	Measurement of force	60
	3.3.6	Materials	61
	3.3.7	Experimental protocols	61
		3.3.7.1 Control group	61
		3.3.7.2 Preconditioning protocol	61
		3.3.7.3 Drug groups	61
3.4	Isolati	on of Adult Human Right Atrial Cardiomyocytes	62
	3.4.1	Materials	63
3.5	Prepa	ring Human right atrial Cardiomyocytes for Hypoxic chamber	63
	3.5.1	Subjecting cells to hypoxia and reoxygenation	64
	3.5.2	Experimental protocols for measurement of percentage viability,	
		apoptosis and necrosis	66
3.6	Prepa	ring Human Atrial Cardiomyocytes for Confocal Microscopy	67
	3.6.1	Human atrial cardiomyocyte model for induction and detection	
		of MPTP opening	67
	3.6.2	Experimental protocols	68
	3.6.3	Confocal Microscopy	68
3.7	Statis	tical Analyses	69

Contents

Chapter Four: THE MITOCHONDRIAL PERMEABILITY TRANSITION PORE: A POTENTIAL TARGET FOR PROTECTING HUMAN MYOCARDIUM FROM LETHAL REPERFUSION INJURY AND *IMPROVING FUNCTIONAL RECOVERY* (Trabeculae model)

4.1	Introdu	ction	71
4.2	Hypothesis 7 Opening of the MPTP at the time of reperfusion is a critical determinant of cell death and inhibiting its opening is target for cardioprotection in the human heart.		
4.3	Aim To determine whether pharmacologically inhibiting MPTP opening at the onset of myocardial reoxygenation improves the survival of human atrial cardiomyocytes subjected to a period of sustained simulated ischemia.		73
	4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3	Materials Isolated Human right Atrial Trabeculae model Experimental protocols	73 74 74
4.4	Results	6	75
	4.4.1	Exclusions	75
	4.4.2	Experimental Data and Results	76
4.5	Discus	sion	79
4.6	Conclu	sion	79

Chapter Five: THE MITOCHONDRIAL PERMEABILITY TRANSITION PORE: A POTENTIAL TARGET FOR PROTECTING HUMAN MYOCARDIUM FROM LETHAL REPERFUSION INJURY AND *IMPROVING CELLULAR VIABILITY* (Cardiomyocyte model)

5.1	Introdu	uction	81
5.2	Hypoth Openin death a	nesis g of the MPTP at the time of reperfusion is a critical determinant of cell and inhibiting its opening is target for cardioprotection in the human heart.	81
5.3	Aim To determine whether pharmacologically inhibiting MPTP opening at the onset of myocardial reoxygenation improves the survival of human atrial cardiomyocytes subjected to a period of sustained simulated ischemia.		82
	5.3.1 5.3.2	Materials Isolated Human right Atrial cardiomyocyte model 5.3.2a Hypoxic Preconditioning Protocol 5.3.2b Establishing the model of human atrial cell viability using hypoxic chamber	82 83 83 83
	5.3.3	Experimental Protocols	85
5.4	Result	S	86
	5.4.1 5.4.2	Exclusions Experimental Data and Results	86 87
5.5	Discus	sion	90
5.6	Conclu	ision	91

Chapter Six: THE MITOCHONDRIAL PERMEABILITY TRANSITION PORE: A POTENTIAL TARGET FOR PROTECTING HUMAN MYOCARDIUM FROM LETHAL REPERFUSION INJURY BY REDUCING CELL DEATH (*Cardiomyocyte model*)

6.1	Introdu	iction	93
6.2	Hypothesis Opening of the MPTP at the time of reperfusion is a critical determinant of cell death and inhibiting its opening is a target for cardioprotection in the human heart.		
6.3	Aim To determine whether pharmacologically inhibiting MPTP opening at the onset of myocardial reoxygenation improves the survival of human atrial cardiomyocytes subjected to a period of sustained simulated ischemia.		94
	6.3.1 6.3.2	Materials Isolated Human right Atrial Cardiomyocyte model 6.3.2a Human atrial cardiomyocyte of simulated ischemia-reperfusion injury	94 95 95
	6.3.3	Experimental Protocols	98
6.4	Results	5	99
	6.4.1 6.4.2	Exclusions Experimental Data and results	99 100
6.5	Discus	sion	102
6.6	Conclusion		104

Chapter Seven: THE MITOCHONDRIAL PERMEABILITY TRANSITION PORE: A POTENTIAL TARGET FOR PROTECTING HUMAN MYOCARDIUM FROM LETHAL REPERFUSION INJURY BY *DELAYING OPENING OF MPTP* (Cellular model of oxidative stress)

7.1	Introd	uction	106
7.2	Hypot Openii death	hesis ng of the MPTP at the time of reperfusion is a critical determinant of cell and inhibiting its opening is a target for cardioprotection in the human he	107 eart.
7.3	Aim To der subjec by kno	nonstrate that MPTP opening occurs in human atrial cardiomyocytes ted to oxidative stress, and that MPTP opening can be inhibited wn pharmacological MPTP inhibitors.	107
	7.3.1 7.3.2 7.3.3	Materials Isolated Human right Atrial cardiomyocyte model of MPTP opening Experimental Protocols	107 108 109
7.4 7.5	Result 7.4.1 7.4.2 Discus	s Exclusions <i>Experimental Data and results</i> ssion	110 110 <i>111</i> 114
7.6	Concl	usion	115

Selvara	ij Shanmuganath	nan C	Contents	
Chap	ter Eight:	SUMMARY AND	DISCUSSION	116
Chap	ter Nine:	CONCLUSION		124
9.1	Summary of F	indings		124
9.2	Clinical Implic	ations		126
9.3	Future Direction	ons		128
Chap	ter Ten:	REFERENCES		129

Table of Figures

TABLE OF FIGURES

Chapter Three: GENERAL METHODS

Figure 3.1A to C

	Figure showing (a) stimulator, (b) pump for constant flow of buffer	58
	and (c) the whole rig including water jacket and the computer recording	
Figure 3.2D an	d E	
	Figure showing force transducer and organ bath with electrodes on	58
	either side mounted on a low vibration table	
Figure 3.3		
	Figure showing Human right atrial trebacula attached to transducer	59
	from the pole and perfused in the organ bath	
Figure 3.4		
	Confocal Microscope with Camera Attached	68
Chapter Four:	THE MITOCHONDRIAL PERMEABILITY TRANSITION PORE: A POTENTIAL TARGET FOR PROTECTING HUMAN MYOCARDIUM	
	FROM LETHAL REPERFUSION INJURY AND IMPROVING FUNCTIONAL RECOVERY (Trabeculae model)	
Figure 4.1	FROM LETHAL REPERFUSION INJURY AND IMPROVING FUNCTIONAL RECOVERY (Trabeculae model)	
Figure 4.1	FROM LETHAL REPERFUSION INJURY AND IMPROVING FUNCTIONAL RECOVERY (Trabeculae model) Experimental Protocols for Investigating the Effect of Inhibiting MPTP	75
Figure 4.1	FROM LETHAL REPERFUSION INJURY AND IMPROVING FUNCTIONAL RECOVERY (Trabeculae model) Experimental Protocols for Investigating the Effect of Inhibiting MPTP Opening on Functional Recovery of Human Right Atrial Trabeculae	75
Figure 4.1 Figure 4.2	FROM LETHAL REPERFUSION INJURY AND IMPROVING FUNCTIONAL RECOVERY (Trabeculae model) Experimental Protocols for Investigating the Effect of Inhibiting MPTP Opening on Functional Recovery of Human Right Atrial Trabeculae	75
Figure 4.1 Figure 4.2	FROM LETHAL REPERFUSION INJURY AND IMPROVING FUNCTIONAL RECOVERY (Trabeculae model) Experimental Protocols for Investigating the Effect of Inhibiting MPTP Opening on Functional Recovery of Human Right Atrial Trabeculae Inhibiting MPTP Opening at the Time of Reperfusion improves the	75
Figure 4.1 Figure 4.2	FROM LETHAL REPERFUSION INJURY AND IMPROVING FUNCTIONAL RECOVERY (Trabeculae model) Experimental Protocols for Investigating the Effect of Inhibiting MPTP Opening on Functional Recovery of Human Right Atrial Trabeculae Inhibiting MPTP Opening at the Time of Reperfusion improves the functional recovery of the Human Right Atrial Trabeculae and protects	75 78
Figure 4.1 Figure 4.2	FROM LETHAL REPERFUSION INJURY AND IMPROVING FUNCTIONAL RECOVERY (Trabeculae model) Experimental Protocols for Investigating the Effect of Inhibiting MPTP Opening on Functional Recovery of Human Right Atrial Trabeculae Inhibiting MPTP Opening at the Time of Reperfusion improves the functional recovery of the Human Right Atrial Trabeculae and protects against Lethal Reperfusion Injury	75 78
Figure 4.1 Figure 4.2 Figure 4.3	FROM LETHAL REPERFUSION INJURY AND IMPROVING FUNCTIONAL RECOVERY (Trabeculae model) Experimental Protocols for Investigating the Effect of Inhibiting MPTP Opening on Functional Recovery of Human Right Atrial Trabeculae Inhibiting MPTP Opening at the Time of Reperfusion improves the functional recovery of the Human Right Atrial Trabeculae and protects against Lethal Reperfusion Injury	75 78
Figure 4.1 Figure 4.2 Figure 4.3	FROM LETHAL REPERFUSION INJURY AND IMPROVING FUNCTIONAL RECOVERY (Trabeculae model) Experimental Protocols for Investigating the Effect of Inhibiting MPTP Opening on Functional Recovery of Human Right Atrial Trabeculae Inhibiting MPTP Opening at the Time of Reperfusion improves the functional recovery of the Human Right Atrial Trabeculae and protects against Lethal Reperfusion Injury Inhibiting MPTP Opening at the Time of Reperfusion Protects the Heart	75 78 78

Chapter Five: THE MITOCHONDRIAL PERMEABILITY TRANSITION PORE: A POTENTIAL TARGET FOR PROTECTING HUMAN MYOCARDIUM FROM LETHAL REPERFUSION INJURY AND IMPROVING CELLULAR VIABILITY (Cardiomyocyte model)

Figure 5.1		
	Experimental Protocols for Investigating the Effect of	86
	pharmacologically Inhibiting MPTP Opening on Viability of Human	
	Right Atrial Cardiomyocytes	
Figure 5.2a		
	This graph shows the percentage of viable cells at 10 minutes of	88
	reperfusion	
Figure 5.2b		
	This graph shows the percentage of viable cells at 30 minutes of	88
	reperfusion	
Figure 5.2c		
	This graph shows the percentage of viable cells at 50 minutes of	89
	reperfusion	
Figure 5.3		
	This graph shows the percentage of viable cells at reperfusion between	89
	Positive control, Hypoxic control, IPC and CsA groups	
Chapter Six:	THE MITOCHONDRIAL PERMEABILITY TRANSITION PORE: A POTENTIAL TARGET FOR PROTECTING HUMAN MYOCARDIUM FROM LETHAL REPERFUSION INJURY BY IMPROVING CELLULAR VIABILITY AND DECREASING NECROSIS (Cardiomyocyte model)	
Figure 6.1		
	Cardiomocytes under fluorescent microscope after staining with	977
	Annexin V and Propidium Iodide	
Figure 6.2		
	Experimental Protocols for Investigating the Effect of CsA and SfA	99

Inhibiting MPTP Opening on Viability of Human Right Atrial Cardiomyocytes

Selvaral Shahimuuahaman	Selvara	i Shanmuqanathan
-------------------------	---------	------------------

Table of Figures

Figure 6.3a

This graph shows the percentage of live cells (cardiomyocytes) at 101

30 minutes of reperfusion

Figure 6.3b

This graph shows the percentage of apoptotic cells at 30 minutes of 101 reperfusion

Figure 6.3c

This graph shows the percentage of necrotic cells at 30 minutes of 102

reperfusion

Chapter Seven: THE MITOCHONDRIAL PERMEABILITY TRANSITION PORE: A POTENTIAL TARGET FOR PROTECTING HUMAN MYOCARDIUM FROM LETHAL REPERFUSION INJURY BY DELAYING OPENING OF MPTP REPRESENTED BY THE COLLAPSE IN MITOCHONDRIAL MEMBRANE POTENTIAL USING (Cellular model of oxidative stress)

Figure 7.1

	Experimental Protocols for Investigating the Effect of CsA and SfA on	110
	Direct Inhibition of MPTP Opening using oxidative stress model of TMRI	M
Figure 7.2		
	This graph shows the time taken for MPTP opening indicated by the	112
	membrane depolarisation due to oxidative stress induced by TMRM	

Figure 7.3

Confocal Images of TMRM-loaded Human atrial cardiomyocytes 113

List of Tables

LIST OF TABLES

Chapter Four: THE MITOCHONDRIAL PERMEABILITY TRANSITION PORE: A POTENTIAL TARGET FOR PROTECTING HUMAN MYOCARDIUM FROM LETHAL REPERFUSION INJURY AND IMPROVING FUNCTIONAL RECOVERY (Trabeculae model)

Table 4.1		
	Physical Characteristics of Human Atrial Trabeculae in Study Groups	76
Table 4.2		
	Haemodynamic Data of Human Atrail Trabeculae in Study Groups	77
	during Ischemia (% of baseline)	
Table 4.3		
	Hemodynamic Data of Human Atrial Trabeculae in Study Groups	77
	during Reperfusion (% of baseline)	
Chapter Five:	THE MITOCHONDRIAL PERMEABILITY TRANSITION PORE: A POTENTIAL TARGET FOR PROTECTING HUMAN MYOCARDIUM FROM LETHAL REPERFUSION INJURY AND <i>IMPROVING</i> <i>CELLULAR VIABILITY</i> (Cardiomyocyte model)	
Table 5.1		
	This table shows the average percentage of viable cells at 10, 30	87
	and 50 minutes of reperfusion period	
Chapter Six:	THE MITOCHONDRIAL PERMEABILITY TRANSITION PORE: A POTENTIAL TARGET FOR PROTECTING HUMAN MYOCARDIUM FROM LETHAL REPERFUSION INJURY BY IMPROVING CELLULAR VIABILITY AND DECREASING NECROSIS Cardiomyocyte model)	
Table 6.1		
	This table shows the percentage of Viable, Apoptotic and Necrotic cells	100
	at 30 minutes of reperfusion period	
Chapter Sever	n: THE MITOCHONDRIAL PERMEABILITY TRANSITION PORE: A POTENTIAL TARGET FOR PROTECTING HUMAN MYOCARDIUM FROM LETHAL REPERFUSION INJURY BY DELAYING OPENING OF MPTP REPRESENTED BY THE COLLAPSE IN MITOCHONDRIAL MEMBRANE POTENTIAL USING (Cellular model of oxidative stress))
Table 7.1		
	This table shows the time taken to induce MPTP opening (seconds)	111
	by laser induced oxidative stress	

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

The following is a list of abbreviations used in this thesis.

%	percentage
ACE-I	angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor
ADP	adenosine diphosphate
AIF	apoptosis-inducing factor
Akt	cellular Akt/ protein kinase B
AMISTAD	Acute Myocardial Infarction STudy of ADenosine
AMP	adenosine monophosphate
ANOVA	analysis of variance
ANT	adenine nucleotide translocase
APAF-1	apoptosis protease-inducing factor-1
ATP	adenosine triphosphate
ATPase	ATP synthase
Bad	Bcl-X _L /Bcl-2-associated death promoter
Ca ²⁺	calcium ion
Caspase	cystein aspartate specific proteases
СК	creatine kinase
CsA	cyclosporin-A
Da	Dalton
DIABLO	direct IAP-binding protein with low pl
DMSO	dimethyl sulphoxide
ETC	electron transport chain
F ₀ F ₁ -ATPase	ATP synthase
GUARDIAN	Guard During Ischemia Against Necrosis
HMG-CoA	hydroxyl-3-methylglutaryl-co-enzyme A
H⁺	hydrogen ion/proton
IMAC	inner membrane anion channel
IMM	inner mitochondrial membrane

IPC	ischemic preconditioning
K ⁺	potassium ion
K _{ATP}	ATP-sensitive potassium channel
kDa	kilodalton
LDH	lactate dehydrogenase
LIMIT-2	Second Leicester Intravenous Magnesium Intervention Trial
Mg ²⁺	magnesium ion
MAPK	mitogen activated protein kinase
МЕК	MAPK/Erk kinase
MMC	mitochondrial megachannel
MMP	mitochondrial membrane permeabilisation
MPTP	mitochondrial permeability transition pore
Na⁺	sodium ion
NADH	nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide
NHE	Na⁺-H⁺ exchanger
NO	nitric oxide
OMM	outer mitochondrial membrane
рН	рН
P _i	inorganic phosphate
РКС	protein kinase C
PPlase	peptidyl prolyl transisomerase
ROS	reactive oxygen species
SfA	sanglifehrin-A
SMAC	second mitochondrial activator of caspases
SWOP	second window of protection
тк	tyrosine kinase
TMRM	tetramethyl-rhodamine methyl ester
2-DOG	2-deoxyglucose
VDAC	voltage-dependent anion channel

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

The following is a list of publications arising from the thesis.

ABSTRACTS:

1. Inhibiting Mitochondrial Permeability Transition Pore Protects the Human Myocardium from Reperfusion Injury.

Shanmuganathan S, Hausenloy DJ, Duchen M, Yellon D. Circulation. 2004 Oct; 26; Vol 110; 17 (Suppl).

2. Inhibiting mitochondrial permeability transition pore opening protects the human heart from lethal reoxygenation injury.

Shanmuganathan S, Hausenloy DJ, Duchen M, Yellon D. Cardiovasc J S Afr. 2004 Jul;15(4 Suppl 1):S11.

PRESENTATIONS:

1. "Inhibiting Mitochondrial Permeability Transition Pore Opening Protects the Human Myocardium from Ischemia-Reperfusion Injury";

S Shanmuganathan, DJ Hausenloy, M Duchen, D Yellon – Oral presentation at Scientific Sessions 2004, American Heart Association, New Orleans.

- "Protecting the Human Myocardium from the Lethal Reperfusion Injury by Inhibiting the Opening of the Mitochondrial Permeability Transition pore";
 S Shanmuganathan, DJ Hausenloy, M Duchen, D Yellon – Poster presentation at UCL Cardiovascular Science and Medicine Symposium, May 2004. (First prize).
- 3. "Inhibiting Mitochondrial Permeability Transition Pore Opening Protects the Human Myocardium from Ischemia-Reperfusion Injury ";

S Shanmuganathan, D Hausenloy, M Duchen, D Yellon – poster presentation at ISHR at South Africa, August 2004.

PUBLICATIONS:

3. Mitochondrial permeability transition pore as a target for cardio-protection in the human heart.

Shanmuganathan S, Hausenloy DJ, Duchen M, Yellon D. American Journal of Physiology – Heart and Circulatory Physiology. 2005 Jul; 289(1):H237-42

		Chapter One: GENERAL INTRODUCTION	
1.1	Coron	ary Artery Disease	17
1.2	Муоса	ardial Ischemia-Reperfusion Injury	19
1.3	Муоса	ardial Protection by Ischemic Preconditioning	19
1.4	Preco	nditioning the Human Myocardium	20
	1.4.1	In Vitro studies	20
	1.4.2	In Vivo studies	20
		Exercise induced angina	20
		Pre-infarction Angina	21
		Angioplasty studies	21
		Surgical studies	22
1.5	Муоса	ardial Protection by Intervening at Reperfusion	22
	1.5.1	Protecting the Human Myocardium Against Ischemia-Reperfusion Injury	22
1.6	Муоса	ardial Protection by Ischemic Post-conditioning (IPost)	25
	1.6.1	Ischemic post-conditioning in clinical arena	36
	1.6.2	Pharmacological post-conditioning	27
1.7	Муоса	ardial Protection by remote Ischemic conditioning (RIC)	28
	1.7.1	Remote ischemic preconditioning in clinical arena	29
1.8	The M	itochondrial Permeability Transition Pore (MPTP)	30
	1.8.1	Characterisation of the Mitochondrial Permeability Transition Pore	30
		1.8.1.1 Inducers of MPTP Opening	31
		1.8.1.2 Inhibitors of MPTP Opening	34
	1.8.2	The Molecular Identification of the MPTP	38
	1.8.3	The MPTP opens during reperfusion and not during ischemia	41
	1.8.4	Consequences of MPTP Opening	43
		1.8.4.1 MPTP opening and Necrotic Cell Death	43
		1.8.4.2 Apoptotic Cell Death and MPTP	44
	1.8.5	The Role of the MPTP in Reperfusion Injury	45
1.9	Summ	nary and Main Objectives of the Thesis	49

1.1 Coronary Artery Disease

Coronary artery disease (CAD) is the leading cause of death in the world. About 3.8 million men and 3.4 million women die of this disease every year¹. The global burden, in terms of disability-adjusted life years (DALY) or "healthy years of life lost" is projected to rise from around 47 million DALY globally in 1990 to 82 million DALY in 2020. CAD ranges from subclinical coronary artery disease, angina on exertion, unstable angina and myocardial infarction, congestive cardiac failure and finally death.

CAD is caused by the build up of atherosclerotic plaques in the coronary arteries, known as atherosclerosis. This leads to limitation of the coronary blood flow to the myocardium resulting in oxygen and nutrient deprivation, termed ischemia. The unstable atheromatous plaque can rupture resulting in the formation of a thrombo-embolic plug occluding the major coronary arteries. This acute occlusion leads to acute myocardial infarction. Salvaging the myocardium in this situation of acute myocardial infarction is by the timely restoration of coronary blood flow to the ischemic myocardium by - thrombolysis, primary percutaneous coronary artery intervention or coronary artery bypass graft (CABG) surgery. Data from the British Heart Foundation (BHF) indicates that CAD in the UK is the most common cause of mortality and accounts for more than 125,000 deaths per year. Thankfully, the majority of these are non-fatal at the time of presentation. A large proportion of patients presenting with CAD benefit from revascularisation either using percutaneous coronary intervention or CABG surgery.

To salvage viable myocardium following an acute coronary artery occlusion, reperfusion is mandatory. However, the restoration of blood flow paradoxically leads to the death of cardiomyocytes which were viable just before the ischemic episode. This myocardial injury is termed lethal *'reperfusion injury'*² and which in itself can induce cardiomyocyte death and increase infarct size. This could possibly explain the increase in the incidence of death after an acute myocardial infarction reaching 10% and the incidence of cardiac failure after an acute myocardial infarction reaching up to 25% despite optimal management.

Therefore myocardial protection against this lethal reperfusion injury is required and novel treatment strategies that can be applied *after* the onset of ischemia but at the time of onset of reperfusion need to be identified.

One of the most powerful mechanisms for protecting the myocardium *before* the acute coronary artery occlusion / ischemia is to ischemically precondition (IPC) the myocardium. This powerful phenomenon was first described in the seminal study by Murry and colleagues in 1986³. IPC refers to the ability of short periods of ischemia to make the myocardium more resistant to a subsequent lethal ischemic insult.

Cardioprotection has been shown to be achieved by applying the brief episodes of non-lethal ischemia and reperfusion to an organ or tissue remote from the heart. This phenomenon has been termed remote ischemic 'conditioning'^{4,5}. Remote ischemic conditioning can offer widespread systemic protection to other organs which are susceptible to acute ischemia–reperfusion injury such as the brain, liver, intestine or kidney. Ischemic myocardial injury can also be reduced by another mechanism called ischemic post conditioning, which is achieved by interrupting myocardial reperfusion⁶.

Although the above mentioned protective strategies are separated by timing of the intervention and the conceived mechanisms of action, all these cardio-protective strategies, may converge on the mitochondrial permeability transition pore (MPTP) which is the main subject of this thesis. This was first described in the late 1970's by the pioneering studies by Haworth and Hunter⁷.

The aim of this thesis is to explore the critical role of MPTP in ischemia-reperfusion injury and examine its relation and contribution in the salvation of the human myocardial viability and function.

1.2 Myocardial Ischemia-Reperfusion Injury

Myocardial reperfusion injury was first postulated by Jennings et al in 1960⁸. In their histological description of reperfused ischemic canine myocardium, they reported cell swelling, contracture of myofibrils, disruption of the sarcolemma, and the appearance of intramitochondrial calcium phosphate particles. Reperfusion injury to the heart causes four recognised types of cardiac dysfunction i.e. reperfusion induced arrhythmias; myocardial stunning; reversible microvascular obstruction; and cell death⁹.

The concept of lethal reperfusion injury as an independent mediator of cardiomyocyte death distinct from ischemic injury is debatable. Some suggest that reperfusion only exacerbates the cellular injury that was sustained during the ischemic period⁹. To show the existence of lethal reperfusion injury as a distinct mediator of cardiomyocyte death, it is important to show that the size of a myocardial infarct can be reduced by an intervention used at the beginning of myocardial reperfusion¹⁰.

The main causes of reperfusion injury are increased intracellular calcium and reactive oxygen species (ROS) which is initiated during ischemia and amplified during reperfusion and targeting the mitochondria¹¹⁻¹³.

1.3 Myocardial Protection by Ischemic Preconditioning

In 1986 Murry et al made a seminal discovery of an endogenous mechanism offering profound protection which they termed ischemic preconditioning¹⁴. In their seminal paper they showed that four cycles of 5 minutes of ischemia with intermittent reperfusion were shown to limit infarct size by 75%. This cardio-protection is termed as classical or early preconditioning.

IPC has been demonstrated in all animal species studied to date including chicken, dog, mouse, pig, rabbit, rat, and sheep. The preconditioned state is very transient and lasts for only 1-2 hours in anesthetized animals^{14,15} and is lost between 2-4 hours in conscious rabbits. Although the initial protection is transient a delayed protection reappears within 24 hours of the preconditioning stimulus and is termed second window of protection (SWOP)¹⁶.

The original end point used as the assessment for protection from the IPC was infarct size and this was expressed as a percentage of the risk zone³. Though stunning has been used as an end point of assessment, doubts do exist regarding IPC effect on stunning. Post-ischemic recovery of contractile function is a commonly used end point for IPC^{17,18}. IPC has been reported to alter the incidence of reperfusion induced arrhythmias in dogs and rats.

1.4 Preconditioning the Human Myocardium

Human ventricular cardiomyocytes and atrial trabeculae studies have been ingeniously used as a surrogate to study the effects of ischemic preconditioning. The evidence is reviewed below

1.4.1 In Vitro studies

Ikonomidis et al, were the first to demonstrate the effect of preconditioning in human ventricular cardiomyocytes in cell culture and they used trypan blue exclusion and metabolic end points of injury¹⁹. Arstall et al, showed that in addition to classical preconditioning, human ventricular cardiomyocytes exhibited delayed cardioprotection 24 hours after a short period of simulated ischemia²⁰.

Our group were the first to investigate the preconditioning phenomenon in the human atrial muscle obtained from the patients undergoing coronary artery bypass surgery¹⁸. They were able to precondition the human muscle and used post-ischemic recovery of mechanical function as the end point. This has been confirmed by other authors²¹. Ghosh et al, using sections from the right atrium, have demonstrated both early and delayed preconditioning using both simulated ischemia as well as pharmacological means and used leakage of creatine kinase as the index of injury²².

1.4.2 In Vivo studies

Exercise induced angina

Some patients are able to exercise to the point of angina, take rest and continue further with no more symptoms and this phenomenon is termed as warm-up or first effort angina¹⁶. The

above phenomenon was initially thought to be mediated by the coronary vasodilatation and recruitment of collateral vessels but some investigations suggests other mechanisms might be involved. Okazaki et al and Williams et al, reported a reduction in the severity of angina and the degree of S-T segment depression during the second period of myocardial ischemia and these changes were not accompanied by the recruitment of collateral vessels and this was evidenced by the similar coronary and great cardiac vein blood flow measurements²³. Stewart et al and Tomai et al, showed that the duration of the warm-up angina is 1-2 hours after the first period of exercise, a time course that closely parallels classical ischemic preconditioning^{24,25}. However studies examining the cellular mechanism have given conflicting results^{26,27}.

Pre-infarction Angina

Kloner et al, in their retrospective analysis of the TIMI-4 trial, showed that the presence of preinfarct angina was associated with smaller infarct size and showed lower creatine kinase release, improved left ventricular function with reduced incidence of congestive heart failure and shock and reduced mortality²⁸. Patients experiencing angina before acute myocardial infarction (MI) seem to have reduced occurrence of life-threatening arrhythmias²⁹ and a lower mortality^{30,31}. Reports from TIMI-9B investigators³¹ and studies by Ishihara et al³⁰ and Yamagishi et al³² indicate that angina is only effective if it occurs within 24-72 hours of MI.

Angioplasty studies

Studies have shown that when the first balloon inflation of the coronary artery is between 60-90 seconds, indicators of myocardial ischemia such as chest pain severity, ventricular regional wall motion abnormality, S-T segment elevation, Q-T depression, ventricular ectopic activity, lactate production and release of markers such as Creatinine Kinase MB (CKMB) are attenuated during subsequent balloon inflations and thus providing evidence for myocardial adaptation induced by the first period of inflation³³⁻³⁵.

Surgical studies

Yellon et al were the first to report that, inducing global ischemia by intermittently crossclamping the aorta and pacing the heart (2x3 minutes cycle) followed by 2 minutes of reperfusion before a 10 minute period of global ischemia and ventricular fibrillation, ATP levels were better preserved (ventricular biopsy – ATP content) during the subsequent global ischemia period³⁶. Myocardial necrosis was also used as end point where serum levels of troponin-T were studied and Jenkins et al showed that patients subjected to the preconditioning protocol suffered significantly less myocardial necrosis³⁷. Illes et al showed that preconditioning the human heart just before the cardioplegic arrest resulted in a significant improvement in postoperative cardiac index and reduced inotropic requirement³⁸. Isoflurane has been shown to have beneficial effects during coronary artery bypass surgery by Tomai et al³⁹ and also shown to act as a direct preconditioning stimulus⁴⁰.

1.5 Myocardial Protection by Intervening at Reperfusion

Re-establishing coronary blood flow to the ischemic myocardium, following an acute myocardial infarction, can itself result in cardiomyocyte death, a phenomenon termed lethal reperfusion injury³.

The existence of lethal reperfusion injury as an entity separate from ischemic injury is controversial and some commentators have suggested that reperfusion only exacerbates the cellular injury sustained during the ischemic period⁹. Reperfusion following a fixed period of ischemia can exacerbate the necrotic component of cell death as evidenced by an extension in infarct size as shown by some authors⁴¹.

1.5.1 Protecting the Human Myocardium Against Ischemia-Reperfusion Injury

Glucose-insulin-potassium (GIK) offers cardio-protection in response to ischemia-reperfusion injury and was first introduced in 1962 by Sodi-Pallares and colleagues⁴². In the late 1990's, the Diabetes Mellitus Insulin-Glucose Infusion in Acute Myocardial Infarction (DIGAMI) clinical trial demonstrating a 29% significant reduction in mortality⁴³; as well as the ECLA (Estudios

Cardiológicos Latinoamérica) clinical trial which reported a 66% reduction in mortality in diabetic patients reperfused following an acute myocardial infarction⁴⁴. GIK therapy has also been shown to be cardio-protective in the setting of coronary artery bypass graft surgery⁴⁵.

Clinical studies with magnesium therapy have produce mixed results with the Second Leicester Intravenous Magnesium Intervention Trial (LIMIT-2) trial⁴⁶ reporting a benefit but the larger fourth International Study of Infarct Survival (ISIS-IV) trial⁴⁷ reporting no benefit.

The Acute Myocardial Infarction STudy of ADenosine (AMISTAD) demonstrated that the administration of adenosine as an adjunct to thrombolysis resulted in a 67% relative reduction in infarct size in patients with anterior myocardial infarction⁴⁸.

Na⁺-H⁺ exchanger as an adjunct to primary PTCA in patients with an acute myocardial infarction reported positively attenuating CKMB release, improved ejection fraction and improved regional left ventricular wall motion⁴⁹. Subsequent larger study, ESCAMI trial, however reported no attenuation in CKMB release in patients given the Na⁺-H⁺ exchanger inhibitor, eniporide as an adjunct to reperfusion therapy for an acute myocardial infarction⁵⁰. The GUARDIAN trial⁵¹ reported that cariporide produced a reduction in the combined endpoint of death and MI, only in the sub-group of patients awaiting cardiac surgery.

Intravenous diltiazem administered within three hours of acute MI (90 patients) has been shown to have beneficial effects on the infarct size, residual viability and recovery of regional function by Pizzetti et al⁵².

The multicenter DIGAMI trial was performed in diabetic patients who were experiencing an acute MI and admitted to the coronary care units (CCUs) of 16 Swedish hospitals between January 1990 and December 1993. 1,240 patients were potentially eligible for the study, but 620 (50%) of the patients were immediately excluded. The remaining 620 patients were then randomized to either a control group (314 patients) or an insulin infusion group (306 patients). The study was to evaluate the effect of aggressive initial insulin therapy continued for 3 months on patients' morbidity and mortality following an acute MI. The modest sample size and lack of positive findings in other endpoints made this finding less robust. The ECLA group reports the largest prospective, randomized trial of GIK for the treatment of AMI ever performed and the only such trial done in the era of thrombolytic therapy. Remarkable 66% reduction in the relative in-hospital mortality risk was observed when GIK was added to

reperfusion (95% of those reperfused had thrombolysis) (252 patients). Survival benefit persisted during a 1-year follow-up period in the group that received high-dose GIK plus reperfusion as AMI treatment. Despite its being the largest prospective randomized trial of GIK to date, the ECLA study is still only 1 trial of GIK, and it is small in comparison with contemporary randomized trials of various thrombolytic agents for AMI. Even though this subgroup was prospectively stratified and represented 62% of the total number of patients (307 patients) studied, a conclusion based on a subgroup result is not as convincing as a result from the entire study population. In LIMIT-2 trial sixty patients out of 260 patients were randomized to magnesium sulphate (8 mmol IV over 15 minutes and 65 mmol over 24 hours) or placebo within 12 hours of clinically diagnosed middle cerebral artery stroke. Thirty percent of magnesium-treated and 40% of placebo-treated patients was dead or disabled (Barthel Index score <60) at 3 months (P=0.42). There was a decrease in the number of early deaths in the magnesium-treated group (P=0.066, log-rank test). Further trials are required to determine efficacy. The AMISTAD trial was a prospective, open label trial of thrombolysis with randomization to adenosine or placebo in 236 patients within 6 hours of infarction onset. There was a 33% relative reduction in infarct size (p=0.03) with adenosine. There was a significant reduction in infarct size in patients with anterior infarction but no reduction in patients with infarcts located elsewhere and the data supported the need for further clinical trials. ESCAMI trial was an international, prospective, randomized, double blind, placebocontrolled phase 2 trial in patients undergoing thrombolytic therapy or primary angioplasty for acute ST-elevation myocardial infarction where the effect of eniporide on infarct size and clinical outcome was studied. In stage 1, administration of eniporide resulted in smaller infarct sizes especially in the angioplasty group. In contrast, in stage 2 there was no difference in the enzymatic infarct size between the groups. Overall there was no effect of eniporide on clinical outcome and in this large study administration of the NHE-1 inhibitor eniporide, before reperfusion therapy in patients with acute ST elevation MI, did not limit infarct size or improve clinical outcome. A total of 11,590 patients with unstable angina or non-ST-elevation myocardial infarction (MI) or undergoing high-risk percutaneous or surgical revascularization were randomized to receive placebo or 1 of 3 doses of cariporide for the period of risk. The trial failed to document benefit of cariporide over placebo on the primary end point of death or

MI assessed after 36 days. Lower doses had no effect, whereas a high dose was associated with a 10% risk reduction and benefit was limited to patients undergoing bypass surgery. No significant benefit of cariporide could be demonstrated across a wide range of clinical situations of risk. The trial documented safety of the drug and suggested that a high degree of inhibition of the exchanger could prevent cell necrosis in settings of ischemia-reperfusion.

1.6 Myocardial Protection by Ischemic Post-conditioning (IPost)

Studies published in the mid-1980s first established that ischemic myocardial injury could be reduced, if the myocardial reperfusion process was modified to a staged or gradual form of myocardial reperfusion i.e. selective low-pressure (40 to 50 mm Hg) coronary reperfusion with normal blood for 20 minutes at 30 ml/min before the occlusion was relieved completely⁶. In 2003 Vinten-Johansen et al⁵³, by interrupting myocardial reperfusion with three cycles of 30 s coronary artery re-occlusions, were able to show several beneficial effects including a 44% reduction in infarct size, less myocardial oedema, less neutrophil accumulation, reduced apoptotic cell death and improved endothelial function.

The ability of IPost, an intervention that can be applied at the onset of myocardial reperfusion to reduce myocardial injury, also provided confirmatory evidence for the existence of lethal myocardial injury as an independent mediator of cardiomyocyte death. IPost has been shown to target many of the properties of lethal reperfusion injury such as oxidative stress, calcium accumulation, inflammation, and mitochondrial permeability transition pore (MPTP) opening^{54,55}. The mechanism underlying IPost has been intensively investigated, and that a signal transduction pathway similar to that recruited by IPC mediating the protection has been elicited by post-conditioning. Our group recently discovered common signaling pathways that are shared by both IPC and Ipost⁵⁶⁻⁵⁸. In this respect a variety of diverse pharmacological post-conditioning agents including inhalational anesthetics, G-protein coupled receptor ligands such as opioids, adenosine and bradykinin, growth factors such as insulin and erythropoietin, natriuretic peptides, adipocytokines, and 'statins' have been linked to the activation of the reperfusion injury salvage kinase (RISK) pathway, a critical component

of this signaling pathway⁵⁹. Ipost can be applied as a cardioprotective strategy in patients presenting with acute myocardial infarction.

1.6.1 Ischemic post-conditioning in clinical arena

For patients presenting with an acute myocardial infarction (AMI), IPost can be clinically applied at the time of myocardial reperfusion as it can for example in those receiving percutaneous intervention (PCI). Studies reporting the clinical application of IPost in patients presenting with an AMI were published in 2005^{60,61}. Following PCI and stent deployment in the infarct-related coronary artery, myocardial reperfusion was interrupted with four-1 min low pressure inflations and deflations of the coronary angioplasty balloon and this improved myocardial reperfusion, reduced myocardial infarct size both acutely and at 6 months, and improved left ventricular ejection fraction at 1 year^{60,61}. Jacob Lønborg et al showed a tendency toward a better outcome with IPost, by occluding the coronary artery with a balloon under low pressure 4 times with each occlusion lasting 30 seconds followed by 30 seconds of reperfusion suggesting that IPost is beneficial in achieving complete ST-segment elevation (STR), improving New York Heart Association class, reducing infarct size and a better ventricular ejection fraction at 15 months⁶². The beneficial effect of Ipost in terms of improved left ventricular ejection fraction and myocardial perfusion grade were shown by Garcia et al even after three years of intervention⁶³.

Studies like Post-conditioning in ST-Elevation Myocardial Infarction (POSTEMI) study are under way. POSTEMI is a prospective, randomized, open-label clinical trial with blinded endpoints on final infarct size, TIMI myocardial perfusion grade, resolution of ST-segment elevation, release of markers of ischemia and left ventricular function⁶⁴.

Recent clinical studies have been investigated regarding the potential of Ischemic post-conditioning (Ipost) in patients undergoing elective cardiac surgery⁶⁵. However, like IPC, this particular cardioprotective strategy requires an invasive protocol of aortic clamping and de-clamping. In children undergoing repair for Tetralogy of Fallot (congenital condition), Luo et al applied the post-conditioning protocol during the time of de-clamping after the operation. This comprised re-clamping the aorta for 30 s and de-clamping it for 30 s, twice just before

Selvaraj Shanmuganathan

de-clamping the aorta after the finish of the operation. They have been shown to reduce myocardial injury as evidenced by less peri-operative troponin-T and CK-MB release and smaller inotrope requirements post-surgery⁶⁵. A similar protocol has also been demonstrated to reduce myocardial injury in adult patients undergoing valve surgery and in children undergoing corrective surgery for congenital heart disease using cardioplegia⁶⁶. Wanjun Luo et al showed a reduction in creatine kinase-MB and troponin I, in children scheduled for surgical correction of congenital ventricular septal defect, by post-conditioning the heart which consisted of 30 seconds of ischemia and 30 seconds of reperfusion achieved by clamping and unclamping the aorta, repeated three times over 3 minutes immediately after cardioplegic arrest⁶⁷. Clinical application of this could be restricted because of the invasive nature of this interventional treatment strategy and the inherent risks of thromboembolism associated with aortic clamping and de-clamping.

1.6.2 Pharmacological post-conditioning

Pharmacological post-conditioning means that a variety of pharmacological agents can be used to reduce myocardial infarct size when administered at the point of myocardial reperfusion. Many of these cardioprotective pharmacological agents exert powerful cardioprotection by targeting the reperfusion injury salvage kinase (RISK) pathway at the onset of myocardial reperfusion⁵⁹ and by targeting MPTP, a possible end target for protecting the heart at the time of myocardial reperfusion⁶⁸.

Several clinical studies have reported beneficial effects using drugs such as adenosine⁶⁹ GLP-1^{70,71} and atrial natriuretic peptide⁷² acting on the RISK pathway or cyclosporine-A⁷³ which is known to inhibit MPTP opening. Two recent meta-analyses have reported the potential benefits of inhalation anesthetics in the setting of cardiac surgery and demonstrated better LV function, less troponin release, less inotrope use, shorter ventilation time and shorter hospital stay^{74,75}.

1.7 Myocardial Protection by remote Ischemic conditioning (RIC)

By applying brief episodes of non-lethal ischemia and reperfusion to an organ or tissue remote from the heart it has been shown that cardioprotection can be achieved. This phenomenon has been termed remote ischemic 'conditioning'. By applying remote ischemic conditioning widespread systemic protection can be offered to other organs, which are susceptible to acute ischemia–reperfusion injury such as the brain, liver, intestine or kidney. In 1993, Przyklenk et al⁷⁶ showed that by applying short episodes of myocardial ischemia and reperfusion to the left anterior descending coronary territory, they were able to subsequently reduce the size of a myocardial infarct generated in the circumflex coronary artery territory and this phenomenon was termed 'regional ischemic preconditioning'.

Subsequently came the exciting 'remote ischemic preconditioning' (RIPC), where the preconditioning protocol could be applied to organs and tissues distant or remote from the heart such as the kidney or small intestine^{77,78}. The underlying mechanism remains unclear though many of the signaling pathways underlying myocardial preconditioning and post-conditioning have been implicated in RIPC. It has been proposed that substances released from the preconditioned organ or tissue such as adenosine, bradykinin or opioids stimulate local afferent nerves pathways, which then activate efferent nerve pathways, which then terminate on the myocardium. Another suggestion is that a substance or humoral factor is carried in the blood stream to the heart where it manifests its protective effect.

Kerendi et al's experimental studies suggest that remote ischemic conditioning can be effective even if applied after the onset of myocardial ischemia—a phenomenon which has been termed remote IPost⁷⁹. Using an anaesthetized rat, they demonstrated that applying a 5 min episode of renal ischemia followed by 5 min of renal reperfusion after the onset of myocardial ischemia and immediately before myocardial reperfusion was capable of reducing myocardial infarct size, through a mechanism which required binding to an adenosine receptor⁷⁹.

Subsequent experimental studies have confirmed the presence of RIPost as a viable cardioprotective intervention in the rabbit⁸⁰ and porcine hearts⁸¹ using limb ischemia as the RIPost stimulus.

Schmidt et al showed a reduction in myocardial infarction size by applying short periods of limb ischemia during the time of well established myocardial ischemia and called it as "remote perconditioning"⁸². Recently Loukogeorgakis et al have reported improvement in endothelial function in patients with stable coronary artery disease, using upper limb ischemia as the remote post-conditioning stimulus and contra lateral upper limb endothelial function as the indicator of protection⁴. Very recently our group has reported a decrease in the incidence of Acute Kidney Injury (AKI) in non-diabetic patients undergoing elective CABG surgery in a retrospective analysis where RIPC consisted of three 5-minute cycles of right forearm ischemia, induced by inflating a blood pressure cuff on the upper arm to 200 mm Hg, with an intervening 5 minutes of reperfusion⁸³.

1.7.1 Remote ischemic preconditioning in clinical arena

By applying electrical stimulation to the lower limb skeletal muscle of rabbits⁸⁴ Birbaum et al found that remote ischemic preconditioning could be elicited and this was pivotal in terms of the clinical application of this cardioprotective phenomenon. Though in a small clinical study comprising only eight patients undergoing CABG surgery, RIPC using lower limb ischemia was found not to be cardioprotective⁸⁵.

Pioneering work by MacAllister and colleagues characterized a non-invasive RIPC protocol in human volunteers which involved an automated cuff placed on the upper arm to induce brief episodes of forearm ischemia and reperfusion and endothelial function was measured as the end-point⁸⁶. Subsequent clinical studies by our laboratory and others have demonstrated reduced myocardial injury in terms of cardiac enzyme release in the settings of both cardiac surgery⁸⁷.

A small clinical study examined the role of RIPC in patients undergoing low-risk elective PCI and paradoxically, they reported myocardial injury to be increased⁸⁸. However, a larger and robust clinical study with 242 patients undergoing elective PCI, elicited a reduction in troponin-I in patients receiving the RIPC protocol⁸⁹.

A recent meta-analysis comprising of 22 clinical trials and 933 patients⁹⁰ reported fewer ventricular arrhythmias, smaller inotrope requirements and shorter stays on the intensive care unit in patients treated with RIPC.

1.8 The Mitochondrial Permeability Transition Pore (MPTP)

The mitochondrial permeability transition pore (MPTP) is a voltage dependent proteinaceous pore of the inner mitochondrial membrane (IMM) and on opening mediates the mitochondrial permeability transition (MPT). This describes the abrupt increase in permeability of the inner mitochondrial membrane which takes place in response to various inducing factors like high matrix calcium, oxidative stress, high phosphate and low adenine nucleotides⁹¹⁻⁹³. The idea of an actual inner mitochondrial membrane proteinaceous pore (MPTP) was first described in the late 1970's by Haworth and Hunter⁹¹⁻⁹³ as a "Ca²⁺-Induced Membrane Transition in Mitochondria.

Opening of MPTP allows free passage of molecules <1.5 kDa disrupting the permeability barrier of the IMM. This allows the free movement of proton across the IMM causing uncoupling of oxidative phosphorilation and eventually hydrolysis of ATP. The mitochondrial pores are either fully open or closed and once they are fully opened the mitochondria swell extensively⁹⁴.

1.8.1 Characterisation of the Mitochondrial Permeability Transition Pore

After nearly two decades of studies on mitochondria, the following various phenomena were discovered separately and considered as independent events: Swelling of mitochondria in isotonic medium in the presence of calcium causing – uncoupling, inhibition of ATPase activity, swelling and inhibition of respiration, as well as protection by EGTA or phosphate against uncoupling and swelling and loss of nucleotides, Krebs cycle intermediates and Coenzyme A. Later it was recognised that the above phenomenon were manifestations of the same process that is MPTP⁹⁵.

By 1980, Haworth and Hunter characterised many of the key features of the MPTP ^{7,91-93}. According to them the MPTP was unselectively permeable to H⁺, Ca²⁺ Mg²⁺, choline, glucose, sucrose, and NAD(P)H and that the MPTP opening was a reversible process. On determining the size of the pore they used dextrans of different molecular weight and postulated the molecular cut-off to be <1500 Da⁹¹. Subsequent studies by Crompton's group examining the permeability of the MPTP to [¹⁴C] solute fluxes, calculated that the MPTP had a diameter of 2.0-2.6 nm^{96,97}. They proposed that the adenine nucleotide translocase (ANT) might be part of the MPTP based on the finding that the MPTP could be opened by atractyloside and closed by bongekrekic acid both known to act on the ANT, and that MPTP opening was sensitive to ADP^{7,91-93}. They also postulated that the components of MPTP might form at contact sites between the inner and outer mitochondrial membranes.

A number of inducers and inhibitors of MPTP opening have been described and the following provides the important known inducers and inhibitors:

1.8.1.1 Inducers of MPTP Opening

1.8.1.1.a Calcium and Phosphate

The rise in intracellular Na⁺ is due to he increased generation of protons during ischemia, via Na⁺ - H⁺ exchanger (NHE)⁹⁸ and also due to Na⁺ entering the cell during ischemia⁹⁹. This results in the reversal of Na⁺ - Ca²⁺ exchanger (NCX) leading to the rise in cytosolic Ca²⁺¹⁰⁰. Studies have shown that a rise in cytosolic free calcium concentration ($[Ca^{2+}]_i$) preceded irreversible myocardial injury and that drugs that reduced or delayed this rise in cytosolic $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ also reduced or delayed myocardial death^{98,100-102}. Though some studies have reported that a rise in cytosolic calcium was not important¹⁰³, the majority of recent studies have shown that a rise in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ precedes irreversible injury and that blockage of this rise in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ can attenuate or delay the onset of irreversible injury^{101,104,105}.

MPTP is triggered by calcium overload especially when this is accompanied by oxidative stress and these two parameters appear critical determinants of the recovery of isolated heart cells from simulated ischemia and is believed that calcium induces MPTP opening by binding to two activating sites on the matrix side of the pore^{91,106}. Ca²⁺-induced

Selvaraj Shanmuganathan

MPTP opening can be facilitated in the presence of MPTP inducers such as P_i, a weak acid that allows the accumulation of enormous amount of mitochondrial Ca²⁺ up-take by providing a mechanism for reducing matrix alkalinisation. P_i must enter the matrix to exert its effect, which might be due to its ability to buffer the matrix pH or by causing a reduction in the matrix ADP. In fact the extent of recovery of the cell has been reported to correlate inversely with mitochondrial matrix calcium concentrations at the end of ischemia^{107,108} and to be triggered by the rise in ROS during reperfusion¹⁰³. However, more recent data from Bernardi's laboratory has suggested that Pi actually inhibits (rather than activates) pore opening. They also suggested that this effect is overcome by the presence of CyP-D, accounting for the protective effects of CsA in the presence of Pi and hence argued against a role for the PiC in the MPTP. These authors assayed the calcium retention capacity (CRC) of energised liver mitochondria from wild-type and CyP-D knockout mice^{109,110}.

1.8.1.1.b Oxidative Stress

The role of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in ischemia-reperfusion injury has been extensively studied and ROS has been measured using electron spin resonance (ESR)^{111,112} and by using fluorescent indicators^{113,114}. During reperfusion, with the return of oxygen, a large burst of ROS generation have been consistently demonstrated by several studies^{114,115}. This increase in ROS during ischemia and reoxygenation is thought to be due to damage to electron transport chain components resulting in inefficient transfer of electrons, generating superoxide. Kim et al, have reported that ROS generated during early reperfusion is the primary activator of the MPTP and cardiomyocyte death¹⁰³.

Mitochondria are thought to be both a major source of ROS as well as a major target for ROS damage. Mitochondrial electron transport is one of the primary sources of ROS production in the cell and ROS are generated during electron transport at complexes I and III. The low levels of ROS that are generated during ischemia can damage the electron transport chain¹¹⁶. Inhibition of electron transport (particularly complex I) reduces ROS generation during ischemia and mitochondrial uncouplers have been shown to reduce ischemiareperfusion injury¹¹⁶.

Opening of the MPTP can be induced by: (1) Endogenous ROS - Reactive oxygen species (ROS) generated by the mitochondrial electron transport chain, xanthine oxidase, and NADPH oxidase; (2) Exogenous sources of ROS; and (3) Oxidising agents such as t-butylhydroperoxide. Oxidative stress induces MPTP opening by oxidising critical thiol groups of the inner mitochondrial membrane (IMM) to form thiol cross-linkage. Thiol agents such as phenylarsenine oxide, hydroperoxides and diamide induce MPTP opening by cross-linking inner membrane thiol groups. Halestraps' group have postulated that these agents induce MPTP opening by cross-linking Cys160 and Cys257 of the ANT¹¹⁷.

1.8.1.1.c Thiol Reagents

Bernardi's group confirmed the contribution of thiol groups to MPTP opening, showing both the protective (at low concentration) and the inducing (at higher concentration) effects of N-ethylmaleimide (NEM)¹¹⁸.

1.8.1.1.d Fatty Acids

Fatty acids diffuse into the mitochondria as the protonated electroneutral form and act as classical uncouplers, inducing MPTP opening by decreasing the transmembrane potential¹¹⁹. Petronilli et al also showed a possible direct interaction of fatty acids with the MPTP¹²⁰.

1.8.1.1.e Adenine Nucleotide Translocator Ligands

ANT ligands can act either as MPTP inducers or inhibitors. Atractyloside and carboxyatractyloside, which stabilise the ANT in the 'c' conformation (with the adenine nucleotide binding site facing the cytosol) favour MPTP opening¹²¹ and bongkrekate, which stabilise the ANT in the 'm' conformation (with the adenine nucleotide binding site facing the matrix) inhibit MPTP opening⁹¹.

1.8.1.1.f Acyl-CoA

The effect of acetyl-CoA on MPTP opening is reported to depend on their side of attachment to ANT, that is by acting either from the outer or inner side of the membrane¹²². Bernardi et al

proposed an alternative explanation for the acyl-CoA's action and accounted for by the variations in membrane surface potential⁹⁴.

1.8.1.1.g Arachidonic acid

In isolated mitochondria arachidonic acid stimulates MPTP opening and in intact cell it causes cell death due to intracellular calcium overload, most likely reflecting mPTP opening 121¹²³.

1.8.1.2 Inhibitors of MPTP Opening

1.8.1.2.a Cyclosporin-A

Following the lead by Fournier and colleagues in late 1980s¹²⁴, Crompton's group¹²⁵ and Pfeiffer's groups¹²⁶ reported that cyclosporine-A (CsA), the immunosuppressive agent, strongly prevented the opening of MPTP at sub-micro molar concentrations by inhibiting mitochondrial Ca²⁺ efflux and allowing mitochondria to accumulate large amounts of Ca²⁺. Nazareth et al¹²⁷ demonstrated protection with CsA using an isolated cardiac myocyte model of anoxia and reoxygenation, and, subsequently, this has been confirmed by others^{128,129}. The protective effect of CsA in the Langendorff-perfused heart model of reperfusion Injury was shown by Halestrap's group^{130,131}. In the presence of CsA, the recovery of haemodynamic function during reperfusion was greatly improved, as reflected by higher left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP) and lower end diastolic pressure (EDP), and reduced release of intracellular lactate dehydrogenase. Using a chromatography affinity binding column, Halestrap's group¹³² demonstrated that a fusion protein between cyclophilin D and glutathione-S-transferase (GST) bound to ANT in response to the thiol, diamide, and the binding was inhibited by CsA, suggesting that CsA inhibited MPTP opening by preventing the binding of cyclophilin D to ANT¹³². The effect of CsA on the MPTP is described as 'desensitization' by Bernardis group and the inhibitory effect of CsA can be overcome by increasing Ca²⁺ load^{94,131,133}. Lemaster's group proposed the existence of an unregulated CsA-insensitive form of MPTP opening¹³⁴.

Recently in a proof-of-concept clinical study, a single bolus of cyclosporine-A (CsA) administered to patients presenting with an acute MI just prior to primary coronary

Selvaraj Shanmuganathan

angioplasty, was reported to reduce myocardial infarct size by 30–40%¹³⁵. Of interest, the recent studies using an *in vivo* porcine model of ischemia reperfusion injury have produced mixed results where the cardioprotective effect of isoflurane is abolished by the combined usage of isoflurane and CsA¹³⁶. Following cardioplegic arrest in a neonatal rabbit model, Leung et al by demonstrating CsA-sensitive MPTP opening at the time of myocardial reperfusion suggested that application of CsA or another MPTP inhibitor may be beneficial in terms of reducing perioperative myocardial injury in neonates undergoing corrective cardiac surgery¹³⁷. Cour and colleagues using a rabbit model found improved survival, reduced myocardial necrosis and inhibited MPTP opening in isolated cardiac mitochondria following administering either intravenous CsA (5 mg·kg-1) or N-methyl-4- isoleucine cyclosporin (NIM811) (2.5 mg·kg-1) at the time of reperfusion following a 15 min period of primary asphyxia *in situ* cardiac arrest¹³⁸.

CsA, as well as inhibiting MPTP opening, can inhibit the protein phosphatase *calcineurin* through its binding to cyclophilin A. This has resulted in the use of CsA analogues such as N-methyl 4-valine CsA and N-methyl-4-iosleucine-CsA (NIM811), which inhibit MPTP opening without inhibiting calcineurin. A new MPTP inhibitor called sanglifehrin-A has been described which also inhibits MPTP opening without inhibiting calcineurin¹³⁹.

1.8.1.2.b Sanglifehrin-A

Using the langendorff-perfused heart model, Halestrap's group have characterised a newer MPTP inhibitor called sanglifehrin^{139,140}, an immunosuppressant which differs from CsA in that it does not inhibit calcineurin^{141,142}. The mechanism of MPTP inhibition by SfA also differed from that of CsA. SfA was demonstrated to bind to and inhibit the PPlase activity of cyclophilin D (K_i of about 2.2 nmol/l) but unlike CsA, SfA did not prevent the binding of cyclophilin D with ANT¹³⁹. The concentration-dependence of SfA's inhibition of the MPTP is sigmoidal compared to the linear dependence of CsA. Using the isolated perfused rat heart Halestrap's group demonstrated that inhibiting MPTP opening using SfA (at 1.0 µmol/l) protected the heart against ischemia-reperfusion injury. They demonstrated using above experiment an attenuated LDH release and improved recovery of left ventricular contractile function¹³⁹.

Limitation in the use of CsA and SfA as inhibitors of the MPTP is that both CsA and SfA fail to inhibit MPTP opening when mitochondria are exposed to a sufficiently strong stimulus^{139,143} such as elevated matrix calcium, oxidative stress, and adenine nucleotide depletion that accompany reperfusion after a period of ischemia^{11,144}.

1.8.1.2.c Bongkrekic acid and ubiquinone derivatives

It has been demonstrated that bongkrekic acid (BKA) is a potent inhibitor of the MPTP in isolated mitochondria and also been reported of its use to inhibit pore opening in cultured cells^{145,146} including cardiac myocytes^{147,148}. Bongkrekic acid acts by inhibiting the export of ATP from the mitochondria to the cytosol and hence its action has been questioned.

Bernardi's group have demonstrated that substrates which increase electron flow through the complex I of the electron transport chain compared to complexes II and IV, sensitise the MPTP to Ca²⁺, and therefore ubiquinone analogues which act to inhibit electron flow through complex I can inhibit MPTP opening.

1.8.1.2.d Divalent and trivalent Cations

Divalent cations such as Mg^{2+} , Sr^{2+} , Mn^{2+} , Ba^{2+} can inhibit MPTP opening by competing with Ca^{2+} for its activating site on the MPTP and Sr^{2+} and Mn^{2+} have been shown to exert an inhibitory effect at a matrix-side site. Alternatively, these ions may inhibit MPTP opening by binding to an alternative site on the cytosolic side of the MPTP¹⁴⁹.

1.8.1.2.e Pyruvate and Propofol

Reducing oxidative stress by the use of free radical scavengers has been shown to offer some protection against reperfusion injury¹⁵⁰. Radical scavengers may directly inhibit the opening of the MPTP by preventing oxidative cross linking of critical cysteines on the ANT¹⁴⁶ or by indirect effect on the MPTP opening, as oxidative stress is known to inhibit plasma membrane ion pumps, leading to perturbation of ionic homeostasis and calcium overload.

Halestrap's group have investigated the effects of two free radical scavengers on MPTP opening, namely pyruvate¹⁵¹ and the anesthetic propofol¹⁵² and showed improved functional recovery of hearts during reperfusion. They also demonstrated that all the "open"
Selvaraj Shanmuganathan

mitochondria subsequently resealed as the reperfusion continued¹⁵¹. The ability of pyruvate to protect hearts and other tissues may be mediated by its free radical scavenging activity¹⁵³. Also unlike glucose or glycogen, pyruvate does not require ATP for activation before its metabolism. Cross et al, using nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) studies, showed that pyruvate can lead to a decrease in pH¹⁵⁴ and hence inhibit MPTP. Propofol has been shown to protect the heart against reperfusion injury, in a langendorff-perfused rat heart model,¹⁵⁵ and also against damage caused by H₂O₂-induced oxidative stress¹⁵⁶. Halestraps group using the 3H-DOG technique has confirmed that the protection offered by propofol is accompanied by less opening of the MPTP¹⁵². Moreover to match the clinical practice, Halestrap's group used an in vivo pig model of cardiopulmonary bypass with warm blood cardioplegia, and showed that propofol could improve functional recovery of the heart, reduce troponin-I release, and maintain higher tissue ATP levels¹⁵⁷.

1.8.1.2.f Local anaesthetics and Phenothiazines

The phenothiazine, trifluoperazine was originally thought to inhibit MPTP opening by competing with Ca^{2+} for its binding site on the MPTP¹⁴⁹. However, it also has many non-specific effects, which include inhibition of calmodulin, and it also inhibits the F₁F₀ATPase. Later studies have suggested that it may modify the voltage sensitivity of the MPTP¹⁵⁸. Local anesthetics agents bind to phospholipid Ca^{2+} binding sites on biological membranes, displacing Ca^{2+} in a competitive manner.

1.8.1.2.g Adenine Nucleotides

The evidence of the involvement of the ANT in MPTP formation comes from the effects of oxidative stress and thiol reagents to enhance MPTP opening by acting both by decreasing adenine nucleotide binding and inhibition of MPTP opening and by increasing CyP-D binding¹⁵⁹. Halestrap's group have showed that inhibition of MPTP opening by high membrane potential works by increasing matrix adenine nucleotide binding to the ANT¹⁵⁹. The binding of ATP (to the cytosolic side of the ANT) and the binding of ADP (to the matrix side of the ANT) inhibits MPTP opening. Binding of ADP competes for the Ca²⁺-activating site on the

MPTP⁹¹. Novgorodov et al confirmed that the affinity of calcium for the activating site was decreased by ADP¹⁰⁶.

1.8.1.2.h Oligomycin

The protective effect of oligomycin could be due to either an increase in matrix ADP content¹⁶⁰ or an increase in the transmembrane potential attributed to an inhibition of the proton leaks through the ATP synthetase¹⁶¹.

1.8.2 The Molecular Identification of the MPTP

The all-or-nothing character of the MPTP convinced Hunter and Haworth that the permeability transition resulted not from the degenerative process but from the opening of a bona-fide pore MPTP⁹¹⁻⁹³. Following their work, Crompton and co-workers showed that the permeabilisation process could be immediately interrupted by EGTA¹⁶²⁻¹⁶⁴. Crompton et al proposed that the pore of each mitochondrion opened or closed with high degree of synchronisation⁹⁶. Definitive evidence for the involvement of a bona-fide pore in the permeabilization process came from electrophysiological patch-clamp studies in 1989 where a large 1.3 nS (in 150 mmol/l KCI) multi-state channel in the inner mitochondrial membrane was identified¹⁶⁵ as MPTP. It was estimated that the MPTP diameter would be 2-3 nm. The actual molecular composition of the MPTP is currently unknown¹⁶⁶ though several models have been proposed.

1.8.2.1 Possible Components of the MPTP

1.8.2.1.a Adenine Nucleotide Translocase

In 1979, Haworth and Hunter first proposed that the ANT might be part of the MPTP, based on their findings that MPTP opening was sensitive to ADP, and to the ANT inhibitors atractyloside and ANT in MPTP formation and proposed that MPTP inducers such as atractyloside, carboxyatractyloside, a high NADP/NADPH ratio, and fatty acids stabilised the 'c' conformation (where the nucleotide-binding site is on the cytosolic side) of the ANT and MPTP inhibitors such as bongkrekic acid and matrix ADP stabilised the 'm' conformation

Selvaraj Shanmuganathan

(where the nucleotide-binding site is on the matrix side)¹⁶⁷. Halestrap and co-workers proposed that ANT adopts an open pore conformation upon binding with Calcium and cyclophilin and that binding of both Calcium and cyclophilin is required for MPTP opening. They suggested that the ANT was the sesitisator of MPTP to calcium by oxidative stress and the vicinal thiol reagent phenylsarsine oxide (PAO) ¹⁵⁹. Halestrap's group first proposed and have subsequently demonstrated that cyclophilin D induces the conformational change in ANT to form the MPTP in a CsA sensitive manner^{117,131,168}.

However the requirement of ANT as an essential component has been seriously questioned by the results obtained from mice lacking ANT¹⁶⁹. They found that CsA inhibition of MPTP in mice lacking ANT could still be detected but it required a larger Ca²⁺ load. Therefore they proposed that ANT might play a regulatory role and is not essential to be a component of MPTP and also ANT is not the receptor for cyclophylin D¹⁶⁹. They also found that MPTP in ANT-null mitochondria was not sensitive to opening by atractyloside and to closure by ADP. One of the possible explanation for this, is that ANT could be the normal membrane component of MPTP but the other less abundant members of the mitochondrial carrier family can fulfil this role in the absence of ANT¹⁷⁰. LeMasters group proposed an alternative possibility in that ANT is the most abundant proteins in the unfolded proteins that form the MPTP¹³⁴. Also Dejean et al showed that the up-regulation of the uncoupling protein-3 induced sensitization of the MPTP to calcium, suggesting that inner membrane transporters other than the ANT may also regulate mitochondrial permeability transition¹⁷¹.

1.8.2.1.b Cyclophilin D

It has been generally accepted that cyclophilin D, a peptidyl-prolyl cis-trans isomerase, facilitates the calcium triggered change in conformation of an inner mitochondria membrane component¹⁷². Crompton et al were the first to suggest the role of CyP-D in the interaction of MPTP as they discovered that cyclosporin A acted as a potent inhibitor of pore opening¹²⁵. Different CsA analogues were also shown to inhibit MPTP opening, thereby correlating their ability to inhibit the peptidyl prolyl cis-trans isomerase activity within the matrix^{168,173} and this was subsequently identified as CyP-D^{174,175}. Using CyP-D knockout mice, matrix peptidyl-prolyl cis-trans isomerase activity confirmed using CsA and

SfA to inhibit MPTP opening by some authors^{176,177}. Mitochondria have been demonstrated to contain a CsA-sensitive PPIase, which has been purified and cloned^{176,177}. Lemasters et al proposed a chaperone like property to CyP-D and proposed that MPTP would be formed by clusters of misfolding proteins in a process prevented by CyP-D¹³⁴.

Recently our group reported that the CYP-D component of the MPTP is critical to IPC protection as it is required to generate mitochondrial ROS, which in turn activates the important mediatory protein kinases, Akt, and Erk1/2¹⁷⁸. Murphy's group showed that Cys-203 residue of CyP-D is necessary for redox stress-induced activation of MPTP using mouse embryonic fibroblasts¹⁷⁹.

1.8.2.1.c Voltage-Dependent Anion Channel

In 1994 Zoratti et al¹⁸⁰, proposed that the Voltage activated anion channel (VDAC, also known as porin) might be involved in the formation of the MPTP. The MPTP has been proposed to form at contact sites between the inner mitochondrial membrane (IMM) and outer mitochondrial membrane (OMM)¹⁸¹ and VDAC has been shown to form at these contact sites^{182,183}. In 1998 Crompton et al showed the involvement of VDAC in MPTP formation¹⁸⁴ by suggesting that CyP-D can bind strongly to both VDAC and ANT. This cyclophilin D-VDAC-ANT complex was incorporated into liposomes and demonstrated MPTP activity in response to Ca²⁺ and P_i which was blocked by CsA¹⁸⁴.

Bernardi's group in their initial report suggested that VDAC might be the locus for inhibition by ubiquinone analogues¹⁸⁵, however recently the liver mitochondria from mice lacking VDAC1 exhibited normal MPTP opening and inhibition by ubiquinone analogues¹⁸⁶ suggesting that VDAC1 could be unlikely to be a component of MPTP. Moreover Baines's experiment have raised doubts regarding VDACs involvement in MPTP, as the three VDAC isoforms knockouts continue to express MPTP activity¹⁸⁷. However, Marco Colombini has demonstrated that closure of VDAC actually increases Ca2+ flux¹⁸⁸ which would suggest that closure of VDAC should actually promote opening of the MPTP. This was supported by Tikunov et al who utilized G3139, a phosphorothioate blocker of VDAC, to cause VDAC closure and opening of MPTP¹⁸⁹. However VDAC continues to be purported as part of the

MPTP mechanism in normal cells and were even proposed to be directly responsible for cytochrome c release¹⁹⁰⁻¹⁹³.

1.8.2.1.d The mitochondrial phosphate carrier (PiC)

Halestraps group have recently proposed a model for the MPTP in which the pore forming component is the PiC rather than the ANT¹⁹⁴. PiC can be inhibited by ubiquinone analogues and by N-ethylmaleimide (NEM), which is a potent inhibitor of MPTP opening at low concentrations. PiC undergoes a calcium-triggered conformational change which is facilitated by the peptidyl–prolyl cis–trans isomerase activity of CyP-D and this allows for MPTP opening even in the absence of CyP-D or the presence of CsA but at a much higher calcium load that was observed^{131,195-197}. This calcium induced conformational change might be enhanced by an interaction of the PiC with the "c" but not the "m" conformation of the ANT^{177,178,194}. Kokoszka et al have demonstrated pore opening in mitochondria containing no ANT1 or ANT2, but with reduced sensitivity to calcium and no sensitivity to ligands of the ANT¹⁶⁹. Further evidence comes from Krämer and colleagues, where they demonstrated that the PiC of yeast mitochondria can be converted into a non-specific anion channel¹⁹⁸.

However, more recent data from Bernardi's laboratory has suggested that Pi actually inhibits (rather than activates) pore opening. They also suggested that this effect is overcome by the presence of CyP-D, accounting for the protective effects of CsA in the presence of Pi and hence argued against a role for the PiC in the MPTP. These authors assayed the calcium retention capacity (CRC) of energised liver mitochondria from wild-type and CyP-D knockout mice^{109,199,200}.

1.8.3 The MPTP opens during reperfusion and not during ischemia

Halestarp's group in 1995, demonstrated that the MPTP was kept firmly closed in the heart under normal physiological conditions but opened upon reperfusion following a period of ischemia¹⁴³. They used a technique that involved the entrapment of [³H]-2-deoxyglucose in the mitochondria that has undergone transition¹⁴³. Our group, by measuring the MPTP opening using fluorescent microscopy in isolated cardiac myocytes, showed that the MPTP opens upon reperfusion in a setting of ischemia and reperfusion²⁰¹. Opening of MPTP at

reperfusion is also supported by Lemaster's group¹⁰³ and they demonstrated MPTP opening occurring at the time of reoxygenation, in hepatocytes subjected to periods of simulated ischemia. In this model MPTP opening was indicated by the entry of the membrane-impermeant fluorescent dye calcein and mitochondrial membrane depolarisation²⁰². Di Lisa's group²⁰³ demonstrated the same finding using the CsA-sensitive loss of mitochondrial NAD+, that occurred during the first few minutes of reperfusion to indicate MPTP opening.

Very recently Duchen et al devised an approach that delivers Ca^{2+} directly to the matrix of mitochondria independently of uptake and therefore independently of potential ($\Delta \psi m$) and this allows direct study both of the Ca^{2+} efflux pathway and of the specific sensitivity of MPTP to Ca^{2+} in intact and in permeabilized cells²⁰⁴. Duchen et al achieved this using the photolytic release of Ca^{2+} by flash photolysis of caged Ca^{2+} using compounds, such as o-nitrophenyl EGTA, introduced into the cell as the acetoxymethyl (AM) ester (NP-EGTA, AM)²⁰⁴.

During ischemia the low pH (<7), a powerful inhibitor of MPTP, keeps the pore closed and the return of pH to normal during reperfusion induces pore opening²⁰⁵. It is the low pH accompanying ischemia that prevents the MPTP opening despite the conditions where MPTP inducers are present¹⁵¹. Hence, maintaining a low pH during the initial phase of reperfusion following an ischemia is shown to protect the heart from reperfusion injury²⁰⁶.

During ischemia, the rise in cytosolic Ca²⁺ begins when about two-thirds of cellular ATP has been depleted and this rise in cytosolic Ca²⁺ results in mitochondrial Ca²⁺ loading and MPTP opening, suggesting that the mitochondrial [Ca²⁺] is a critical determinant of MPTP opening and cell death²⁰⁷. During reperfusion the rapid energisation of the mitochondria will lead to electrogenic calcium uptake into the mitochondria from the cytosol inducing MPTP opening¹². However, experiments carried out in isolated cardiac myocytes showed that it is the mitochondrial calcium that was responsible for MPTP opening¹⁰⁸. Furthermore the surge of ROS production during reperfusion is one of the most important factors determining the outcome of reperfusion.

Recently our group demonstrated that the MPTP can reversibly open in adult cardiomyocytes under basal conditions, and that this form of MPTP opening is augmented by hypoxic preconditioning¹⁷⁸.

1.8.4 Consequences of MPTP Opening

Along with increased matrix swelling MPTP opening results in major modifications of mitochondrial function and structure that ultimately affect the maintenance of the cell viability. The immediate effect of the MPTP opening is the collapse of the mitochondrial membrane potential and opening of MPTP results in both apoptotic and necrotic cell death.

1.8.4.1 MPTP opening and Necrotic Cell Death

Once the pore opens it allows free passage of protons across the inner membrane leading to a dissipation of the membrane potential and pH gradient comprising the proton motive force. Maintaining the relative impermeability of the inner mitochondrial membrane is critical to ATP production, as it permits the generation of this electro-chemical gradient - the chemiosmotic hypothesis first described by Mitchell & Moyle²⁰⁸. Therefore, the abrupt permeation of the IMM allows entry of protons into the mitochondrial matrix, which dissipates the proton-mediated mitochondrial membrane potential. This halts ATP production and results in ATP hydrolysis as the F_0F_1 -ATPase complex (reverse operation) breaks down ATP in an attempt to maintain the mitochondrial membrane potential leading to ATP depletion^{209,210}.

When the tissue ATP levels become severely compromised and, left unchecked, these will lead to major perturbations in the ionic and metabolic homeostasis of the cell leading to necrotic cell death through the activation of phospholipases, nucleases and proteases^{12,166,210}. Opening of the MPTP is associated with loss of matrix Ca²⁺, depletion of reduced glutathione, depletion of NADPH, and the hypergeneration of superoxide anion. More recent data have begun to suggest that necrosis may be "programmed" and is not a default "accidental" pathway²¹¹⁻²¹³.

The importance of the MPTP in the necrotic death using MPTP inhibitors such as cyclosporin A and sanglifehrin A have been demonstrated in the heart, brain and liver^{130,139,202,214}. More recently, it has been shown that CyP D dependent MPTP plays an important role in some forms of necrotic cell death. Nakagawa and Baines groups demonstrated that CyP D-deficient embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs) show significantly increased resistance to $H_2O_{2^-}$ induced necrosis^{195,197} and CyP D-deficient hepatocytes showed

resistance to necrosis induced by a Ca²⁺ ionophore (A23187) or by $H_2O_2^{195,197}$. Interestingly when necrosis was inhibited by CyP D deficiency, apoptosis did not occur as an alternative death mechanism¹⁹⁷ suggesting that the H_2O_2/Ca^{2+} induced apoptotic signalling pathways are somehow blocked in these types of cells.

1.8.4.2 Apoptotic Cell Death and MPTP

Another consequence of MPTP opening is mitochondrial matrix swelling and this may lead to apoptotic cell death under some conditions. Swelling of the mitochondria occurs as the MPTP is permeable to all solutes of sizes <1.5 kDa and the non-protein components of the mitochondrial matrix will rapidly equilibrate across the IMM. However, the matrix proteins remain inside the mitochondria and their higher concentrations exert a colloidal osmotic pressure causing the matrix to swell. This unfolds the cristae in the IMM without breaking the IMM, but the outer membrane ruptures allowing the contents of the inter membrane space to be released including cytochrome c and other proapoptotic proteins such as Smac/Diablo and Apoptosis Inducing Factor (AIF). Thus, even if MPTP opening is insufficient to deplete ATP levels and cause necrosis, apoptosis may result^{12,166}. However, the release of pro-apoptotic proteins from the inter membrane space is normally mediated by specific permeabilisation of the outer membrane through the action of pro-apoptotic members of the Bcl-2 family such as Bax^{215,216}.

Caspases activation is thought to be a major mechanism of apoptotic cell death and their role in ischemia-reperfusion injury has been debated^{217,218}. Authors have reported that inhibition of caspases can only result in a modest reduction in infarct size²¹⁸. However, a large number of studies demonstrated that addition of caspase inhibitors reduced infarct size, suggesting an important role for caspase activation in ischemia-reperfusion injury^{219,220}. Caspase 9 are activated during ischemia, whereas caspases 8 and 9 are activated during reperfusion²²⁰. It has also been suggested that inhibition of caspases promotes necrotic cell death²²¹.

Inhibiting mitochondrial membrane permeability (MMP) using MPTP inhibitors such as cyclosporine-A or bongkrekic acid have been demonstrated to inhibit apoptotic cell

death^{222,223}. At low doses Bax was demonstrated to induce permeabilisation of the OMM only, though at higher doses it also induced the permeabilisation of the IMM. MPTP opening in this setting will result in ATP depletion, which would be expected to halt the energy-dependent apoptotic process, so it appears counter-intuitive to have MPTP opening in apoptotic cell death.

Furthermore, mitochondrial swelling and OMM rupture does not always occur in apoptotic cells, and mitochondrial cytochrome C release can occur independent of MPTP opening^{224,225}. Therefore, MMP may occur by a direct action of pro-apoptotic protein on the OMM, independent of the MPTP. Studies have shown that over expression of CyP D, inhibits apoptosis induced by over expression of caspase-8 (but not Bax) or by exposure to arsenic trioxide^{226,227}. There is a possibility that these forms of apoptosis are mediated by the MPTP and they are somehow affected by CyP D over expression. Baines et al showed that cardiac myocytes isolated from transgenic mice with myocardial expression of CyP D did have a tendency to undergo mitochondrial swelling and spontaneous death suggesting that the effects of CyP D expression might be cell type-specific¹⁹⁵. Crompton and colleagues showed that a neuronal cell line over expressing CyP-D, was hypersensitive to necrotic cell death induced by Ca²⁺ and oxidative stress, but was more resistant to apoptosis induced by nitric oxide or staurosporine²²⁸.

1.8.5 The Role of the MPTP in Reperfusion Injury

The conditions that prevail during ischemia (drop in ATP/ADP, adenine nucleotide depletion and the build-up of lactic acid, and drop in intracellular pH) are exactly those that favour MPTP opening¹⁷⁰. ATP levels get severely compromised and calcium accumulates inside the cell. Upon reperfusion, this Ca2+ enters the re-energised mitochondria, and the replenished oxygen supply leads to the formation of oxygen free radicals and this sets the scene for pore opening.

Using the 'Hot-DOG' (DOG is 2-deoxyglucose) technique, Halestrap's group have confirmed that MPTP opening does not occur during ischemia, but does occur after approximately 2 min of reperfusion when the pH has returned to normal¹⁷⁰. They were also

able to demonstrate that a significant proportion of the mitochondria that do open initially during the reperfusion period, do subsequently close again, and that the recovery of the heart correlates best with the extent of this closure¹⁵¹.

1.8.5.1.1 Inhibition of the MPTP protects hearts against ischemia reperfusion injury

The following strategies can be used to inhibit MPTP opening and there by protecting the heart against ischemia-reperfusion injury.

1.8.5.1.2 Targeting CyP-D

In 1991, Nazareth et al demonstrated that CsA could protect isolated cardiac myocytes from reoxygenation injury¹²⁷. They demonstrated that cyclosporine-A at a concentration of 0.2 µmol/l protected the cell against necrotic cell death (assessed by Trypan-blue exclusion and LDH release). They showed that the best protective effect could be achieved at concentrations of CsA between 0.2-0.4 µmol/l¹²⁷. Subsequently Griffiths and co-workers showed protection from reperfusion injury in the Langendorff-perfused heart¹³⁰. These findings were confirmed by our group (reduction in the infarct size of hearts subjected to ischemia - reperfusion injury with CsA added only at reperfusion) and others using both global and regional models of ischemia and reperfusion using enzyme release, infarct size and haemodynamic function as end points^{68,229}. Furthermore, genetic ablation of CyP-D has been demonstrated to protect against ischemia reperfusion injury of the heart^{195,197} and brain²³⁰ with CyP-D knockout mice showing a substantial decrease in infarct size. Thus targeting the MPTP has proven potential as a pharmacological target for the reduction of reperfusion injury following stroke, coronary thrombosis and heart surgery. However, CsA also inhibits calcineurin, which is a calcium-sensitive protein phosphatase, by binding to cytosolic cyclophilin-A. This has direct effects on heart function²³¹ and also undesirable immunosuppressive activity²³². However, protection by CsA against MPTP opening has been reported in human clinical trials and this confirmed reduced infarct size following CsA treatment of patients undergoing PCI treatment following a coronary thrombosis¹³⁵.

To overcome the issue of CsA, SfA can be used which are inactive against calcineurin but inhibit MPTP opening and are as effective as CsA even when given at the time

of reperfusion^{139,143,233,234}. Our group have shown that CsA and SfA can reduce the infarct size of hearts when a coronary artery is occluded and then re-opened to mimic the clinical treatment of a coronary thrombosis^{68,229}.

1.8.5.1.3 Targeting other components of the MPTP and using other strategies

Targeting another component of the MPTP would be an attractive strategy for cardioprotection as MPTP opening may not be totally dependent on CyP-D. When CyP-D is ablated genetically or when fully inhibited with CsA, it has been shown that the permeability transition of MPTP can be induced with a higher calcium load or oxidative stress^{159,196}. The MPTP can be inhibited by targeting the ANT with BKA and this can protect cells from MPTP-induced cell death in some systems^{146,210}. As ANT is vital for the generation of cytosolic ATP via oxidative phosphorylation to energise the contractile cycle, this form of cardioprotection is not appropriate.

Popofol can directly inhibit MPTP opening in isolated mitochondri²³⁵ by scavenging free radicals. Javadov et al, using the "Hot-DOG" technique, has demonstrated the inhibition of the MPTP by propofol in the intact heart¹⁵² and in vivo pig model of cardiopulmonary bypass with warm blood cardioplegia¹⁵⁷. Other anaesthetic agents such as isoflurane and desflurane have also been shown to offer protection and are associated with less ROS formation and calcium overload^{236,237}.

Inhibition of the Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger with amiloride derivatives (cariporide) protects the heart from reperfusion injury, by preventing sodium and therefore calcium overload during ischemia and maintaining low pH during reperfusion^{238,239}.

Pyruvate, free radical scavenger, also maintains a low intracellular pH and is an excellent respiratory substrate to replenish ATP during reperfusion. Direct measurement with the "Hot-DOG" technique has confirmed that pyruvate not only reduces MPTP opening at reperfusion but closes those pores that were open initially¹⁵¹.

Verapamil and ruthenium red can protect the hearts from reperfusion injury by reducing cytosolic and mitochondrial calcium overload²⁴⁰.

Selvaraj Shanmuganathan

1.8.5.2 Inhibiting MPTP Opening During Ischemia-Reperfusion: the pH Paradox

The rapid restoration of physiologic pH during myocardial reperfusion after ischemic episode contributes to lethal reperfusion injury. This phenomenon is termed the pH paradox²⁴¹. Studies In neonatal rat cardiomyocytes have shown that reoxygenation with acidic buffer is cardioprotective²⁴² and this effect may be mediated by the inhibition of MPTP opening¹⁰³.

1.8.5.3 The MPTP - a target for preconditioning and postconditioning

Finding of IPC by Reimer and Jennings in 1986, has generated a huge research effort to elucidate the signal transduction pathways. Current proposal is that the IPC stimulus generates autocoids such as adenosine, bradykinin, and opioids, which in turn activate their specific G-protein coupled receptors (GPCR) on the cardiomyocyte plasma membrane. A complex network of intracellular signalling pathways are recruited many of which converge on the mitochondria. This results in the production of mitochondrial reactive oxygen species (ROS) activating PKC, Akt and Erk1/2 which convey the cardioprotective signal and the 'memory-effect' of IPC to the unidentified end effector^{95,243}.

Our group demonstrated for the first time that IPC elicited its cardioprotective effect by targeting and inhibiting the opening of the MPTP using diazoxide, a purported opener of the ATP-sensitive mitochondrial potassium (mitoKATP) channel in adult rat cardiac mitochondria²²⁹.

Subsequent to its original description in 2003 by Vinten-Johansen's group⁵³ our research group and others have provided evidence that IPost is able to activate cell-surface receptors such as adenosine, bradykinin and opioids, which then recruit signal transduction pathways such as the PI3KAkt, MEK1/2-Erk1/2, cGMP-PKG kinase cascades, which are known to terminate on the mitochondria. Ovize's research group²⁴⁴ were able to link IPost with the inhibition of MPTP opening using rabbit hearts.

Several mechanisms have been proposed through which IPC and Ipost inhibits the opening of the MPTP at the time of myocardial reperfusion but the actual mechanism is currently unresolved.

1.9 Summary and Main Objectives of the Thesis

Mitochondrial permeability transition pore opening occurs just after reperfusion under pathological conditions such as ischemia-reperfusion injury, where conditions' predisposing for MPTP opening prevails. These include a high mitochondrial [Ca²⁺] and [P_i], ATP depletion and oxidative stress. Opening of the MPTP disrupts normal mitochondrial function and depletion of energy sources. Hence opening of MPTP is a critical determinant of cell death - both apoptotic and necrotic cell death. Therefore, inhibiting MPTP opening during ischemia-reperfusion injury offers a powerful target for protecting the heart against the reperfusion injury.

The main aim of this thesis is to demonstrate that MPTP opening does occur at reperfusion in human cardiomyocytes and that inhibiting the MPTP opening occurring at the time of reperfusion, following a lethal period of ischemia, is an important mechanism for cardio-protection in **humans**, by applying agents at the time of reperfusion.

Chapter Two

HYPOTHESIS

Overall hypothesis:

The mitochondrial permeability transition pore (MPTP) is a target for cardioprotection in the human heart

Aim and objectives:

- 1. To determine whether pharmacologically inhibiting MPTP opening at the onset of myocardial reperfusion / reoxygenation improves recovery in contractile function in human atrial muscle following a period of sustained simulated ischemia.
- 2. To determine whether pharmacologically inhibiting MPTP opening at the onset of myocardial reoxygenation improves the survival of human atrial cardiomyocytes subjected to a period of sustained simulated ischemia.
- 3. To demonstrate that MPTP opening occurs in human atrial cardiomyocytes subjected to oxidative stress, and that MPTP opening can be inhibited by known pharmacological MPTP inhibitors.

In Chapter 4, we examine the effect of pharmacologically inhibiting MPTP opening with known inhibitors during the first few minutes of post-ischemic reperfusion (the time-period when MPTP opening has been demonstrated to occur) in Human atrial trabeculae and its contractile functional recovery. In Chapter 5 and 6, we examine the effects of pharmacologically inhibiting MPTP opening by known MPTP inhibitors at the onset of reperfusion, on isolated Human myocardial cellular viability and also on the percentage of apoptosis and necrosis, in a setting of hypoxia and reoxygenation model. In chapter 7, we examine the opening of MPTP secondary to oxidative stress and the direct inhibitory effect (delayed opening of MPTP) on the opening of MPTP by the known pharmacological MPTP inhibitors, by applying solely at reperfusion, in an isolated Human myocyte using oxidative stress model.

Chapter Three: GENERAL METHODS

3.1	Patien	ts	52
3.2	Exclus	sion criteria	52
3.3	Preparation of Adult human right atrial trabeculae		
	3.3.1	Isolation of Trabeculae	53
		3.3.1.a Oxygenation of isolated muscle preparation	54
		3.3.1.b Method of isolation of muscle	55
	3.3.2	Force transducer	56
	3.3.3	Organ bath	57
	3.3.4	Stabilisation of the trabeculae	59
	3.3.5	Measurement of force	60
	3.3.6	Materials	61
	3.3.7	Experimental protocols	61
		3.3.7.1 Control group	61
		3.3.7.2 Preconditioning protocol	61
		3.3.7.3 Drug groups	61
3.4	Isolation of Adult human Right Atrial Cardiomyocytes		
	3.4.1	Materials	63
3.5	Preparing human right atrial Cardiomyocytes for Hypoxic chamber		
	3.5.1	Subjecting cells to hypoxia and reoxygenation	64
	3.5.2	Experimental protocols for measurement of percentage viability,	
		apoptosis and necrosis	66
3.6	Preparing Human Atrial Cardiomyocytes for Confocal Microscopy		
	3.6.1	Human atrial cardiomyocyte model for induction and detection	
		of MPTP opening	67
	3.6.2	Experimental protocols	68
	3.6.3	Confocal Microscopy	68
3.7	Statist	ical Analyses	69

3.1 Patients

All the experiments were performed on the tissues harvested from the human right atrial appendage. Specimens of human right atrial appendages were obtained from the right atrial venous cannulation site at the time of cardiac bypass operation from patients, at the Heart hospital, London, undergoing either elective coronary artery bypass graft surgery or elective aortic valve replacement, just before they went onto cardio-pulmonary bypass. The patients either had coronary artery disease or stenotic disease of the aortic valve with good left ventricular function.

The procedure was explained in detail to all the patients along with the information sheet and was given enough time to read, understand and ask questions about the same. They were compos mentis while signing the form and were in full agreement for providing their right atrial sample for the present study. Prior ethical approval had been obtained from the Middlesex Hospital Clinical Investigations panel (00/0275).

3.2 Exclusion criteria

The exclusion criteria were: Patients with

- Arrhythmias
- Poor left or right ventricular function
- Age ≥ 80 years
- Recent myocardial infarction (within two weeks)
- Emergency surgery
- Unstable angina
- Bacterial endocarditis
- Patients with anti-arrhythmic drugs, oral hypoglycaemics and Insulin
- Combined cardiac surgical procedures

3.3 Preparation of Adult Human right atrial trabeculae

3.3.1 Isolation of Trabeculae

The advantages of isolated human right atrial muscle (trabecula) preparations are:

- (1) Avoiding the problems of collateral circulation experienced with in-vivo models
- (2) The confounding effects of alterations in pre-load and after-load
- (3) The measurement of contractile function in the whole heart during simulated ischemia and reperfusion is complicated by alterations in the geometry of the cavity associated with ischemic contracture, tissue oedema and the effects of changes in coronary perfusion pressure
- (4) Free from neuro-humoral effects
- (5) It was available and because sampling was part of the routine cardiac procedure.
- (6) The specimens make stable preparations and are generally disease free.

The disadvantages of isolated human right atrial muscle (trabecula) preparations

This does not truly represent the ventricular muscle and hence translation into clinical scenario is not strictly representative.

There are several clinical studies suggesting that preconditioning occurs in humans,^{28,34,36,245-²⁴⁷ but the early direct evidence comes from in vitro studies. Ikonomidis et al¹⁹ used human ventricular cardiomyocyte cell cultures and showed that these isolated myocytes could be protected against a 90-minute period of SI by a preconditioning protocol. Our department¹⁸ were able to show that human atrial trabeculae can be preconditioned and that had a significantly better postischemic recovery of contractile function than non-preconditioned trabeculae. There are differences between atrial and ventricular tissue, and results from one may not be applicable to the other; however, early experiments in our laboratory (unpublished data, 1995) suggest that an identical preconditioning effect can be induced in ventricular tissue if a shorter ischemic insult is used (60 minutes instead of 90 minutes).}

Selvaraj Shanmuganathan Chapter 3: General Methods

In place of "true" ischemia, the present study used a period of hypoxic superfusion in combination with rapid pacing to simulate ischemia, and there is a great deal of evidence in animal models of both regional and global hypoxia and in cell culture that hypoxia is as effective as ischemia in inducing preconditioning²⁴⁸⁻²⁵¹.

We know that preconditioning causes improved recovery of contractile function as well as reduced infarct size. Jenkins et al,²⁵² *m*easured both infarct volume and functional recovery after ischemia and showed that the improved recovery of global left ventricular function produced by preconditioning is proportional to a reduction in infarction. Cohen et al²⁵³ and Przyklenk et al⁷⁶ were able to correlate improved recovery of systolic shortening with reduced infarct size in vivo models of regional ischemia.

Though there is no direct evidence in atrial tissue that recovery of global function is proportional to infarct volume it can be safely assumed that this is likely to be the case. It is clear from the evidence that the enhanced recovery of contractile function due to preconditioning, following a prolonged period of ischemia, is due to a reduction in infarct size and is not due to a reduction in stunning. This model uses a 90-minute period of SI as the "ischemic insult," a period much more likely to lead to cell death than stunning, which is induced by shorter periods of 5 to 15 minutes of ischemia suggesting that our model is indeed one of preconditioning. However, although unlikely, we cannot entirely exclude the possibility that our model involves stunning.

3.3.1.a Oxygenation of isolated muscle preparation

In the isolated muscle preparation, delivery of a satisfactory amount of oxygen to all of the cells is determined by the rate of oxygen utilisation of the cells, the distance between the muscle surface and the core and the oxygen tension of the solution that is surrounding the muscle. The core tissue of the isolated muscle preparation may be inadequately oxygenated if the diffusion distance for the oxygen is high even in the presence of 95% O_2 in the superfusate. However the muscle preparations with a small diameter and adequately perfused with well oxygenated buffer can remain viable without arterial perfusion. In theory for maximum contractility, the muscle specimen must be small enough for the free diffusion of substrates (oxygen, glucose and pyruvic acid) and metabolites and that their production can

match their diffusion. The diffusion of oxygen to the muscle is the main determinant of their contractility²⁵⁴.

There is some dispute among various investigators about what is an appropriate maximum diameter of the superfused contracting isolated muscle in pertaining to adequate oxygenation. One of the early investigators was A V Hill and he determined the formula from biophysical principles to calculate the maximum diameter for adequate oxygenation of an isolated muscle preparation²⁵⁵. Prasad and Callaghan using the formula calculated that a muscle of less than 0.932 mm diameter would be adequately supplied by oxygen by simple diffusion in an atmosphere of 95% O₂ and 5% CO₂ at 37°C and the pacing was at 1 Hz²⁵⁶. Page and Solomon showed that a superfused cylindrical cat papillary muscle with a diameter of 1.12 mm would be adequately oxygenated²⁵⁷. The method of superfusing isolated specimens of cardiac muscle is well recognised and there are published studies to support this technique in human ventricle obtained from explants, where the sample diameter was 1-2 mm^{258,259}.

The human right atrial trabeculae used in this study ranged between (of diameter 1-2 mm and length \geq 2 mm). The thinnest of the trabeculae were always used when possible with no branches. It was assumed that the muscles were adequately oxygenated as supported by the studies above. It might have been possible that the larger muscles have undergone some core hypoxia and if that is the case it would equally affect all the groups almost to the same degree. The experiments conducted in this study would be still valid as all the atrial trabeculae in the groups were similar at baseline.

3.3.1.b Method of isolation of muscle

This method has been well established and shown to work in our laboratory²⁶⁰⁻²⁶². Specimens of right atrial appendages were transported to the laboratory in ice cold oxygenated modified Tyrode's buffer containing (in mM): NaCl 118.5, KCl 4.8, NaHCO₃ 24.8, KH₂PO₄ 1.2, MgSO₄.7H₂O 1.44, CaCl₂.2H₂O 1.8, glucose 10.0 and pyruvic acid 10.0. It was ensured that the transport time of the specimen from theatre to laboratory was limited to less than 15-20 minutes. Once in the laboratory the samples were transferred to and well bathed in a Petri dish containing oxygenated modified Tyrode's buffer at room temperature. The specimen was

immobilised with pins taking great care and the trabeculae (of diameter 1-2 mm and length ≥ 2 mm) were harvested with the help of surgical loops (Keeler, 3.5 x magnification). From one to three trebaculae were harvested when possible from the each specimen and each of the trabeculae were subjected to individual experiments only. The trebeculae were gently separated and isolated using fine forceps from the surrounding tissue. The ends of the trabeculae were tied with 5/0 silk sutures taking care not to cut the trabeculae. The trabeculae were cut from the surrounding tissue i.e. the atrial wall, beyond the silk sutures. They were then transferred to an organ bath which is superfused with oxygenated modified Tyrode's solution at 37°C. The trabeculae were suspended horizontally in the organ bath, by tying (snared) one end of the trabeculae to a fixed post in the bath and the other end of the trabeculae to the force transducer (Gould Statham UCT2, Ohio, USA) that is calibrated before each experiment. The organ bath was continuously superfused with oxygenated (95% O_2 / 5% CO₂, British Oxygen Company, London, England) modified Tyrode's buffer and the temperature was maintained constant at 37°C using a heat exchanger (Techne Circulator C 85-A, Cambridge, UK) and was monitored by a thermocouple in the bath. The pH was maintained between 7.35 – 7.45; pO_2 between 50 – 60 kPa and pCO_2 between 4.0 – 6.0 kPa. During simulated ischemia (hypoxia) pH was maintained between 7.24 – 7.34 and $pO_2 < 7$ kPa.

3.3.2 Force transducer

The force transducer was attached to a micromanipulator (Prior, Cambridge, England) which allowed the force transducer to be manoeuvred with precision. This allowed the manipulation of trabeculae on the horizontal position and with precision. The whole setup was mounted on a low vibration table.

3.3.3 Organ bath

The organ bath was made of non-toxic Perspex and it had a volume of 4 ml and the flow through the bath was regulated at about 8 ml / min. The bath was designed with a well at the entry point of the buffer to damp the pulsatile flow of the buffer delivered through the pump (Watson-Marlow, Cornwall, England). The buffer was constantly removed from the bath through pump and so a fresh, constant and steady flow of buffer was ensured to the trabeculae. The inflow of buffer was matched with the outflow of the organ bath. At all time point it was ensured that the trabeculae were well immersed in the buffer to ensure adequate oxygenation. Glass cover slips were used to cover the bath to minimize the gas exchange with the atmosphere. Two platinum electrodes were sited by the side of the bath, which enabled the trabeculae to be stimulated at required hertz. Once suspended, the trabeculae were paced individually by field stimulation at 1 Hz using an isolated stimulator (Digimeter DS2, Hertfordshire, UK) triggered by a computerized clock.

The baths were connected to the water-jacketed glass reservoirs for holding buffers, by means of either polythene or silicone tubing. The water-jacketed glass reservoirs were connected to the heat exchanger to maintain the temperature at 37°C. The buffers in the reservoirs were bubbled constantly with the appropriate gas mixture where necessary and were covered with tin foils to minimise heat exchange to the atmosphere and to keep the buffers dust free. Three way taps were used to alternate the buffers to the reservoir between protocols. The buffers in the reservoir were bubbled with appropriate gas mixtures for a minimum of 20 minutes to allow them to be mixed well and this also allowed the buffers to reach and maintain the temperature at 37°C.



Figure 3-1 A to C:

Figure showing (a) stimulator, (b) pump for constant flow of buffer and (c) the whole rig including water jacket and the computer recording.



Figure 3-2 D and E:

E: Figure showing force transducer and organ bath with electrodes on either side mounted on a low vibration table.

3.3.4 Stabilisation of the trabeculae

All the trabeculae were suspended in the organ bath and paced at 1 Hz, unstretched, for 30 minutes. This was the equilibration phase where the trabeculae were allowed to equilibrate with the temperature and the buffer. The trabeculae were then gradually stretched in a stepwise manner over a period of 15 minutes duration and the resting tension was set at the length that produced the maximum degree of force of contraction. The gradual stretch was done using the help of the micromanipulator. The stretching process was stopped when there was no further increase in the developed force in relation to the length of the trabeculae. Once this maximum developed force is achieved the trabeculae were allowed to stabilise for further 40-45 minutes (stabilisation phase). The trabeculae were excluded if the maximum developed force were ≤ 1.0 g. All the groups eventually underwent a period of simulated ischemia (SI) and reperfusion which consisted of 90 minutes of hypoxia, when the trabeculae were superfused with the substrate free modified Tyrode's solution and rapid pacing at 3 Hz, followed by reperfusion for 120 minutes with normal modified Tyrode's solution at 1 Hz. A one-minute allowance was made for the change over between different buffers in the bath and the connecting tubes.



Figure 3-3: Figure showing Human right atrial trabecula attached to transducer from the pole and perfused in the organ bath.

3.3.5 Measurement of force

The trabeculae were suspended, as described above, one end to the fixed pole and the other end to the force transducer. The platinum pacing electrodes were positioned on either side of the trabeculae in the organ bath and were stimulated at the frequency 1 Hz. The pulse width was fixed at 5 ms and the pulse amplitude was set at twice threshold required by each individual trabecula for satisfactory pacing (6-8 V).

The frequency response of the force transducer and its mechanical linkage was known to be flat to 50 Hz. The range of the transducer, as per the manufacturer, was \pm 30 g with a displacement of \pm 0.006 mm at the upper ends of this force range. The excitation voltage for the force transducer was provided by a DC bridge amplifier (Digimeter, Neurolog recorder amplifier NL 107). The output of the force transducer was amplified and recorded using PowerLab / 8s (AD Instruments, Australia). The PowerLab recording unit together with the chart application program provides a multi-purpose data recording and analysis system and was used with a computer.

The force transducer was calibrated before every single experiment. The chart is opened and all the channels were set to zero. The chart was allowed to run while the transducer was attached to the known weights (0.5 & 1 g) and calibrated according to the known weights. While the baseline is calibrated to zero the upper limit of the weight were calibrated to either (0.5 or 1 g) depending on the weight used (mostly 0.5 g). The weights were attached to the force transducer with the help of a pulley so that the direction of the pull of the weight would be horizontal as the trabeculae would be. The known weights were weighed on a calibrated electronic balance, accurate to 5 figures (Mettler AJ50, Leicester, England).

At the end of the reoxygenation period, the contractile function, which is expressed as a percentage of the baseline force of contraction, was determined for each atrial trabecula. In addition, the width and length of each atrial trabecula was measured and all specimens were then weighed. The cross-sectional area was calculated from the measured diameter of the atrial trabecula (assuming the trabeculae were cylindrical).

3.3.6 Materials

- Modified Tyrode's solution: The modified Tyrode's solution contains (in mM): NaCl 118.5, KCl 4.8, NaHCO₃ 24.8, KH₂PO₄ 1.2, MgSO₄.7H₂O 1.44, CaCl₂.2H₂O 1.8, glucose 10.0 and pyruvic acid 10.0.
- (2) In the substrate free modified Tyrode's solution, choline chloride 7mM was substituted for glucose and pyruvic acid to maintain constant osmolarity. All reagents were Analar grade (BDH Chemicals, Poole, England) except for pyruvic acid (Sigma Chemicals, Poole, England).

3.3.7 Experimental protocols

3.3.7.1 Control group

Group perfused with either normal buffer or buffer with 0.005% ethanol or 0.01% DMSO vehicle control.

3.3.7.2 protocol

The preconditioning protocol consisted of perfusing the trabeculae with 3 minutes of hypoxic substrate-free superfusion of modified Tyrode's with rapid pacing at 3 Hz followed by 7 minutes of reperfusion with oxygenated modified Tyrode's with pacing at 1 Hz. Subsequently these trabeculae were subjected to the simulated ischemia and reperfusion protocol. This ischemic preconditioning group was included as a positive control to verify that cardio-protection could be demonstrated in this atrial trabeculae model of SIRI. This hypoxic preconditioning protocol has been previous demonstrated in this atrial trabeculae model to improve the recovery of myocardial contractile function¹⁸.

3.3.7.3 Drug groups

The human atrial trabeculae allocated to the drug groups Cyclosporin (CsA) (0.2 μ M) and Sanglifehrin (SfA) (1.0 μ M) received their corresponding drugs for the first 30 minutes of the reperfusion period.

- 1. Cyclosporin-A (CsA, Sigma Chemicals, Poole, Dorset) was dissolved in 50% ethanol and added to the buffer such that the final ethanol concentration was 0.005%.
- Sanglifehrin-A (SfA, Novartis Pharma AG, Basel) was dissolved in dimethyl sulphoxide (DMSO, Sigma Chemicals, Poole, Dorset) and added to the buffer such that the final DMSO concentration was 0.01%.

Each trabecula was used for one protocol only and they were randomly assigned to the different groups studied. These concentrations of CsA and SfA have been demonstrated to inhibit MPTP opening in the isolated perfused rat heart ^{68,130,139,229}.

3.4 Isolation of Adult Human Right Atrial Cardiomyocytes

Isolated adult human right atrial cardiomyocytes provide cells, which are free from the neurohormonal influence in an environment, which can be controlled. Human right atrial cardiomyocytes were isolated by enzymatic dissociation using protease and collagenase digestion, from the right atrial appendages harvested from the patients undergoing elective cardiac surgery, just before going on to cardio-pulmonary bypass²⁶³. Once isolated the right atrial samples were immediately transported to the laboratory (in less than 20 minutes) in the ice cold oxygenated medium-calcium (MC) solution comprising (in mM): NaCl 120, KCl 5.4, MgSO₄ 5, pyruvate 5, glucose 20, taurine 20, HEPES 10 and Ca²⁺ 0.05 (pH 7.4). All buffers were made from autoclaved distilled water. In the laboratory, the samples were weighed before cardiomyocyte isolation. The right atrial appendage was then freed of any fat and scar tissue while still bathed in the ice-cold oxygenated medium-calcium (MC) solution. The right atrial appendage was then cut into cubes of 1-2 millimetres using fresh sharp razor blades, taking care not to cause shearing action (to prevent crushing the cells) in the oxygenated medium calcium (MC) solution at room temperature. The sliced atrial pieces were then transferred to 25 ml of Low calcium (LC) solution in a sterile pot and oxygenated with 100% O₂ while stirring the solution gently for 3 minutes. At the end of 3 minutes the cubes were filtered through prolene mesh (300 µm) and were transferred to 25 ml of fresh Low calcium solution in a second sterile pot and the above process was repeated a further 3 times in separate sterile pots each time at 37°C (4x3 minutes in total). The filtrate was discarded each time. At the end of 12 minutes (3x4 times) the atrial slices were filtered once more through the mesh, scraped off and placed into a falcon tube containing 10 ml of the enzyme solution (ES) containing protease (Type XXIV, Sigma, USA) and were gently agitated in the agitator / shaker in a circular motion at 37°C for 45 minutes, with gentle oxygenation without bubbling. Fifteen minutes before the first protease digestion was finished 10 ml of enzyme solution was added to the first collagenase in a separate falcon tube and this solution was warmed and oxygenated. At the end of 45 minutes of protease digestion the sample was filtered once again through the mesh and transferred into 10 ml of enzyme solution containing collagenase (Type V, (Clostridium Histolyticum) Sigma, USA) and was again gently agitated in the shaker at 37°C for 45 minutes. The sample was filtered once again and the filtrate from the digestion was spun in a centrifuge at 1000 rpm for 2 minutes at 37°C. The supernatant was then removed carefully by pipetting out the solution and the pellet was re-suspended into 10-12 ml of the enzyme solution in a fresh sterile falcon tube and transferred to the incubator. After isolation, cell viability was assessed using light microscopy and routinely averaged ~30%.

3.4.1 Materials

- (1) *Medium-calcium (MC) solution:* comprising (in mM): NaCl 120, KCl 5.4, MgSO₄ 5, pyruvate 5, glucose 20, taurine 20, HEPES 10 and Ca²⁺ 1-2 μ M (pH 7.4).
- (2) Enzyme Solution (mM): pH 7.4, Sodium Chloride (NaCl) 120, Potassium Chloride (KCl) 5.4, Magnesium Sulphate (MgSO₄) 5, Pyruvate 5, Glucose 20, Taurine 20, HEPES 10, Calcium Chloride (CaCl₂) 35 μM.
- (3) Protease 4 U/ml (Type XXIV, (Bacterial) Sigma, USA)
- (4) Collagenase 1 mg/ml (Type V, (Clostridium Histolyticum) Sigma, USA)

3.5 Preparing Human right atrial Cardiomyocytes for Hypoxic chamber

Once the cardiomyocytes were isolated, as described above (section 3.4), they were stabilised in oxygenated medium calcium (MC) solution at 37° C in an incubator (CO₂ Incubator, CO28IR, New Brunswick Scientific, USA) in an atmosphere of 95% air/ 5% CO₂ for

50-60 minutes. Then the cells were transferred on to six well plates and subjected to experiments in the hypoxic chamber.

3.5.1 Subjecting cells to hypoxia and reoxygenation

Cells were subjected to lethal Simulated Ischemia (SI) as follows:

After stabilising the human atrial cardiomyocytes in the enzyme solution for 50-60 minutes in the incubation chamber the cells were transferred to the six well plates for the experiments. The cell suspension in the enzyme solution (falcon tube) was divided into 2 ml solutions in eppendorffs ((a) for the control, (b) for hypoxia and reperfusion alone, (c) for IPC group and (d) for hypoxia and drugs). These cells were centrifuged at 1000 rpm for 1-2 minutes at 37°C and re-suspended into the appropriate solutions i.e.

- The control group (time control): cells was re-suspended back in the enzyme solution into a well of the plates and transferred back to the incubator to be kept at 37°C.
- Ischemic preconditioning group (IPC): the cells were re-suspended in the modified Esumi buffer, pH 6.5 (mM / L): Sodium Chloride (NaCl), 137, Potassium Chloride (KCl), 12, Magnesium Chloride (MgCl₂) 0.49, Calcium Chloride (CaCl₂) 0.9, HEPES 4, Lactate 20) and transferred into the six well plater and subjected to three minutes of hypoxia in the hypoxic chamber followed by seven minutes of reoxygenation (*still in Esumi buffer*) by exposing cells to oxygenation in the incubator followed by hypoxic reoxygenation protocol.
- 3. Hypoxic group: the cells subjected for hypoxic protocols (control) were re-suspended in the modified Esumi buffer and transferred into the wells of the six well plates and were subjected to 20 minutes of hypoxia followed by 50 minutes of reoxygenation in the enzyme solution.
- 4. Drug groups: The drug group were subjected to 20 minutes of hypoxia in the modified Esumi buffer like their counterpart hypoxic group in the hypoxic chamber followed by 50 minutes of reoxygenation in the enzyme solution containing drug (CsA) for the entire period of reoxygenation.

The cells were then placed in the plates. The cells designated as the time control were placed back in the incubator at 37°C. The plates for hypoxic protocol (both hypoxic group and drug group) were transferred to the hypoxic chamber along with 20 gm of sodium dithionate (placed separately in the hypoxic chamber). The hypoxic chamber was closed air tight and the temperature was maintained at 37°C. The air in the hypoxic chamber was evacuated using tubing connected to the cold-water tap (one way) for the first 5 minutes to produce a vacuum. For the next fifteen minutes the hypoxic chamber and to maintain hypoxia (combined 20 minutes of hypoxia) with an atmosphere of 0% $O_2 - 5\%$ CO₂ balanced with argon. The outlet for the argon gas from the hypoxic chamber was connected to an underwater seal to prevent air entering into the hypoxic chamber (creating a one way valve). The ischemia was simulated by combination of (1) Modified Esumi Buffer, (2) Sodium Dithionate and (3) Hypoxia in the chamber. During this hypoxic period the control cells were counted for their baseline viability count under light microscope and the result is taken from the average of five fields from the single well by an independent observer.

At the end of the twenty minutes of simulated ischemia the hypoxic chamber was opened and the drug Cyclosporin-A (CsA) was added to the cells that are subjected for the drug protocol. Now the cells are pippetted out into separate eppendorffs (hypoxic group and drug group) including the control and were centrifuged for 1-2 minutes at 1000 rpm. The cells from all the groups were re-suspended back in the Enzyme solution (The cells in the drug group received the drug CsA along with the Enzyme solution) in separate wells of the 6 well plates and were in turn incubated at 37°C (reoxygenation).

The percentages of viable cells were counted under a light microscope at three different time points of reperfusion, i.e. at 10, 30 and 50 minutes of the reperfusion period. The percentages of viable cells were taken as the average count of five fields for each well at any one-time point by an independent observer. The rod shaped cells were counted as the viable cells and the rounded ones as dead cells.

3.5.2 Experimental protocols for measurement of percentage viability, apoptosis and necrosis

Isolated atrial cardiomyocytes were randomly assigned to the following treatment groups:

- 1) Time control group: these cells were left in normoxic conditions at 37.0°C for the entire duration of the experimental protocol to act as time controls (positive).
- Hypoxic control group: these cells were subjected to 20 minutes of hypoxia followed by 30 minutes reoxygenation with either normal buffer / buffer containing the vehicle controls (DMSO or 50% ethanol).
- CsA group and SfA groups: these cells were subjected to 20 minutes of hypoxia followed by 30 minutes of reoxygenation with buffer containing either cyclosporin-A (0.2 µM) or sanglifehrin-A (1.0 µM) correspondingly.

At the end of the 20 minutes re-oxygenation period, the cells were incubated in the dark for the final 10 minutes with Annexin-V-Fluos (AV) (20 μ M) (Roche, 8 Germany) i.e. the AV was added to the cells at the end of 20 minutes of re-oxygenation. Propidium iodide (PI) (3 nM) (Sigma) was then added to the cardiomyocytes that was already stained with AV at the end of 30 minutes of re-oxygenation (10 minutes following the addition of AV) and the samples were analyzed immediately using a fluorescent microscope.

Annexin V (also known as anxA5) has been shown previously to detect the early stages of apoptosis by binding to the phosphatidyl serine residues ²⁶⁴. This imaging protocol is based on the facts that apoptotic cells externalize the negatively charged phospholipid phosphatidylserine (PS) and that the human protein annexin A5 (anxA5) binds to PS selectively and with a high affinity²⁶⁵. Cellular necrosis was determined using PI, which binds to the nuclei of cells whose plasma membrane has become permeable²⁶⁶.

For each treatment group, the numbers of rod-shaped, AV stained, and PI stained cells were counted in 3 randomly chosen fields by an operator blinded to the treatment, and an average value taken. Results were then expressed as a % of the cells counted in the time control group (including the solvent group) and were assigned to 3 categories: (1) Live cells (AV-negative, PI-negative and rod-shaped); (2) Apoptotic cells (AV-positive, PI-negative); and (3) Necrotic cells (PI-positive).

3.6 Preparing Human Atrial Cardiomyocytes for Confocal Microscopy

3.6.1 Human atrial cardiomyocyte model for induction and detection of MPTP opening

Human cardiomyocytes were isolated as above and suspended in the enzyme solution. The cells were then seeded onto laminin-coated 25 mm diameter round cover slips placed inside the wells of 6 well plates. Once the cover slips were dry, 200 µl of laminin (1mg/ml diluted in 30 ml of distilled water, Sigma Chemicals, Poole, Dorset) was pipetted onto the centre of the cover-slip and left to dry for 60-90 minutes. 500 µl of the cell suspension was then carefully placed on the laminin residue in the centre of the cover slip. The cells were left to settle and seed onto the cover-slips for 50-60 minutes in an incubator (CO₂ Incubator, CO28IR, New Brunswick Scientific, USA) at 37°C in an atmosphere of 95% air/ 5% CO₂. After adequate seeding 1 ml of the enzyme solution was added to the cells in each of the wells of the 6 well plates. The cells were then subjected for experiments under confocal microscope. All the following procedures were conducted in a sterile positive-pressure Microbiological Safety Cabinet (Walker Safety Cabinets Ltd, Derbyshire, UK).

Opening of the MPTP in adult rat myocytes was induced and detected using a wellcharacterized cellular model of oxidative stress^{201,267-270}. Seeded human atrial cardiomyocytes, were incubated with the fluorescent dye, tetramethylrhodamine methyl ester (TMRM, 3 μ M) for 15 minutes at 37°C, and visualised using confocal fluorescence microscopy, as described below. TMRM, a lipophilic cation, accumulates selectively into mitochondria according to the mitochondrial membrane potential²⁷¹. Laser illumination of the mitochondrial TMRM generates oxidative stress, which is used in this model to induce MPTP opening, which is detected by the loss of mitochondrial membrane potential, which in this model appears as an increase in TMRM fluorescence intensity. The relatively high concentration of TMRM in the mitochondria causes auto-quenching of fluorescence, such that the fluorescence signal becomes a non-linear function of dye concentration; therefore, mitochondrial depolarisation results in the loss of dye into the cytosol where the signal increases²⁷².

3.6.2 Experimental protocols

After loading with TMRM, the cells were randomly assigned to the following treatment groups: (1) control group: incubation in Enzyme medium with the presence or absence of the DMSO and ethanol vehicle controls.

(2) CsA group: incubation with CsA (0.2 µM) in Enzyme medium for 15 minutes at 37°C.

(3) SfA group (n=10): incubation with SfA (1.0 μ M) in Enzyme medium for 15 minutes 37°C.

3.6.3 Confocal Microscopy

All confocal imaging and analysis was conducted in the Mitochondrial Biology Group, the department of Physiology, University College London in collaboration with Professor Michael Duchen. The 25 mm round cover-slip containing the seeded cardiomyocytes was placed in a custom-made chamber with 1 ml of enzyme solution and mounted on the stage of a Zeiss 510 CLSM confocal microscope equipped with x40 oil immersion, guartz objective lens (NA 1.3). For measuring tetramethylrhodamine methyl ester (TMRM) fluorescence, the cells were illuminated using the 543 nm emission line of a henna laser. The fluorescence of TMRM was collected using a 585 nm long pass filter. For photosensitization experiments, all conditions of the confocal imaging system (laser power, confocal pinhole, optical slice and detector sensitivity) were identical to ensure comparability between experiments. Images were analysed using the Zeiss software (LSM 2.8) and also using Lucida (Kinetic Imaging, Wirral) to measure changes in mean and SD of the signals with time.



Figure 3-4: Confocal Microscope with Camera Attached

3.7 Statistical Analyses

All results are presented as group means \pm standard error of the mean (SEM). For comparison between more than two groups, factorial one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was employed. For analysing data recorded over a period of time, ANOVA for repeated measures was employed. Results were considered significant when P<0.05. All statistical analysis was carried out on a Power Macintosh computer, using Statview statistical software (Version 4.5, Abacus Concepts Inc.).

Chapter Four

THE MITOCHONDRIAL PERMEABILITY TRANSITION PORE:

A POTENTIAL TARGET FOR PROTECTING HUMAN MYOCARDIUM FROM LETHAL REPERFUSION INJURY AND IMPROVING FUNCTIONAL RECOVERY

(Trabeculae model)

4.1	Introd	uction	71	
4.3	Hypot	hesis	72	
	Openi. death	ng of the MPTP at the time of reperfusion is a critical determinant of cell and inhibiting its opening is target for cardioprotection in the human heart.	,	
4.3	Aim		73	
	To dei onset atrial c	To determine whether pharmacologically inhibiting MPTP opening at the onset of myocardial reoxygenation improves the survival of human atrial cardiomyocytes subjected to a period of sustained simulated ischemia.		
	4.3.1	Materials	73	
	4.3.2	Isolated Human right Atrial Trabeculae model	74	
	4.3.3	Experimental protocols	74	
4.4	Resul	Results		
	4.4.1	Exclusions	75	
	4.4.2	Experimental Data and Results	76	
4.5	Discu	ssion	79	
4.6	Concl	Conclusion		

4.1 Introduction

In section 1.5.5, the role of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore (MPTP) during ischemia-reperfusion injury was reviewed. Opening of the MPTP in the first few minutes of reperfusion, following an episode of lethal ischemia is a critical determinant of cell death in ischemia-reperfusion. The conditions that prevail during the first few minutes of reperfusion mediate the opening of the MPTP. These conditions which include a high mitochondrial [Ca²⁺] and [P_i], ATP depletion, oxidative stress, correction of the acidic pH, are known inducing factors for MPTP opening^{7,91-93}. Halestrap's group in 1995, demonstrated that the MPTP was kept firmly closed in the heart under normal physiological conditions but opened upon reperfusion following a period of ischemia¹⁴³. Di Lisa's group²⁰³ demonstrated the same finding using the CsA-sensitive loss of mitochondrial NAD⁺, that occurred during the first few minutes of reperfusion to indicate MPTP opening. Marban's group demonstrated a CsA-sensitive increase in mitochondrial Ca²⁺ (indicating MPTP opening), occurring at the time of reoxygenation, in cardiomyocytes exposed to a sustained period of simulated ischemia.

Opening of the MPTP results in both apoptotic and necrotic cell death^{12,166,209} and the inhibition of its opening during ischemia-reperfusion injury has been demonstrated to confer protection in various experimental models. The importance of the MPTP in the necrotic death using MPTP inhibitors such as cyclosporin A and sanglifehrin A have been demonstrated in the heart, brain and liver^{130,139,202,214}. Even if MPTP opening is insufficient to deplete ATP levels and cause necrosis, apoptosis may result^{12,166,273}. Inhibiting MMP using MPTP inhibitors such as CsA or bongkrekic acid have been demonstrated to inhibit apoptotic cell death^{223,274,275}.

Studies in the isolated perfused rat heart have demonstrated that inhibiting MPTP opening using CsA restored the ATP/ADP ratio and AMP to pre-ischemic levels and improved the recovery of LV function following a prolonged length of ischemia^{68,130,229}. Being a phosphatase, calcineurin acts to dephosphorylate BAD, thereby enhancing apoptosis. Therefore, by inhibiting calcineurin, CsA may mediate cardio-protection via this anti-apoptotic mechanism rather than inhibiting MPTP opening.

Selvaraj Shanmuganathan Chapter 4: Trabeculae functional recovery model

Recently, the novel immunosuppressant, sanglifehrin-A (SfA), has been shown, to also act as a potent inhibitor of MPTP opening^{68,139,143,229,233,234}. Studies have examined the effect of inhibiting MPTP opening using CsA or SfA at the crucial time of reperfusion alone, when the MPTP has been demonstrated to open^{68,139,143,229,233,234}. All these studies were carried out in various animal and cellular models.

The method of superfusing isolated specimens of cardiac muscle is well recognised and there are published studies to support this technique in human ventricle obtained from explants, where the sample diameter was 1-2 mm^{258,259}.

The atrial trabeculae model has been well established and shown to work in our laboratory²⁶⁰⁻²⁶². The hypoxic preconditioning protocol has also been previous demonstrated in this atrial trabeculae model to improve the recovery of myocardial contractile function¹⁸. The concentrations of CsA and SfA have been demonstrated to inhibit MPTP opening in the isolated perfused rat heart^{68,130,139,229}.

However, to our knowledge there has been no study so far which has examined the effect of inhibiting MPTP opening using CsA and SfA at the time of reperfusion in the human atrial trabeculae model. Therefore the aim of this study was to determine whether pharmacologically inhibiting MPTP opening *at the time of reperfusion*, by using the above known MPTP inhibitors, protects the human heart against lethal reperfusion injury, using functional recovery of the atrial trabeculae as the measured end-point, in a setting of ischemia-reperfusion injury.

4.4 Hypothesis

Opening of the MPTP at the time of reperfusion is a critical determinant of cell death and inhibiting its opening is target for cardioprotection in the human heart.

In this study we set out to examine the role of the MPTP in mediating the cell death and in turn affecting its functional recovery, induced by lethal reperfusion injury in a human atrial trabeculae model. We used cyclosporin-A^{68,127,229} to inhibit the MPTP opening that has been demonstrated to occur in the first few minutes of reperfusion. As cyclosporine-A can also
inhibit calcineurin, which may be protective by a different mechanism, it was important to use a different known inhibitor of MPTP opening that does not inhibit calcineurin. Therefore, we also investigated the effect of the newly described MPTP inhibitor, sanglifehrin-A, which does not inhibit calcineurin^{139,143,233,234}. We administered these agents **only at the time** of reperfusion in order to demonstrate that the opening of the MPTP is an important mediator of lethal reperfusion injury, which in turn would affect the functional recovery. We used samples from the right atrium of humans undergoing cardio-pulmonary bypass, in a setting of ischemia-reperfusion / hypoxia-reoxygenation model to demonstrate the effect of known pharmacological inhibitors on MPTP opening at the time of reperfusion.

4.3 Aim

To determine whether pharmacologically inhibiting MPTP opening at the onset of myocardial reperfusion improves recovery in contractile function in human atrial muscle following a period of sustained simulated ischemia.

4.3.1 Materials

- Cyclosporin-A: (Sigma Chemicals, Poole, Dorset) was dissolved in 50% ethanol and added to the modified Tyrode's buffer such that the final ethanol concentration was less than 0.005%.
- Sanglifehrin-A: (Novartis Pharma AG, Basel) was dissolved in dimethyl sulphoxide (DMSO, Sigma Chemicals, Poole, Dorset) and added to the modified Tyrode's buffer such that the final DMSO concentration was 0.01%. All other reagents were of standard analytical grade.
- Modified Tyrode's solution: The modified Tyrode's solution contains (in mM): NaCl 118.5, KCl 4.8, NaHCO₃ 24.8, KH₂PO₄ 1.2, MgSO₄.7H₂O 1.44, CaCl₂.2H₂O 1.8, glucose 10.0 and pyruvic acid 10.0. In the substrate free modified Tyrode's solution, choline chloride 7mM was substituted for glucose and pyruvic acid to maintain constant osmolarity. All reagents were Analar grade (BDH Chemicals, Poole, England) except for pyruvic acid (Sigma Chemicals, Poole, England).

4.3.2 Isolated Human right Atrial Trabeculae model

The human right atrial samples were taken from patients undergoing routine bypass operations and the trabeculae isolated from them were mounted on a perfused bath apparatus and subjected to 90 minutes of simulated ischemia (hypoxia) followed by 120 minutes of reperfusion (reoxygenation) (see section 3.3.1). At the end of the reperfusion period, the baseline functional recovery was determined (see section 3.3.4 and 3.3.5).

4.3.3 Experimental protocols

All the trabeculae were suspended in the organ bath and paced at 1 Hz, unstretched, for 30 minutes. The trabeculae were then gradually stretched in a stepwise manner over a period of 15 minutes duration until resting tension was set at the length that produced the maximum degree of force of contraction. Once this maximum developed force is achieved the trabeculae were allowed to stabilise fore 45 minutes (stabilisation phase). All the groups eventually underwent a period of simulated ischemia (SI) and reperfusion which consisted of 90 minutes of hypoxia, when the trabeculae were superfused with the hypoxic substrate free modified Tyrode's solution and rapid pacing at 3 Hz, followed by reperfusion for 120 minutes with oxygenated modified Tyrode's solution at 1 Hz. Each trabecula was used for one protocol only and they were randomly assigned to the different groups studied.

The experiment protocols for the functional recovery of the trabeculae studies are presented in Figure 4.1. The trabeculae were randomly assigned to one of the following treatment groups:

- Control Group: trabeculae were perfused with the vehicles 0.005% ethanol (n=3), or
 0.01% DMSO (n=3) or Modified Tyrode's buffer alone (n=6) *during* the first 30 minutes of reperfusion following the simulated period of ischemia.
- (2) Ischemic Preconditioning Group (IPC): trabeculae (n=6) were subjected to the preconditioning protocol which consisted of 3 minutes of hypoxic substrate free superfusion of modified Tyrode's buffer with rapid pacing at 3 Hz followed by 7 minutes of reperfusion with oxygenated modified Tyrode's with 1 Hz pacing.

Subsequently these trabeculae were subjected to the simulated ischemia and reperfusion protocol. This group that includes solvents group (Ethanol / DMSO) was used as a positive control for the further experiments.

- (3) CsA-treatment: trabeculae (n=6) were perfused with cyclosporin-A (0.2 μmol/l) during the first 15 minutes of reperfusion. This concentration of CsA has been demonstrated to provided the most potent inhibition of MPTP opening in adult rat myocytes¹³⁰.
- (4) SfA-treatment: trabeculae (n=6) were perfused with sanglifehrin-A (1.0 μmol/l) during the first 15 minutes of reperfusion. This concentration of SfA has been demonstrated to give the most potent inhibition of MPTP opening¹³⁹.



ntal Protocols for Investigating the Effect of Inhibiting MPTP Opening on Functional Recovery of Human Right Atrial Trabeculae. CsAcyclosporin-A, SfA-sanglifehrin-A. (Time control includes solvent group).

4.4 Results

4.4.1 Exclusions

Samples were obtained from 31 patients with stable ischemic heart disease (24 men and 7 women; age range 48-76; mean age 67 years). If two or three suitable trabeculae could be isolated from a single atrial appendage then each atrial trabeculae was allocated to one of

three experiment groups (three sets of apparatus were used simultaneously). 10 atrial trabeculae were excluded because of poor baseline contractile function.

4.4.2 Experimental Data and Results

Baseline characters such as the cross sectional area and length and weight (mass) of the trabeculae were similar in all the experimental groups (see table 4.1).

The percentage contraction of the trabeculae from their baseline at regular time intervals throughout the simulated hypoxia and reoxygenation is shown in the tables (see tables 4.2, 4.3) (Figure 4.2). The percentage contractile function were quite similar in all the groups at the end of the simulated ischemia (see table 4.2). During the reoxygenation period the recovery of the trabeculae in the IPC and in the drug groups were significantly (*P*<0.001) higher compared to the control group, even from the very beginning of the reoxygenation period of 15 minutes (see table 4.3). This recovery in the force of contraction of the trabeculae was maintained throughout the reoxygenation period up until 120 minutes in the IPC and drug groups (figure 4.2). Figure 4.3 shows the functional recovery of the human atrial trabeculae at the end of the experiment (30 minutes of hypoxia and 120 minutes of reperfusion). The functional recovery of the trabeculae in the IPC (48.7±4.3) and the drug groups (CsA = 48.7 ± 2.2 and SfA = 46.4 ± 2.2) (see table 4.3) were significantly (*P<0.001) higher than the control group (29.4±1.9).

Groups	Length (mm)	Mass (mg)	Area (mm²)	Developed force (g)
1. Control	4.2±0.5	0.9±0.0	0.6±0.1	1.4±0.2
2. IPC	3.7±0.2	0.8±0.1	0.6±0.1	1.2±0.2
3. CsA	3.3±0.3	0.9±0.1	0.5±0.1	1.5±0.2
4. SfA	3.4±0.3	0.8±0.0	0.5±0.0	1.4±0.1

Values are mean ± SEM.

Table 4.1: Physical Characteristics of Human Atrial Trabeculae in Study Groups

Hypoxia (minutes)	Control	IPC	CsA	SfA
30 min	12.2±2.5	11.9±3.1	9.6±2.2	7.5±1.6
60 min	9.1±3.4	6.8±0.9	7.9±2.1	5.2±1.3
90 min	3.7±0.7	4.4±0.6	4.5±1.3	4.7±1.4

Values are mean ± SEM.

Table 4.2:Haemodynamic Data of Human Atrial Trabeculae in Study Groups
during Ischemia (% of baseline contraction)

REOXYGENATION (minutes)	Control	IPC	CsA	SfA
15 min	17.9±3.6	32.4±7.2*	40.2±8.6*	34.4±9.2*
30 min	17.6±3.8	38.6±6.8*	35.9±6.6*	35.9±4.0*
45 min	22.5±3.6	46.7±7.6*	40.1±4.5*	38.5±4.3*
60 min	30.3±2.7	50.9±7.3*	44.6±3.5*	42.2±4.1*
75 min	24.6±2.3	51.6±6.6*	46.3±3.2*	43.6±4.1*
90 min	28.8±2.6	50.2±5.6*	47.5±3.0*	42.9±3.4*
105 min	29.9±2.4	50.2±4.9*	47.5±2.7*	44.3±3.0*
120 min	29.4±1.9	48.7±4.3*	48.7±2.2*	46.4±2.2*

Values are mean \pm SEM.

Table 4.3:Contractile functional recovery of Human Atrial Trabeculae in Study
Groups during Reperfusion / Reoxygenation (% of baseline contraction)



Figure 4.2: Inhibiting MPTP opening at the time of reperfusion improves the functional recovery of the human right atrial trabeculae and protects against lethal reperfusion injury. The functional recovery of the trabeculae in the IPC, CSA and SFA groups

The functional recovery of the trabeculae in the IPC, CSA and SFA groups showed significant functional recovery compared to the control group from the very beginning of the reoxygenation period and was maintained throughout. *P<0.001.





4.5 Discussion

In this part of the study we demonstrated that pharmacologically inhibiting MPTP opening for the first 30 minutes of reperfusion, following a lethal period of ischemia, using either cyclosporin-A (CsA) or sanglifehrin-A (SfA), protected the heart against lethal reperfusion injury, as evidenced by a increase in the recovery of the percentage contraction of the trabeculae from their baseline function. This is evident from the early recovery of the myocardial function even at 15 minutes of the beginning of the reperfusion period. The IPC group was used a positive control to show the effect of inhibition of MPTP with CsA and SfA. Importantly, the known MPTP inhibitors were only given at the time of reperfusion, to target the time period when MPTP opening has been demonstrated to occur^{12,143,166,170}. Our experiments have shown that the opening of MPTP occurs during reperfusion and that by inhibiting their opening we could prevent the lethal effects of reperfusion injury and hence MPTP is a target for cardioprotection in human heart.

The improvement in the functional recovery induced by CsA at reperfusion was not due to its effect on calcineurin but was most likely due to its suppression of MPTP opening. In support of this, we also demonstrated protection against lethal reperfusion injury using sanglifehrin-A, which does not inhibit calcineurin¹⁴³. Therefore, providing these agents were administered in a timely manner, we were able to inhibit MPTP opening despite the presence of the MPTP-inducing factors that prevail in the first few minutes of reperfusion.

4.6 Conclusion

In conclusion, we have demonstrated that pharmacologically inhibiting MPTP opening during early reperfusion protects the human heart against lethal reperfusion injury and improve its functional recovery. From the results of this part of the study, it appears that the opening of the MPTP at the time of reperfusion mediates lethal reperfusion injury. We used the known pharmacological MPTP inhibitors (CsA and SfA) with known concentrations that were proven to inhibit MPTP in various animal studies^{68,130,139,202,214,229}. The early reperfusion therefore represent a 'window of opportunity' for interventions directed to attenuating lethal reperfusion injury, via inhibition of MPTP opening.

Chapter Five

THE MITOCHONDRIAL PERMEABILITY TRANSITION PORE:

A POTENTIAL TARGET FOR PROTECTING HUMAN MYOCARDIUM FROM LETHAL REPERFUSION INJURY AND IMPROVING CELLULAR VIABILITY

(Cardiomyocyte model)

5.1	Introdu	iction	81		
5.2	Hypothesis				
	Openin death a	ng of the MPTP at the time of reperfusion is a critical determinant of cell and inhibiting its opening is target for cardioprotection in the human heart			
5.3	Aim		82		
	To determine whether pharmacologically inhibiting MPTP opening at the onset of myocardial reoxygenation improves the survival of human atrial cardiomyocytes subjected to a period of sustained simulated ischemia.				
	5.3.1	Materials	82		
	5.3.2	Isolated Human right Atrial cardiomyocyte model			
		5.3.2a Hypoxic Preconditioning Protocol5.3.2b Establishing the model of human atrial cell viability using hypoxic chamber	83 83		
	5.3.3	Experimental Protocols	85		
5.4	Results	S	86		
	5.4.1	Exclusions	86		
	5.4.2	Experimental Data and Results	87		
5.5	Discus	sion	90		
5.6	Conclusion				

5.1 Introduction

Next we go on to show the effect, of inhibiting the mitochondrial permeability transition pore at reperfusion using the above known inhibitor Cyclosporin-A (CsA), on the viability of the human atrial cardiomyocytes after subjecting them to a period of SIRI.

Opening of the MPTP in the first few minutes of reperfusion, following an episode of lethal ischemia is a critical determinant of cell death in ischemia-reperfusion. Opening of the MPTP results in both apoptotic and necrotic cell death^{12,166,170,209} and hence affects the viability of cells. Inhibition of MPTP opening during ischemia-reperfusion injury has been demonstrated to confer protection in various experimental models^{130,139,202,214,223,274,275}. In myocytes subjected to lethal hypoxia-reoxygenation, the presence of CsA improved cell viabilit^{68,127,229}.

However, to our knowledge there has been no study so far to examine the effect of inhibiting MPTP opening using CsA at the time of reperfusion in human cardiomyocyte model.

Therefore the aim of this study was:

- (1) To determine whether pharmacologically inhibiting MPTP opening at the time of reperfusion, protects the human heart against lethal reperfusion injury, using cell viability as the measured end-point, in a setting of ischemia-reperfusion injury.
- (2) To characterise the model of ischemia / reperfusion in the human cardiomyocytes using hypoxic chamber to induce simulated ischemia / hypoxia simultaneously.

5.2 Hypothesis

Opening of the MPTP at the time of reperfusion is a critical determinant of cell death and inhibiting its opening is a target for cardioprotection in the human heart

In this study we set out to examine the role of the MPTP in mediating the cell death induced by lethal reperfusion injury in a human model. The aim of this study was also to characterise the model of ischemia / reperfusion (hypoxia / re-oxygenation) in the human cardiomyocyte

Selvaraj Shanmuganathan Chapter 5: Cardiomyocyte Viability model

using the hypoxic chamber for simulating hypoxia / ischemia at the same time. We used cyclosporin-A (the archetypal MPTP inhibitor)¹⁴³ to inhibit the MPTP opening that has been demonstrated to occur in the first few minutes of reperfusion^{202,203}. Cyclosporine-A can also inhibit calcineurin, which may be protective by a different mechanism. We only tested Cyclosporin-A to inhibit MPTP at reperfusion in this experiment as we were trying to establish the model of ischemia / reperfusion in human cardiomyocytes using hypoxic chamber to induce simulated ischemia, at the same time as we were trying our above hypothesis. We administered CsA *only at the time* of reperfusion in order to demonstrate that the opening of the MPTP is an important mediator of lethal reperfusion injury. We used samples from the right atrium of humans undergoing cardio-pulmonary bypass, in a setting of ischemia-reperfusion / hypoxia-reoxygenation model to demonstrate the effect of known pharmacological inhibitor (CsA) on MPTP opening at the time of reperfusion. We used the human cardiomyocyte model to demonstrate that inhibiting the opening of MPTP at reperfusion can be cardio-protective and increase the percentage of cellular viability.

5.3 Aim

To determine whether pharmacologically inhibiting MPTP opening at the onset of myocardial reoxygenation improves the survival of human atrial cardiomyocytes subjected to a period of sustained simulated ischemia.

5.3.1 Materials

- Cyclosporin-A: (Sigma Chemicals, Poole, Dorset) were dissolved in 50% ethanol and added to the enzyme solution such that the final ethanol concentration was less than 0.005%. All other reagents were of standard analytical grade.
- Medium / Low-calcium (MC) solution: comprising (in mM): NaCl 120, KCl 5.4, MgSO₄
 5, pyruvate 5, glucose 20, taurine 20, HEPES 10 and Ca²⁺ 1-2 μM (pH 7.4).

- Enzyme Solution (mM): pH 7.4, Sodium Chloride (NaCl) 120, Potassium Chloride (KCl) 5.4, Magnesium Sulphate (MgSO₄) 5, Pyruvate 5, Glucose 20, Taurine 20, HEPES 10, Calcium Chloride (CaCl₂) 35 μM.
- Modified Esumi Buffer (mM): pH 6.5, Sodium Chloride (NaCl), 137, Pottasium Chloride (KCl), 12, Magnesium Chloride (MgCl₂) 0.49, Calcium Chloride (CaCl₂) 0.9, HEPES 4, Lactate 20
- 5. Sodium Dithionite (0.5 mM)

5.3.2 Isolated Human right Atrial cardiomyocyte model

The human right atrial samples were taken from patients undergoing bypass operations and the isolated cardiomyocytes (section 3.4 and 3.5) were then placed on 6 well plates and subjected to 20 minutes of simulated ischemia (hypoxia) followed by 50 minutes of reperfusion (reoxygenation) (see section 3.5). During the reperfusion period, at three different time points (10, 30 and 50 minutes of reperfusion), the percentages of viable cells were determined.

5.3.2a Hypoxic Preconditioning Protocol

Cells were incubated in a hypoxic ($PaO_2 < 3$ KPa) chamber (Heraeus, Kendro Laboratory Products, Germany) for 3 minutes at 37°C in anoxic buffer with an intervening 7 minutes reoxygenation prior to undergoing hypoxic reoxygenation protocol. The anoxic buffer is a modification of that described by Esumi and colleagues²⁷⁶. The cells were in the modified Esumi buffer during the reperfusion period of seven minutes before the ischemia / reperfusion protocol, as changing the buffer for the seven minute period of reperfusion would have an additional variable to the cells i.e. centrifuging the cells for two more times and this was avoided.

5.3.2b Establishing the model of human atrial cell viability using hypoxic chamber

After stabilising the human atrial cardiomyocytes in the enzyme solution for 50-60 minutes in the incubation chamber the cells were transferred to the six well plates for the experiments. The cell suspension in the enzyme solution (falcon tube) was divided into 2 ml solutions into

eppendorffs ((1) for the control, (2) for hypoxia and reperfusion alone, (3) for IPC group and (4) for hypoxia and CsA + reperfusion). These cells were centrifuged at 1000 rpm for 1-2 minutes and re-suspended into the appropriate solutions i.e.

- The control group: cells was re-suspended back in the enzyme solution into a well of the plates and transferred back to the incubator to be kept at 37°C.
- 2) Ischemic preconditioning group: the cells were re-suspended in the modified Esumi buffer and transferred into the six well plates and subjected to three minutes of hypoxia in the hypoxic chamber followed by seven minutes of reoxygenation (partial – as still in Esumi buffer) by exposing them to oxygenation in the incubator followed by hypoxic reoxygenation protocol.
- 3) Hypoxic group: the cells subjected for hypoxic protocols were re-suspended in the modified Esumi Buffer and transferred into the wells of the six well plates. This group consists of both the hypoxic group and the drug group as both were subjected for hypoxic protocol.

The plates for hypoxic protocol (both hypoxic group and drug group) were transferred to the hypoxic chamber along with sodium dithionite (separately in the hypoxic chamber). The hypoxic chamber was closed airtight and the temperature was maintained at 37°C. The air in the hypoxic chamber was evacuated using tubing connected to the cold-water tap (one way) for the first 5 minutes to produce a vacuum. For the next fifteen (15 minutes) minutes the hypoxic chamber was flushed with argon gas (BOC) to replace any oxygenated air left in the chamber and to maintain hypoxia (combined 20 minutes of hypoxia). The outlet for the argon gas from the hypoxic chamber was connected to an underwater seal to prevent air entering into the hypoxic chamber.

The ischemia was simulated by combination of (1) Modified Esumi Buffer, (2) Sodium Dithionate and (3) Hypoxia in the chamber. During this hypoxic period the control cells were counted for their baseline viability count under light microscope and the result was taken from the average of five fields from the single well by an independent observer.

At the end of the twenty minutes (of simulated ischemia the hypoxic chamber was opened and the drug Cyclosporin-A (CsA) was added to the cells that were subjected for the

drug protocol. The cells were then pippetted out into separate eppendorffs (hypoxic group and drug group) including the control and were centrifuged for 1-2 minutes at 1000 rpm. The cells from all the groups were re-suspended back in the enzyme solution (The cells in the drug group will get the drug CsA along with the enzyme solution) in separate wells of the 6 well plates, which were in turn incubated at 37°C (reoxygenation).

Next the percentage of viable cells was counted using a light microscope at three different time points of reperfusion, at 10, 30 and 50 minutes of the reperfusion period. The percentage of viable cells was taken as the average count of five fields for each well at any one-time point by an independent observer. The rod shaped cells were counted as the viable cells and the rounded ones as dead.

5.3.3 Experimental Protocols

The experiment protocols for the cellular viability of the atrial cardiomyocyte studies are presented in Figure 5.1.

The cells were assigned to one of the following treatment groups:

- (1) Control Group: cardiomyocytes were stabilised in the enzyme solution perfused with the vehicles 0.005% ethanol (n=4), or 0.01% DMSO (n=4) *during* the whole experiment of 70 minutes (equivalent of 20 minutes of simulated hypoxia and 50 minutes of total reperfusion) This group was used as positive control for the further experiments.
- (2) Hypoxic Group: cardiomyocytes (n=7) were subjected to simulated hypoxia for 20 minutes in the hypoxic chamber in the modified Esumi buffer along with sodium dithionate at 37°C followed by 50 minutes of total reoxygenation in the enzyme solution in the incubator. This group was used as a positive control for the further experiments.
- (3) Ischemic Preconditioning Group (IPC): cardiomyocytes (n=6) were subjected to the preconditioning protocol which consisted of 3 minutes of simulated hypoxia in the modified Esumi buffer followed by 7 minutes of reperfusion (oxygenated at 37°C in

the incubator but <u>still in the modified Esumi buffer</u>). Subsequently these cells were subjected to the simulated hypoxia and reoxygenation protocol.

(4) CsA-treatment: cardiomyocytes (n=6) were perfused with cyclosporin-A (0.2 μmol/l) during the entire period of reperfusion. This concentration of CsA has been demonstrated to inhibit MPTP opening in the isolated perfused rat heart.



Figure 5.1: Experimental Protocols for Investigating the Effect of pharmacologically Inhibiting MPTP Opening on Viability of Human Right Atrial Cardiomyocytes. CsA-cyclosporin-A.

5.4 Results

5.4.1 Exclusions

Samples were obtained from 29 patients with stable heart disease (20 men and 9 women; age range 48-76; mean age 67 years). When there were good yield of cells, it was possible to allocate the cells for the above four groups of experiments. 11 samples were excluded because of poor yield or no cells in the digest or dead cells (no live cells) at the beginning of the experiment.

5.4.2 Experimental Data and Results

The baseline percentage of viable cells from the time control ranged from 20% to 39% and the average was 28% (this was taken as 100% at baseline). The percentage of viable cells in the groups: hypoxic control, IPC and CsA were significantly lower compared to the time control all the way through the reperfusion period. The difference in the percentage of viable cells between the groups is evident from the beginning of reperfusion (Positive Control = 20.1±0.8, Hypoxic control = 11.1±0.9, IPC = 14.6±1.0 and CsA = 15.8±0.7) (see table 5.1). The percentage of live cells in the time control shows gradual decline from the baseline count to 50 minutes of reperfusion (from 20.1±0.8 to 14.2±1.4) (Figure 5.3). The percentages of viable cells were significantly higher in the time control compared to all other groups throughout the experiment. This can be explained by the cells in the other groups i.e. hypoxic, IPC and CsA groups undergoing stress during centrifuging (twice) and during simulated hypoxia / reoxygenation period. The viable cells in the groups IPC (12.3±1.1) and CsA (12.6±1.1) (see table 5.1) were significantly (P<0.03) higher in number compared to the viable cells in the hypoxic control (8.7±0.9) until 30 minutes of reperfusion Figure 5.2(a-b). At 50 minutes of reperfusion, though the cells in the groups IPC (8.8±0.6) and CsA (9.5±1.1) had more viable cells compared to their hypoxic counterpart (6.7±1.1) (see table 5.1), they were not statistically significant Figure 5.2c.

Groups	Number	10 min	30 min	50 min
1. Time Control	8	20.1±0.8**	16.9±1.1**	14.3±1.4**
2. Hypoxic control	7	11.1±0.9	8.7±0.9	6.7±1.1
3. IPC	6	14.7±1.0*	12.3±1.1*	8.8±0.6
4. CsA	6	15.8±0.7*	12.7±1.1*	9.5±1.1

Values are mean ± SEM.

Table 5.1:This table shows the average percentage of viable cells at 10, 30 and 50
minutes of reperfusion period. IPC – ischemic preconditioning; CsA –
Cyclosporin A.



Figure 5.2.a: Graph showing the % of viable cells at <u>10 minutes</u> of reperfusion. The % of viable cells in the IPC and CsA groups were statistically higher than their hypoxic control counterpart, *P<0.01; whereas the % of viable cells in the time control were statistically higher compared to the other groups, **P<0.002. IPC – ischemic preconditioning; CsA – Cyclosporin A.



*Figure 5.2.b: Graph showing the % of viable cells at <u>30 minutes</u> of reperfusion. The % of viable cells in the IPC and CsA groups were statistically higher than their hypoxic control counterpart, *P<0.03; whereas the % of viable cells in the time control were statistically higher compared to the other groups, **P<0.0001. IPC – ischemic preconditioning; CsA – Cyclosporin A.*



*Figure 5.2.c: Graph showing the % of viable cells at <u>50 minutes</u> of reperfusion. There was no statistical difference in the % of live cells between the hypoxic control, IPC and CsA groups. However the % of viable cells in the time control were statistically higher compared to the other groups, **P<0.0001. IPC – ischemic preconditioning; CsA – Cyclosporin A.*



Figure 5.3: This graph shows the % of viable cells at reperfusion between Time control, Hypoxic control, IPC and CsA groups. Pharmacologically inhibiting MPTP opening at reperfusion using cyclosporin-A (CsA) improved the % viability of the myocytes and so is cardioprotective. IPC – ischemic preconditioning; CsA – Cyclosporin A. *P<0.03.

5.4 Discussion

In this part of the study we demonstrated that pharmacologically inhibiting MPTP opening for the first 30 minutes of reperfusion, following a lethal period of hypoxia / ischemia, using cyclosporin-A (CsA), protected the heart against lethal reperfusion injury, as evidenced by an increase in the percentage of live cardiomyocytes. This is evident from the early recovery of the myocardial cell viability even at 10 minutes of the beginning of the reoxygenation / reperfusion period. The IPC group was used as a positive control to show the effect of inhibition of MPTP with CsA. Importantly, the known MPTP inhibitor were only given at the time of reoxygenation / reperfusion, to target the time period when MPTP opening has been demonstrated to occur^{12,166,170}. Our experiments have shown that the opening of MPTP occurs during reperfusion and that by inhibiting their opening we could prevent the lethal effects of reperfusion injury and hence MPTP is a target for cardioprotection in human heart.

The cells in the IPC group were left in the Esumi buffer during their reoxygenation period for seven minutes following the index hypoxia / ischemic period of three minutes to avoid an additional variable (centrifuging X 2) to this cell group from others. This might have possibly not provided full oxygenation to the cells during the index reoxygenation / reperfusion period of seven minutes. Yet the cells in the IPC group showed a significant percentage of viable cells (12.3±1.1) compared to the percentage of viable cells in the hypoxic group (8.7±0.9) at the end of 30 minutes of reperfusion period. This suggests that reoxygenation was possible for preconditioning the cells though they were in hypoxic buffer (Esumi) for three minutes.

Therefore, providing CsA was administered in a timely manner, we were able to inhibit MPTP opening despite the presence of the MPTP-inducing factors that prevail during reperfusion.

5.6 Conclusion

In conclusion, we have demonstrated that pharmacologically inhibiting MPTP opening during reperfusion protects the human heart against lethal reperfusion injury and improve its cellular viability. From the results of this part of the study, it appears that the opening of the MPTP at the time of reperfusion mediates lethal reperfusion injury leading to necrosis and apoptosis. We used the known pharmacological MPTP inhibitor CsA with known concentrations that were proven to inhibit MPTP in various animal studies^{68,130,139,202,214,229}. The first few minutes of reperfusion therefore represent a 'window of opportunity' for interventions directed to attenuating lethal reperfusion injury, via inhibition of MPTP opening.

Chapter Six

THE MITOCHONDRIAL PERMEABILITY TRANSITION PORE:

A POTENTIAL TARGET FOR PROTECTING HUMAN MYOCARDIUM FROM LETHAL REPERFUSION INJURY BY IMPROVING CELLULAR VIABILITY AND DECREASING NECROSIS

(Cardiomyocyte model)

6.2	Introd	uction		93		
6.2	Hypot	hesis		94		
	Openi. death	ng of the and inhib	MPTP at the time of reperfusion is a critical determinant of cell niting its opening is target for cardioprotection in the human heart	-		
6.3	Aim			94		
	To det of myc cardio subjec	ermine w ocardial re myocytes ted to a p	<i>whether pharmacologically inhibiting MPTP opening at the onset</i> eoxygenation improves the survival of human atrial s (also decreasing the necrosis and apoptosis) period of sustained simulated ischemia.			
	6.3.1	Materia	als	94		
	6.3.2	Isolated	d Human right Atrial Cardiomyocyte model	95		
		6.3.2a	Method of subjecting human atrial cardiomyocyte using hypoxic chamber for assessment of viability and percentage necrosis and apoptosis under fluorescent microscope	95		
	6.3.3	Experir	nental Protocols	98		
6.4	Resul	Results				
	6.4.1	Exclus	ions	99		
	6.4.2	Experii	mental Data and results	100		
6.5	Discu	ssion		102		
6.6	Conclusion			104		

6.1 Introduction

Next we go on to show the effect, of inhibiting the mitochondrial permeability transition pore at reperfusion using the known inhibitors, Cyclosporin-A (CsA) and sanglifehrin-A (SfA), on the percentage viability, apoptosis and necrosis of the human atrial cardiomyocytes after subjecting them to a period of lethal hypoxia / ischemia. We also aimed to quantify the percentage of apoptotic and necrotic cells simultaneously in the same experiments.

Opening of the MPTP in the first few minutes of reperfusion, following an episode of lethal ischemia is a critical determinant of cell death in ischemia-reperfusion. Opening of the MPTP results in both apoptotic and necrotic cell death^{12,166,170,209}, and the inhibition of its (MPTP) opening during ischemia-reperfusion injury has been demonstrated to confer protection in various experimental models^{68,130,139,202,214,223,229,274,275}. Although cyclosporin-A (CsA) is a potent inhibitor of MPTP opening, it also has other actions, which include inhibiting the activity of the protein phosphatase, calcineurin and therefore CsA may mediate cardio-protection via this anti-apoptotic mechanism. The novel immunosuppressant, sanglifehrin-A (SfA), has been shown, to also act as a potent inhibitor of MPTP opening than CsA, and in addition SfA does not inhibit calcineurin. Studies have examined the effect of inhibiting MPTP opening using CsA or SfA at the crucial time of reperfusion alone, when the MPTP has been demonstrated to open^{68,139,143,229,233,234}. All these studies were carried out in various animal and cellular models.

However, to our knowledge there has been no study so far have examined the effect of inhibiting MPTP opening using CsA and SfA at the time of reperfusion in human cardiomyocyte model. Therefore the aim of this study was to determine whether pharmacologically inhibiting MPTP opening *at the time of reperfusion*, protects the human heart against lethal reperfusion injury, using percentage cell viability, apoptosis and necrosis as the measured end-points in a setting of hypoxia- reoxygenation injury.

6.2 Hypothesis

Opening of the MPTP at the time of reperfusion is a critical determinant of cell death and inhibiting its opening is a target for cardioprotection in the human heart.

In this study we set out to examine the role of the MPTP in mediating the cell death induced by lethal reperfusion injury in a human model. We used cyclosporin-A and sanglifehrin-A (does not inhibit calcineurin) to inhibit the MPTP opening that has been demonstrated to occur in the first few minutes of reperfusion. We administered these agents **only at the time** of reperfusion in order to demonstrate that the opening of the MPTP is an important mediator of lethal reperfusion injury. We used samples from the right atrium of humans undergoing cardio-pulmonary bypass, in a setting of hypoxia-reoxygenation model to demonstrate the effect of known pharmacological inhibitors on MPTP opening at the time of reperfusion. We used the human cardiomyocyte model to demonstrate that inhibiting the opening of MPTP at reperfusion can be cardio-protective and increase the percentage of cellular viability and decrease the percentage of apoptotic and necrotic cells.

6.3 Aim

To determine whether pharmacologically inhibiting MPTP opening at the onset of myocardial reoxygenation improves the survival of human atrial cardiomyocytes (also decreasing the necrosis and apoptosis) subjected to a period of sustained simulated ischemia.

6.3.1 Materials

 Cyclosporin-A: (Sigma Chemicals, Poole, Dorset) were dissolved in 50% ethanol and added to the enzyme solution such that the final ethanol concentration was less than 0.005%. All other reagents were of standard analytical grade.

- 2) Sanglifehrin-A: (Novartis Pharma AG, Basel) was dissolved in dimethyl sulphoxide (DMSO, Sigma Chemicals, Poole, Dorset) and added to the modified Tyrode's buffer such that the final DMSO concentration was less than 0.01%. All other reagents were of standard analytical grade.
- Medium / Low-calcium (MC) solution: comprising (in mM): NaCl 120, KCl 5.4, MgSO₄
 5, pyruvate 5, glucose 20, taurine 20, HEPES 10 and Ca²⁺ 1-2 μM (pH 7.4).
- 4) Enzyme Solution (mM): pH 7.4, Sodium Chloride (NaCl) 120, Potassium Chloride (KCl) 5.4, Magnesium Sulphate (MgSO₄) 5, Pyruvate 5, Glucose 20, Taurine 20, HEPES 10, Calcium Chloride (CaCl₂) 35 μM.
- Modified Esumi Buffer (mM): pH 6.5, Sodium Chloride (NaCl), 137, Potassium Chloride (KCl), 12, Magnesium Chloride (MgCl₂) 0.49, Calcium Chloride (CaCl₂) 0.9, HEPES 4, Lactate 20
- 6) Sodium Dithionite 0.5 mM

6.3.2 Isolated Human right Atrial Cardiomyocyte model

The human right atrial samples were taken from patients undergoing bypass operations and the cardiomyocytes isolated from them were placed on 6 well plates and subjected to 20 minutes of simulated ischemia (hypoxia) followed by 30 minutes of reperfusion (reoxygenation) (section 3.4 and 3.5). At the end of the reperfusion period, the percentages of viable cells, apoptotic cells and necrotic cells were determined using fluorescent microscope (section 3.5).

6.3.2a Method of subjecting human atrial cardiomyocyte using hypoxic chamber for assessment of viability and percentage necrosis and apoptois under fluorescent microscope

After stabilising the human atrial cardiomyocytes in the enzyme solution for 50-60 minutes in the incubation chamber the cells were transferred to the six well plates for the experiments. The cell suspension in the enzyme solution was divided into 2 ml solutions into eppendorffs

[2ml each – (1) for the control, (2) for hypoxia and reperfusion alone, (3) for hypoxia and CsA + reperfusion and (4) for hypoxia and SfA + reperfusion]. These cells were centrifuged at 1000 rpm for 1-2 minutes and re-suspended in the appropriate solutions i.e.

- The control group: cells was re-suspended back in the enzyme solution into a well of the six well plates and transferred back to the incubator to be kept at 37°C.
- 2) Hypoxic group: the cells subjected for hypoxic protocols were re-suspended in the modified Esumi Buffer and transferred into the wells of the six well plates. This group consists of both the hypoxic group and the drug groups (CsA and SfA) as all of them were subjected for hypoxic protocol.

The cardiomyocytes in the plates were subjected to respective protocol as above - i.e. the control was re-suspended back into the enzyme solution in a well of the plates and put back in the incubator, and the cells subjected for hypoxic protocols were re-suspended into the modified Esumi Buffer and transferred into the wells of the six well plates. The plates for hypoxic protocol were transferred to the hypoxic chamber along with 0.5 mM of sodium dithionite (separately). The hypoxic chamber was closed airtight and the temperature was maintained at 37°C. The air in the hypoxic chamber was sucked out using tubing connected to the cold-water tap (one way) for the first 5 minutes to produce vacuum. For the next fifteen (15 minutes) minutes the hypoxic chamber was flushed with argon gas (BOC) to replace any oxygenated air left in the chamber and to maintain hypoxia (combined 20 minutes of hypoxia). The outlet for the argon gas from the hypoxic chamber was connected to an underwater seal to prevent air entering into the hypoxic chamber.

The ischemia / hypoxia was simulated by combination of (1) Modified Esumi Buffer, (2) Sodium Dithionate and (3) Hypoxia in the chamber. During this hypoxic period the control cells were counted for their baseline viability count under light microscope and the result is taken from the average of five fields from the single well by an independent observer.

At the end of the twenty minutes of simulated ischemia the hypoxic chamber was opened and the drugs Cyclosporin-A (CsA) and sanglefehrin (SfA) were added to the cells respectively that are subjected for the drug protocol. Now the cells were pippetted out into separate eppendorffs including the control and are centrifuged for 1-2 minutes at 1000 rpm. The cells from all the groups were re-suspended into the enzyme solution (The cells in the

drug groups will get the drug CsA and SfA along with the enzyme solution) in separate wells of the 6 well plates, which were in turn incubated at 37°C.

During the reperfusion period cardiomyocytes were subjected to Annexin-V (A-V) and Propidium lodide (PI) and were worked under darkness to prevent photosensitisation as follows^{265,266}. At the end of 20 minutes of reperfusion, 200ul of Annexin-V (A-V) was added to the cardiomyocytes in the wells and reincubated. Similarly at the end of 30 minutes of reperfusion 1ml of Propidium lodide (PI) was added to the myocytes just before the cardiomyocytes were subjected for counting under fluorescent microscope. The percentages of viable cells, necrotic cells and apoptotic cells were counted under the fluorescent microscope at the end of 30 minutes of the reperfusion period. The percentages of viable cells and apoptotic cells were taken as the average count of three fields from each well by an independent person.

The cells were accounted as follow (Figure 6.1):

- Live cells = rod shaped cells and no yellow stained nucleus.
- Necrotic cells = cells with yellow stained nucleus.
- Apoptotic cells = round cells and no yellow stained nucleus.



Figure 6.1 Eample of picture showing Cardiomyocytes under fluorescent microscope after staining with Annexin-V and Propidium Iodide. A – Live cells (rod shaped); B – Necrotic cells (round cells with yellow stained nucleus) and C – Apoptotic cells (round cells with no stained nucleus).

6.3.3 Experimental Protocols

The experiment protocols for the cellular viability of the atrial cardiomyocyte studies are presented in Figure 6.1. The cells were assigned to one of the following treatment groups:

- (1) Control Group: cardiomyocytes (n=6) were stabilised in the enzyme solution during the entire experiment of 70 minutes (equivalent of 20 minutes of simulated hypoxia and thirty minutes of reperfusion) This group was used as a positive (positive) control for the further experiments.
- (2) Hypoxic Group: cardiomyocytes (n=6) were subjected to simulated ischemia for 20 minutes in the hypoxic chamber in the modified Esumi buffer along with sodium dithionate at 37°C followed by 30 minutes of reperfusion in the enzyme solution in the incubator.
- (3) CsA-treatment: cardiomyocytes (n=6) were subjected to simulated ischemia for 20 minutes followed by reperfusion with cyclosporin-A (0.2 μmol/l) in the enzyme solution during the *entire* period of reperfusion (30 minutes).
- (4) SfA-treatment: cardiomyocytes (n=6) were subjected to simulated ischemia for 20 minutes followed by reperfusion with sanglifehrin-A (1.0 μmol/l) in the enzyme solution during the *entire* period of reperfusion (30 minutes).
- (5) DMSO Group: cardiomyocytes (n=3) were subjected to simulated ischemia for 20 minutes followed by reperfusion with DMSO in the enzyme solution *during* the entire experiment of reperfusion (30 minutes). This group was used as a positive control for the drug group SfA.
- (6) 50% Ethanol Group: cardiomyocytes (n=3) were subjected to simulated ischemia for 20 minutes followed by reperfusion with 50% ethanol in the enzyme solution *during* the entire period of reperfusion (30 minutes). This group was also used as a positive control for the drug group CsA.



Figure 6.2: Experimental Protocols for Investigating the Effect of CsA and SfA Inhibiting MPTP Opening on Viability of Human Right Atrial Cardiomyocytes. CsA – Cyclosporin A; SfA – Sanglifehrin A; DMSO - dimethyl sulphoxide. (Time control includes solvent group).

6.4 Results

6.4.1 Exclusions

Samples were obtained from 36 patients with stable heart disease (27 men and 9 women; age range 51-78; mean age 67 years). When there were good yield of cells, it was able to allocate the cells for the above four-six groups of experiments. 14 samples were excluded because of poor / no cells in the digest or dead cells (no live cells) at the beginning of the experiment.

6.4.2 Experimental Data and results

The baseline percentage of viable cells from the time control ranged from 22% to 39% and the average was 29%. The percentage of viable cells in the groups: CsA (15.8 ± 0.7) and SfA (15.0 ± 1.1) were significantly higher (P<0.001) compared to the hypoxic control (10.8 ± 0.9) as well as their vehicle controls i.e. DMSO (9.3 ± 0.9) and 50% Ethanol (9.0 ± 1.2), (Figure 5.2a). The percentage of viable cells in the time control (16.3 ± 1.2) was also significantly higher than the hypoxic and vehicle control groups (Figure 5.2a).

The percentage of necrotic cells in the drug groups CsA (48.5 ± 1.6) and SfA (47.6 ± 1.2) were significantly lower (P<0.04) than the hypoxic group (54.8 ± 1.0) and also significantly lower than their vehicle control groups i.e. DMSO (54.0 ± 0.6) and 50% Ethanol (56.3 ± 1.2), (Figure 5.2c).

Interestingly our experiment failed to show any statistical significant difference in the percentage of apoptotic cells among all the groups (Figure 5.2b).

Groups	Number	% Live cells	% Apoptotic cells	% Necrotic cells
1. Time Control	6	16.3±1.2 [#]	37.3±3.4	46.5±4.0
2. Hypoxic control	6	10.8±0.9	34.2±1.0	54.8±1.0
3. CsA	6	15.8±0.7*	36.2±1.6	48.5±1.6*
4. SfA	6	15.0±1.1*	37.5±1.8	47.7±1.2*
5. DMSO	3	9.3±0.9	37.0±0.6	54.0±0.6
6. 50% Ethanol	3	9.0±1.2**	34.7±0.33	56.3±1.2**

Values are mean ± SEM.

Table 6.1:This table shows the percentage of Viable, Apoptotic and Necrotic cells
at 30 minutes of reperfusion period.CsA – Cyclosporin A; SfA –
Sanglifehrin A; DMSO - dimethyl sulphoxide.







Figure 6.3.b: This graph shows the % of apoptotic cells at 30 minutes of reperfusion. The % of apoptotic cells in all the groups were not statistically significant compared to each other, though there appears to be less apoptotic cells in the hypoxic and ethanol groups. CsA – Cyclosporin A; SfA - Sanglifehrin A; DMSO - dimethyl sulphoxide.



Figure 6.3.c: This graph shows the % of necrotic cells at 30 minutes of reperfusion. The % of necrotic cells in the CsA and SfA groups were statistically lower than their hypoxic control counterpart as well as the ethanol vehicle group, *P<0.04; The % of necrotic cells in the 50% ethanol vehicle group were statistically higher than their time control counterpart, **P<0.01. CsA – Cyclosporin A; SfA - Sanglifehrin A; DMSO - dimethyl sulphoxide.

6.5 Discussion

In this part of the study we demonstrated that pharmacologically inhibiting MPTP opening for the first 30 minutes of reperfusion, following a lethal period of ischemia, using either cyclosporin-A (CsA) or sanglifehrin-A (SfA), protected the heart against lethal reperfusion injury, as evidenced by an increase in the recovery of the percentage live cells and a decrease in the percentage of necrotic cells. Importantly, the known MPTP inhibitors were only given at the time of reperfusion, to target the time period when MPTP opening has been demonstrated to occur^{12,143,166,170}. Our experiments have shown that the opening of MPTP occurs during reperfusion and that by inhibiting its opening we could prevent the lethal effects of reperfusion injury and hence the MPTP is a target for cardioprotection in the human heart.

The improvement in the percentage of live cells and decrease in the percentage of necrotic cells, induced by CsA at reperfusion was not due to its effect on calcineurin but was most likely due to its suppression of MPTP opening. In support of this, we also demonstrated protection against lethal reperfusion injury using sanglifehrin-A, which does not inhibit calcineurin^{139,143}. Studies have demonstrated that the pharmacological inhibition of the apoptotic signalling cascade during the reperfusion phase is able to attenuate both the apoptotic and necrotic components of cell death^{53,219,277}. Our study was able to show attenuation of the necrotic component of the human cardiac cardiomyocytes.

The apoptotic component of cell death is believed to contribute to the extension of myocardial infarct size during reperfusion. Zhao and colleagues, demonstrated that pharmacologically inhibiting the reperfusion-induced apoptotic component of cell death resulted in improved contractile function of ischemic canine hearts⁵³. Inhibiting MMP using MPTP inhibitors such as cyclosporine-A or bongkrekic acid have been demonstrated to inhibit apoptotic cell death^{223,274,275}, suggesting that MPTP opening is an obligatory mediator of apoptosis. However, recent data in CyP-D deficient mice suggests that the CypD-regulated MPTP may not be crucial for apoptotic cell death^{195,278}. Although in the chapter four we managed to show statistical significance in the recovery of percentage contractile force of the human atrial trabeculae and show statistically significant improvement in the percentage of live cells (in chapter 5 and 6), our study did not show any statistically significant difference in the percentage of apoptotic cells among all the groups. Yet there seems to be a slightly increased percentage of apoptotic cells in the drug group (Figure 5.2b).

Therefore, providing these agents were administered in a timely manner, we were able to inhibit MPTP opening despite the presence of the MPTP-inducing factors that prevail during reperfusion.

6.6 Conclusion

In conclusion, we have demonstrated that pharmacologically inhibiting MPTP opening during reperfusion protects the heart against lethal reperfusion injury as evident by increase in the percentage of viable cells and decrease in percentage of necrotic cells. From the results of this part of the study, it appears that the opening of the MPTP at the time of reperfusion mediates lethal reperfusion injury. The early period of reperfusion therefore represent a 'window of opportunity' for interventions directed to attenuating lethal reperfusion injury, via inhibition of MPTP opening.

Chapter Seven

THE MITOCHONDRIAL PERMEABILITY TRANSITION PORE:

A POTENTIAL TARGET FOR PROTECTING HUMAN MYOCARDIUM FROM LETHAL REPERFUSION INJURY BY DELAYING OPENING OF THE MPTP IN HUMAN ATRIAL CARDIOMYOCYTES

7.1	Introd	uction	106			
7.2	Hypot	hesis	107			
	Openi detern humai	ng of the MPTP at the time of reperfusion / reoxygenation is a ninant of cell death and inhibiting its opening is target for cardioprotection n heart.	critical			
7.3	Aim		107			
	To dei subjec by kno	To demonstrate that MPTP opening occurs in human atrial cardiomyocytes subjected to oxidative stress, and that MPTP opening can be inhibited by known pharmacological MPTP inhibitors.				
	7.3.1	Materials	107			
	7.3.2	Isolated Human right Atrial cardiomyocyte model of MPTP opening	108			
	7.3.3	Experimental Protocols	109			
7.4	Resul	ts	110			
	7.4.1	Exclusions	110			
	7.4.2	Experimental Data and results	111			
7.5	Discussion		114			
7.6	conclusion		115			

7.1 Introduction

Next we go on to show that MPTP opening occurs in human cardiomyocytes and also the direct effect, of inhibiting the mitochondrial permeability transition pore using the known inhibitors, Cyclosporin-A (CsA) and sanglifehrin-A (SfA), against injury induced by oxidative stress. We aimed to quantify the time delay in opening of the MPTP induced by oxidative stress.

Opening of the MPTP in the first few minutes of reperfusion, following an episode of lethal ischemia is a critical determinant of cell death in ischemia-reperfusion. Opening of the MPTP results in both apoptotic and necrotic cell death, and the inhibition of its (MPTP) opening during ischemia-reperfusion injury has been demonstrated to confer protection in various experimental models^{68,139,143,229,233,234}. Although cyclosporin-A (CsA) is a potent inhibitor of MPTP opening, it also has other actions, which include inhibiting the activity of the protein phosphatase, calcineurin. The novel immunosuppressant, sanglifehrin-A (SfA), has been shown, to also act as a potent inhibitor of MPTP opening. This drug has been demonstrated to be a more potent inhibitor of MPTP opening than CsA, and in addition SfA does not inhibit calcineurin^{68,139,143,229,233,234}. All these studies were carried out in various animal and cellular models. Opening of the MPTP in adult rat myocytes was induced and detected using a well-characterised cellular model of oxidative stress^{201,267-270}.

However, to our knowledge there has been no study so far have examined the direct effect of inhibiting MPTP opening using known MPTP inhibitors CsA and SfA at the time of oxidative stress induced MPTP opening in human cardiomyocyte model. Therefore the aim of this study was to determine whether pharmacologically inhibiting MPTP opening can protect the human heart against lethal oxidative stress induced MPTP opening, using the percentage time delay of the opening of the MPTP as the measured end-point.

7.2 Hypothesis

Opening of the MPTP at the time of reoxygenation / reperfusion is a critical determinant of cell death and inhibiting its opening is target for cardioprotection in the human heart.

In this study we set out to demonstrate that MPTP opening does occur in human cardiomyocyte and also examine the role of the MPTP in mediating the cell death induced by lethal injury of oxidative stress in human cardiomyocyte model. We used cyclosporin-A and sanglifehrin-A to inhibit the MPTP opening that has been demonstrated to occur in the first few minutes of reoxygenation / reperfusion. We administered these agents *at the time* of opening of MPTP which is shown to occur at the time of reoxygenation / reperfusion in order to demonstrate that the opening of the MPTP is an important mediator of lethal reperfusion injury. We used samples from the right atrium of humans undergoing cardio-pulmonary bypass to demonstrate the effect of known pharmacological inhibitors on MPTP opening at the time of its opening. We used the human cardiomyocyte model to demonstrate the opening of MPTP and that inhibiting / delaying the opening of MPTP can be cardio-protective.

7.3 Aim

To demonstrate that MPTP opening occurs in human atrial cardiomyocytes subjected to oxidative stress, and that MPTP opening can be inhibited by known pharmacological MPTP inhibitors.

7.3.1 Materials

- Cyclosporin-A (Sigma Chemicals, Poole, Dorset) were dissolved in 50% ethanol and added to the enzyme solution such that the final ethanol concentration was less than 0.005%.
- Sanglifehrin-A (Novartis Pharma AG, Basel) was dissolved in dimethyl sulphoxide (DMSO, Sigma Chemicals, Poole, Dorset) and added to the enzyme solution such

that the final DMSO concentration was less than 0.01%. All other reagents were of standard analytical grade.

- Low calcium medium (mM): pH 6.96, Sodium Chloride (NaCl) 120, Potassium Chloride (KCl) 5.4, Magnesium Sulphate (MgSO4) 5, Pyruvate 5, Glucose 20, Taurine 20, HEPES 10, NTA 5, calcium 1-2 μM.
- Enzyme Solution (mM): pH 7.4, Sodium Chloride (NaCl) 120, Potassium Chloride (KCl) 5.4, Magnesium Sulphate (MgSO₄) 5, Pyruvate 5, Glucose 20, Taurine 20, HEPES 10, Calcium Chloride (CaCl₂) 35 μM.

7.3.2 Isolated Human right Atrial cardiomyocyte model of MPTP opening

Adult human atrial cardiomyocytes were isolated from according to the method in described in section 3.4. Isolated cardiomyocytes were seeded onto 25-mm round cover slips according to the method in described in section 3.6. Seeded cardiomyocytes, in enzyme solution, were incubated with the fluorescent dye, TMRM (3 μmol/l) for 15 minutes at 37°C, and visualised using confocal fluorescence microscopy, as described in section 3.6.

TMRM which is a lipophilic cation selectively accumulates into mitochondria according to the mitochondrial membrane potentia²⁷¹. Opening of the MPTP was induced and detected using a cellular model of oxidative stress. Laser-illumination, of this TMRM that has already accumulated within the mitochondria, photosensitises the TMRM, generating reactive oxygen species (ROS) from within the mitochondria²⁷², which induce opening of the MPTP. Opening of the MPTP permeates the inner mitochondrial membrane resulting in uncoupling of oxidative phosphorylation. This leads to subsequent collapse of the mitochondrial membrane potential^{267,279}. Oxidative stress generated on reperfusing ischemic myocardium also involves the excess production of ROS from within the mitochondria, and this model therefore simulates the events associated with lethal reperfusion injury. This model represents a widely reported and reliable way to reproducibly induce the loss of mitochondrial membrane potential, which has been unequivocally identified as MPTP opening^{180,267,268,270,279}.

The relatively high concentration of TMRM in the mitochondria causes autoquenching of fluorescence and the fluorescence signal becomes a non-linear function of dye
concentration. The mitochondrial membrane depolarisation results in the loss of dye into the cytosol where the signal increases²⁷². Laser-induced oxidative stress was applied until MPTP opening had been induced (indicated by collapse of the mitochondrial potential) and the duration of time taken to induce MPTP opening was measured (corresponding to the ROS burden required to induce MPTP opening).

7.3.3 Experimental Protocols

After loading with TMRM in the enzyme solution, cells were randomly assigned to one of the following treatment groups. Cells in the drug groups were incubated for 15 minutes with the drug(s) at 37°C and were then subjected to the TMRM-oxidative stress protocol.

- Control Group: cardiomyocytes (n=11) were stabilised in the enzyme solution during the entire experiment.
- (2) CsA-treatment: cardiomyocytes (n=10) were perfused with cyclosporin-A (0.2 μmol/l) in the enzyme solution during the *entire* period of experiment along with TMRM.
- (3) SfA-treatment: cardiomyocytes (n=10) were perfused with sanglifehrin-A (1.0 μmol/l) in the enzyme solution during the *entire* period of experiment along with TMRM.
- (4) DMSO Group: cardiomyocytes (n=6) were perfused with DMSO in the enzyme solution during the entire experiment. This group was used as a positive control for the drug group SfA.
- (5) 50% Ethanol Group: cardiomyocytes (n=6) were perfused with 50% ethanol in the enzyme solution during the entire experiment. This group was also used as a positive control for the drug group CsA.



Figure 7.1: Experimental Protocols for Investigating the Effect of CsA and SfA on Direct Inhibition of MPTP Opening using oxidative stress model of TMRM. CsA – cyclosporin A; SfA – Sanglifehrin A; DMSO - dimethyl sulphoxide

7.4 Results

7.4.1 Exclusions

Samples were obtained from 35 patients with stable heart disease (28 men and 7 women; age range 49-74; mean age 62 years). When there were good yield of cells, it was able to allocate the cells for the above four-six groups of experiments. 4 samples were excluded because of poor / no cells in the digest or dead cells (no live cells) at the beginning of the experiment.

7.4.2 Experimental Data and results

The times taken to induce global mitochondrial membrane depolarisation were noted and in the control group, MPTP opening was routinely induced after (115.6 \pm 7.8) (see table 7.1) seconds of laser-induced oxidative stress (see figure 7.2). The times taken to induce global mitochondrial membrane depolarisation in the drug group CsA (189.1 \pm 10.2) and SfA (183.0 \pm 12.2) (see table 7.1) were significantly (P<0.0001) higher than the control group and their vehicle groups i.e. DMSO (109.8 \pm 8.4) and 50% Ethanol (99.8 \pm 5.2) (see table 7.1).

This observed global mitochondrial membrane depolarisation induced by laser induced oxidative stress actually represents opening of the MPTP and this was demonstrated by showing that it was sensitive to cyclosporin-A (CsA), the most reliable inhibitor of MPTP opening⁹⁶. CsA was shown to extend the time required to induce opening of the MPTP from 115.6±7.8 seconds to 189.1±10.2 seconds (P<0.0001, figures 7.2). However, as well as inhibiting MPTP opening, CsA inhibits the phosphatase, calcineurin.

To exclude the effect of CsA-induced inhibition of calcineurin, we tested with sanglifehrin- A^{139} . SfA also significantly prolonged the time taken to induce both MPTP opening to 183.0±12.2 (P<0.0001, figure 7.2). Furthermore, sanglifehrin-A was shown to be a similar potent inhibitor of MPTP opening as CsA in extending the time taken to induce MPTP opening.

Groups	Number	Time (seconds)
1. Control	11	115.6±7.8
2. CsA	10	189.1±10.2*
3. SfA	10	183.0±12.2*
4. DMSO	6	109.8±8.4
5. 50% Ethanol	6	99.8±5.2

Values are mean ± SEM.

Table 7.1:This table shows the time taken to induce MPTP opening (seconds) by
laser induced oxidative stress.CSA – Cyclosporin A; SfA – Sanglifehrin A;
DMSO - dimethyl sulphoxide.



Figure 7.2: This graph shows the time taken for MPTP opening indicated by the membrane depolarisation due to oxidative stress induced by TMRM. The time taken for MPTP opening of the cells in the CsA and SfA groups were statistically higher than their control counterpart (including groups DMSO and 50% Ethanol), *P<0.0001. CsA – Cyclosporin A; SfA - Sanglifehrin A; DMSO - dimethyl sulphoxide.

Selvaraj Shanmuganathan Chapter 7: Oxidative stress model







Figure 7.3: Confocal Images of TMRM-loaded Human Atrial Cardiomyocytes. Confocal fluorescent images are from time sequences in which two cardiomyocytes were subjected to laser-induced oxidative stress. They demonstrate the typical changes in mitochondrial membrane potential that occur in response to oxidative stress: (a) Beginning of oxidative stress. (b) Cardiomyocyte with partially depolarised membrane (localised areas devoid of TMRM fluorescence). (d) Cardiomyocyte with global mitochondrial depolarisation (as MPTP opening has taken place in most of the mitochondria).

7.5 Discussion

This technique has been used in a number of different laboratories and represents a reproducible technique for inducing and detecting MPTP opening in the intact cell^{148,267-270,279,280}. We used an established model for both inducing and detecting MPTP opening in the intact human cardiomyocyte. Laser-illumination of TMRM generates oxidative stress from within mitochondria, inducing MPTP opening and is detected by global mitochondrial membrane depolarisation. Following the induction of MPTP opening continued oxidative stress results in ATP depletion.

The laser-induced collapse in mitochondrial membrane potential (detected by increased TMRM fluorescence) was demonstrated to be sensitive to the potent MPTP inhibitor, cyclosporine-A (CsA)¹²⁵. We also demonstrated that the observed mitochondrial membrane depolarisation was sensitive to sanglifehrin-A^{68,229,233,234}.

In the current model to investigate MPTP opening, oxidative stress by laser illumination was continued until global mitochondrial membrane depolarisation has occurred which in turn reflects the opening of the MPTP. Both the control and drug-treated cells were exposed to equal burdens of oxidative stress. One would expect neither CsA nor SfA to completely suppress global mitochondrial membrane depolarisation (MPTP opening) under these extreme conditions of oxidative stress. From the current data it is clear that CsA and SfA increases the tolerance of the human myocardial cells for global mitochondrial membrane depolarisation to oxidative stress compared to control, suggesting that both CsA and SfA are able to delay the global mitochondrial membrane depolarisation and in turn suggesting that MPTP opening can be inhibited at the time of reperfusion.

7.6 Conclusion

In conclusion, we have demonstrated that MPTP opening does occur in human cardiomyocyte and pharmacologically inhibiting this MPTP opening protects the heart against lethal oxidative stress induced injury as evident by increase in the percentage of time duration for the opening of the MPTP. From the results of this part of the study, it appears that the opening of the MPTP mediates lethal injury. The early phase of reperfusion where MPTP opening is shown to occur, therefore represent a 'window of opportunity' for interventions directed to attenuating lethal reperfusion injury, via inhibition of MPTP opening.

Chapter Eight:

SUMMARY AND DISCUSSION

Coronary artery disease and myocardial infarction are a major cause for increasing mortality and morbidity in our population. To improve our current treatments novel therapeutic approaches are urgently required. Primary prevention strategies such as lifestyle changes, diet, exercise, anti-platelet agents, statins, ACE-inhibitors, HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors and secondary prevention strategies like anti-platelet agents, thrombolytic agents, primary PTCA, drug-eluting stents and surgery have made a significant impact.

The powerful phenomenon of ischemic preconditioning was studied and described by Murry et al in 1986³. This phenomenon of myocardial preconditioning has been well established and experiments have shown that it can deliver a powerful protection towards the heart against the lethal ischemia-reperfusion injury. In practice, preconditioning means intervening before the index ischemic episode of the acute coronary syndrome. This is difficult practically. Nevertheless preconditioning can be applied as an adjuvant to patients during acute coronary syndrome and to patients undergoing cardiac surgery.

Hence a practical cardio-protective strategy is to intervene after the index ischemic event. Currently adjuncts to reperfusion treatment strategies such as thrombolysis, primary PTCA and cardiac intervention offers a powerful protective approach.

To salvage the myocardium that is viable following ischemia, reperfusion process is essential and this reperfusion is paradoxically associated with cardiomyocyte death that was viable at the beginning of reperfusion²⁸¹. This phenomenon is described as 'lethal myocardial reperfusion injury', and this clearly compromises the complete benefit of myocardial reperfusion^{2,55}. Currently we do not have an effective therapeutic strategy to protect the myocardium against this lethal reperfusion injury. Therefore, novel strategies are urgently needed that are able to protect the myocardium against this lethal reperfusion injury. Therefore, novel strategies are urgently needed that are able to protect the myocardium against this lethal reperfusion to reduce the myocardial injury which

in turn will preserve and improve the myocardial function and the outcome of the of patients. The mitochondrial permeability transition pore (MPTP) has emerged as one of the important target for cardioprotection^{68,177,282}. Opening of MPTP at the beginning of reperfusion of the myocardium following ischemia in the setting of acute ischemia–reperfusion / hypoxia-reoxygenation injury is an important and major determinant of cardiac dysfunction and cell death and hence opening of MPTP presents a potential target for human cardio-protection.

This thesis examined the importance of the MPTP as a potential target for human myocardial protection against the lethal hypoxia-reperfusion / ischemic-reperfusion injury. We found that opening of MPTP does occur in human cardiomyocytes. We have also identified that inhibiting this MPTP opening which takes place at reoxygenation / reperfusion is a potential target for cardio-protection when the protection was mediated by interventions that were applied solely at the time of reoxygenation / reperfusion.

The main findings of this thesis were: The MPTP is a critical determinant of myocardial death in the setting of hypoxia-reperfusion / ischemia-reperfusion injury, and pharmacologically inhibiting its opening, solely at the time of reoxygenation / reperfusion, protects the human heart against lethal reperfusion injury, as evidenced by;

- 1. Improving the functional recovery of the human right atrial trabeculae
- 2. Improving the human myocardial cellular viability
- 3. Decreasing the human myocardial cellular necrosis
- 4. Demonstrating that MPTP opening occurs in human cardiomyocyte and
- 5. Delaying the timing of the opening of the MPTP

The MPTP as a Mediator of Lethal Reperfusion Injury

In chapter 4, we demonstrated, using the isolated perfused human atrial trabeculae model, that the presence of the known pharmacological MPTP inhibitors, cyclosporin-A or sanglifehrin-A at the beginning of reoxygenation / reperfusion, protected the heart against lethal reperfusion injury, as evidenced by a significant increase in the recovery of the baseline

Selvaraj Shanmuganathan Chapter 8: Summary and Discussion

contracture following a lethal ischemic insult in the setting of hypoxia- reoxygenation. Importantly, we demonstrated that targeting reoxygenation / reperfusion was critical to the protective effect of these MPTP inhibitors, which supports the experimental findings that the MPTP opening occurs during post-ischemic reperfusion. The atrial trabeculae model has been well established and standardised and shown to work in our laboratory²⁶⁰⁻²⁶². There are both advantages and disadvantages in using the right atrial muscle preparations as outlined in chapter 3. In vitro evidence from Ikonomidis et al was one of the early studies to show that ventricular cadomyocytes could be protected from SI by preconditioning¹⁹. Extensive studies at our department has shown that human atrial trabeculae can be preconditioned and this can be translated to better recovery of the contractile function following hypoxia and reoxygenation¹⁸. Though we are aware of the possible existence in the differences between atrial and ventricular cardiomyocytes, the human atrial model has been well established in our institution with reproducible results and hence this well established model was used in my experiments. Also our unpublished data from 1995 suggests that identical preconditioning effect can be induced in the ventricular tissue with a shorter hypoxic insult. The lack of tissue availability from ventricle is a limitation for conducting such experiments. Improvement in recovery of contractile function and reduction in infarct size secondary to preconditioning was shown by Jenkins et al and they showed that reduction in infarct size was proportional to improvement in the global left ventricular recovery²⁵². In our experiment we assumed the same even though the experiment was performed in the human atrial tissue and there is no direct evidence. In addition the clinical studies support that the preconditioning does occur in humans^{28,34,36,245-247}.

A period of hypoxic superfusion and rapid pacing to stimulate ischemia has been shown to induce preconditioning in both animal models of regional and global hypoxia and in cell cultures²⁴⁸⁻²⁵¹. The combination of hypoxia and rapid pacing in the human atrial trabeculae has been studied extensively and reproducibly in our institution and preconditioning has been shown to improve their functional recovery²⁶⁰⁻²⁶². The hypoxic preconditioning protocol has also been previously demonstrated in this atrial trabeculae model to improve the recovery of myocardial contractile function¹⁸.

Pharmacological Inhibition of the opening of MPTP by the immunosuppressive agent, CsA was discovered in the late 1980s¹²⁵. In 1993, Griffiths and Halestrap first reported the CsA protection against the sustained myocardial ischemia reperfusion injury. They showed that the protection of CsA at a dose of 200 nM improved functional recovery in the isolated perfused rat heart model but not at 1 nM. CsA treatment also showed preservation of the myocardial ATP content in the above setting following acute ischemia reperfusion injury¹³⁰. They also demonstrated that calcineurin was not responsible for the cardioprotection by adding tacrolimus, known calcineurin inhibitor, to their experiments and failed to show the myocardial protection against acute IRI in the presence of tacrolimus¹³⁰. Following this in 1995 they investigated the timing of the opening of MPTP in relation to ischemia and reperfusion using a novel model of Hot-DOG technique¹⁴³. They were able to show that the opening of the MPTP occurred in the first couple of minutes of myocardial reperfusion and that the MPTP remained closed during ischemia¹⁴³. Opening of MPTP in the first few minutes of reperfusion was confirmed by a number of other studies subsequently^{147,203}. Myocardial protection was shown by specifically inhibiting the opening of the MPTP at the time of reperfusion^{203,229}.

Our laboratory in 2002 were the first to demonstrate the protective effect of CsA against the myocardial infarct size in the isolated perfused rat hearts in that CsA was administered solely at the onset of myocardial reperfusion only to confirm that the opening of MPTP occurred primarily at the onset of myocardial reperfusion²²⁹. In addition, Sanglifehrin A was shown to be cardioprotective against ischemia reperfusion injury by administering them at the onset of myocardial reperfusion⁶⁸. Sanglifehrin A inhibits mitochondrial CyP and it does not affect calcineurin activity and it was demonstrated that when SfA was administered after the first 15 minutes of myocardial reperfusion following ischemia cardioprotection was lost completely. This underpins the importance of the timing of opening of MPTP and their intervention during the first few minutes of myocardial reperfusion⁶⁸.

The understanding of the concept and timing of the opening of MPTP as an important mediator of myocardial reperfusion injury gives us an opportunity to intervene and inhibit the opening of MPTP and in turn protect the myocardium against ischemia reperfusion injury. In 2008, Piot et al showed that a single bolus of CsA was cardioprotective in patients presenting with an acute myocardial infarction. In this study CsA was given at the time of percutaneous coronary intervention to the patients presenting with acute MI and they have a reduction in the myocardial infarct size by 30-40%¹³⁵. 58 patients who were presenting with acute ST- elevation MI were randomly assigned to two groups. They either received normal saline or CsA bolus intravenously just before percutaneous intervention and they showed that the group receiving CsA bolus had smaller infarct size and a significant reduction in the release of Creatine Kinase (P=0.04)¹³⁵. Interestingly further studies in porcine model have shown mixed results^{136,284} and the reason for this mixed finding is not clearly evident.

Here we used this well-known MPTP inhibitor CsA, solely at the time of reperfusion / reoxygenation. As CsA can inhibit the protein phosphatase calcineurin in addition to inhibiting the opening of MPTP, we used SfA to show that MPTP inhibition is possible without calcineurin inhibiton¹³⁹ and this has been shown in langerdorff perfused heart model¹³⁹⁻¹⁴². The specified concentrations of CsA and SfA have been demonstrated to inhibit the opening of MPTP in the isolated perfused rat heart model^{68,130,139,229}. We used the same concentration as it was used in our laboratory for the inhibition of MPTP at the time of reoxygenation / reperfusion in the animal models as it was shown to be effective in preventing the opening of MPTP. The following clinical studies are supportive of our finding of CsA inhibition of MPTP at the time of reoxygenation. CsA protection against ischemia reperfusion injury has been concurred in other settings like neonatal cardioplegic arrest^{137,285} and resuscitated cardiac arrest¹³⁸. Leung and co-workers¹³⁷ demonstrated that CsA sensitive MPTP opening occurs at the time of reperfusion in a neonatal rabbit cardioplegic arrest model and that inhibition of this opening of MPTP using CsA or other MPTP inhibitors would be useful in reducing reperfusion injury during peri-operative period. Cour and colleagues¹³⁷ administered CsA in rabbits subjected to primary asphyxial cardiac arrest. Intravenous administration of CsA at the time of reperfusion has shown to improve survival and reduce myocardial necrosis. They also demonstrated inhibition of MPTP opening in isolated cardiac mitochondria by CsA.

The findings from this part of the study suggested that the MPTP opening during reoxygenation / reperfusion can determine cell death, and that inhibiting its opening provide a potential target of cardio-protection and improve its functional recovery.

In chapter 5 and 6, we demonstrated, using the human atrial cardiomyocyte model, that the presence of the known MPTP inhibitors, cyclosporin-A or sanglifehrin-A during the onset of reoxygenation / reperfusion, protected the heart against reperfusion injury, as evidenced by a significant increase in the recovery of the viable cells and a reduction in the necrotic cells following a lethal ischemic insult in the setting of hypoxia-reoxygenation. Isolated adult human right atrial cardiomyocytes provide cells, which are free from the neurohormonal influence in an environment, which can be controlled. MPTP opening results in both apoptotic and necrotic cell death^{12,166,202,209,214} and the inhibition of its opening during reperfusion has been demonstrated to confer cardioprotection in various experimental models. In myocytes subjected to lethal hypoxia-reoxygenation, the presence of CsA improved cell viability¹²⁷. Studies have demonstrated that both apoptotic and necrotic components of cell death can be reduced by inhibiting the apoptotic signalling cascade during reperfusion using pharmacological inhibitors^{53,219,277}. Inhibiting MMP using MPTP inhibitors such as cyclosporine-A or bongkrekic acid have been demonstrated to inhibit apoptotic cell death^{222,223,274,275} suggesting that MPTP opening is an obligatory mediator of apoptosis. Our study was able to show attenuation of the necrotic component of the human cardiac cardiomyocytes but failed to show any attenuation of the apoptotic component. Apoptosis can contribute to the extension of cell death and infarct size during reperfusion. Zhao and colleagues, demonstrated an improvement in the contractile function of canine hearts subjected to ischemia by inhibiting the reperfusion induced apoptotic component of cell death⁵³. Although we could not demonstrate any significant reduction in the apoptotic component in the human atrial cardiomyocyte model, on the contrary we were able to demonstrate an improved contractile function of the human atrial trabeculae in the functional recovery model. This raises the question of whether apoptosis contributes to the functional recovery in our experiments. In our experiment the failure to shown any reduction in the apoptotic component of the myocytes could be explained by the fact that the hypoxic insult could be severe and significant enough to cause necrosis on the fragile human cardiac myocytes and one suggestion would be do reduce the timing of the hypoxic insult.

Human right atrial cardiomyocytes were isolated from the right atrial appendages harvested from the patients undergoing elective cardiac surgery, just before going on to cardio-pulmonary bypass²⁶³ by enzymatic dissociation using protease and collagenase digestion. We used the myocyte extraction method as used by Harding et al²⁶³. Though they used the protocol to extract myocytes from the ventricle, we utilised the same method to extract the right atrial cardiac myocytes and we were successful in isolating and carrying experiments on the right atrial cardiac myocytes.

Here again we used the same concentration of CsA and SfA in our mycocyte experiments, which is shown to potentially inhibit the MPTP opening at the time of reperfusion^{68,229}. In chapter 5 first we attempted to characterise the model of ischemia / reperfusion in the human cardiomyocytes using hypoxic chamber to induce simulated ischemia / hypoxia simultaneously. Three time points (10, 30 and 50 minutes) were chosen to assess the cellular viability during the reoxygenation period following hypoxia. The 30-minute reoxygenation period was chosen as the time point for assessing cellular viability for further experiments of hypoxia and reoxygenation in chapter 6. Though we are aware that opening of MPTP occurs during the first few minutes of reoxygenation / reperfusion, we wanted to assess the cardiac cellular viability at three different time points as mentioned before (10, 30 and 50 minutes) using the well known MPTP inhibitors CsA and SfA.

In chapter 7, we demonstrated, using the human atrial cardiomyocyte model, that the opening of MPTP (global mitochondrial membrane depolarisation) does occur and that the presence of the known pharmacological MPTP inhibitors, cyclosporin-A or sanglifehrin-A protected the heart against lethal reperfusion injury, as evidenced by a significant increase in the time delay in opening MPTP (global mitochondrial membrane depolarisation), following laser induction (oxidative stress). MPTP opening in adult rat myocytes was detected using a cellular model of oxidative stress^{68,139,143,229,233,234}. This model represents a reliable way to reproducibly inducing the loss of mitochondrial membrane potential and this has been unequivocally identified as MPTP opening^{180,267,268,270,279}. The findings from this part of the

study suggested that the opening of the MPTP is a critical determinant of cell death and that inhibiting its opening provide a potential target of cardio-protection.

The MPTP and Cardio-Protection in Myocardial Preconditioning

We were also able to demonstrate that ischemic preconditioning of the human atrial trabeculae could protect the human myocardium from lethal reperfusion injury as evidenced by the functional recovery of the atrial trabeculae in the setting of ischemia reperfusion (chapter 4). Also in chapter 5 we were able to demonstrate a significant increase in the percentage recovery of viable human atrial cardiomyocytes subjected to hypoxic preconditioning followed by lethal ischemic insult in a setting of hypoxia-reoxygenation.

Several studies have been published, confirming that inhibiting MPTP opening is critical to the protection associated with myocardial preconditioning^{140,280}. Preconditioning may inhibit MPTP opening at the time of reperfusion by several possible mechanisms including an indirect effect, in which known inducing factors of MPTP opening, such as mitochondrial Ca²⁺ load,^{147,286-290} ATP depletion,^{291,292} and oxidative stress²⁹³⁻²⁹⁵ are counteracted by the effects of preconditioning, such that MPTP opening does not occur during the first few minutes of reperfusion. We did not investigate the association between IPC and MPTP in our study.

Chapter Nine:

CONCLUSION

9.1 Summary of Findings

This thesis has examined the role of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore (MPTP) in human myocardial protection and for the first time we have demonstrated the role of the MPTP as a viable target for myocardial protection with human cardiac muscle. We have demonstrated that the MPTP opening during reperfusion is a critical determinant of cell death in the setting of ischemia-reperfusion / hypoxia-reoxygenation injury, and therefore inhibiting its opening by administration of agents solely at the time of reperfusion, is an effective cardioprotective strategy. We also demonstrated that MPTP opening does occur in human myocardium and can be inhibited by the MPTP inhibitors CsA and SfA. We demonstrated that the interventions applied solely at the time of reoxygenation / reperfusion protected the human myocardium by targeting MPTP and the effect was similar to myocardial preconditioning.

Simulated hypoxia-regeneration injury was used in two different models where human atrial tissues were subjected to hypoxia-reoxygenation and we have found cardioprotection by inhibiting the opening of MPTP at the time of reoxygenation. Also for the first time we have demonstrated the cardioprotective effects of the pharmacological inhibitors using a human cardiomyocyte model for inducing and detecting MPTP opening. We used CsA and SfA to inhibit MPTP opening in our models.

We have used the human atrial trabecula model that has been well established in our laboratory^{18,260-262,296} and others^{21,297}. This is a robust model and is reproducible for hypoxia-reoxygenation injury. It has been shown before that the percentage recovery of the baseline contractile function is a measure of cardioprotection and this is very much reproducible. We were able to demonstrate the improvement in the recovery of the contractile function of the human atrial trabeculae function by inhibiting the opening of the MPTP using the known MPTP inhibitors for the first 30 minutes of the reoxygenation period. The functional recovery of the atrial trabeculae were similar to those subjected to hypoxic preconditioning and this

implies that MPTP opening is a critical determinant of reoxygenation injury and cell death in human myocardium.

We used a cardiomyocyte model for our next part of the study, isolated from the human right atrium, and subjected them to hypoxia-reoxygenation injury and we looked at the cellular viability of those human cardiomyocyte in relation to MPTP opening and their inhibition. We found an improvement in the cellular viability by inhibiting the opening of MPTP at the time of reoxygenation. In our experiments it was interesting to see attenuation in the necrotic component of the cell death but not in the apoptotic component. Protection against both necrotic and apoptotic component of cell death has been shown before by inhibiting MPTP opening²⁹⁸. We were only able to demonstrate a reduction in necrosis using hypoxia-reoxygenation injury in our human atrial cardiomyocyte model and we can attribute this to a limited reoxygenation time that was used in our experiment. We could speculate that there could have been an observed difference in the apoptotic component of cell death if we had extended the reoxygenation time period. Other explanation could be that MPTP opening is only involved in mediating necrosis but not apoptosis and this was supported by a recent study where over expression of Cyclophilin D promoted necrosis but appeared to inhibit apoptosis component of cell death²²⁸.

Though many different models of ischemia and reperfusion injuries have demonstrated the effect of MPTP opening as critical determinant of cell death, to our knowledge this is the first time we have demonstrated the role of MPTP in the human heart as a determinant of functional recovery and cellular viability. Schneider et al²⁹⁹ demonstrated the protective effect of CsA in the slices of human atrial tissues in regard to reoxygenation injury but they subjected the human atrium to CsA even before the hypoxic period and also MPTP was not investigated. In our study we aimed and administered the known MPTP inhibitors at the onset of reoxygenation period where the opening of MPTP occurred so that we could prevent their lethal effects of reoxygenation injury. We also demonstrated the direct protective effect of these drugs on MPTP using a human cardiomyocytes model.

In this study, subjecting the human atrial tissues to hypoxia-reoxygenation injury we have demonstrated the protective effects of known MPTP inhibitors CsA and SfA. We used both of these inhibitors because CsA can be cardioprotective not only by inhibiting the opening of MPTP but also by inhibiting calcineurin and more importantly SfA is a more specific inhibitor of MPTP opening as it does not inhibit calcineurin^{139,141}. We administered both these known MPTP inhibitors particularly at the onset of reoxygenation following a lethal period of ischemia so that we could target the opening of MPTP that has been observed and demonstrated to occur at the onset of reperfusion/reoxygenation^{143,147,202,203}. Translating this to the clinical settings it would be easier to apply cardioprotective strategies at the time of reperfusion.

In conclusion, for the first time we have show that the human myocardium can be protected from lethal hypoxia-reoxygenation injury by inhibiting the MPTP opening at the time of reoxygenation. Inhibition of the opening of MPTP may therefore provide a novel target for cardioprotection in the clinical settings of reperfusion.

9.2 Clinical Implications

In this thesis, we have provided evidence that pharmacological intervention at the start of reperfusion / reoxygenation protects the human heart by inhibiting the MPTP opening which occurs during the first few minutes of reperfusion / reoxygenation. Therefore, the first few minutes of reperfusion / reoxygenation offer a potential target for cardio-protection which would be under the control of the operator, such as after an acute myocardial infarction or at the time of cardiac surgery (clinical settings of ischemia-reperfusion injury), and from the findings of this thesis, targeting the MPTP opening, can offer protection that is comparable to myocardial preconditioning.

Importantly, we demonstrated that the opening of the MPTP during reperfusion was a major determinant of lethal reperfusion injury and was responsible for a significant loss in the percentage of myocardial functional recovery and cellular viability and a significant increase in the percentage of human myocardial necrosis following an episode of lethal ischemia /

hypoxia. We demonstrated that inhibiting MPTP opening during reperfusion by administering known pharmacological MPTP inhibitors, the human myocardium could be protected.

Reliable pharmacological agents need to be developed that will specifically inhibit the MPTP opening, safe to use, rapid action and no adverse effects. They can be used at the time of reperfusion, in the clinical settings of ischemia-reperfusion injury, such as at the time of reperfusion (by either thrombolysis or primary PTCA) following an acute coronary syndrome, acute myocardial infarction and at the time of cardiac surgery. However, the drug would have to be administered as an adjunct to the reperfusion treatment strategy to be effective, as we have demonstrated in this thesis that targeting the post-ischemic reperfusion is critical to protection.

In 2008, Piot et al showed that a single bolus of CsA was cardioprotective in patients presenting with an acute myocardial infarction. In this study CsA was given at the time of percutaneous coronary intervention to the patients presenting with acute MI and they have a reduction in the myocardial infarct size by 30-40%. 58 patients who were presenting with acute ST- elevation MI were randomly assigned to two groups. They either received normal saline or CsA bolus intravenously just before percutaneous intervention and they showed that the group receiving CsA bolus had smaller infarct size and a significant reduction in the release of Creatine Kinase (P=0.04). The reduction in the infarct size by cyclosporin suggests that reperfusion injury occurs in humans^{9,53}. The possibility of new pharmacological target for treating patients with ongoing coronary syndrome to reduce lethal reperfusion injury is evident^{53,61}. Staat et al described a similar reduction in infarct size using ischemic post conditioning⁶¹. Post conditioning also reduces the extent of reperfusion injury by inhibiting the permeability-transition pore opening^{229,244}. These data require confirmation in a larger clinical trial. However these studies are supportive of our study that MPTP opening does occur in the human myocardium and it is a potential target for preventing lethal ischemia-reperfusion injury by the application of known MPTP inhibitors largely at or just after the time of reoxygenation / reperfusion.

Therefore, the local intra-coronary delivery of a small concentration of CsA or SfA, at the time of primary angioplasty for an AMI or following cardiac surgery, may provide a

potential approach for harnessing the protection gained from inhibiting MPTP opening at the time of reperfusion³⁰⁰.

9.3 Future Directions

Further experimental studies are required to investigate newer classes of drugs which inhibit MPTP opening and which can be demonstrated to offer protection against lethal reperfusion injury by inhibiting MPTP opening. Known inhibitors like CsA and SfA need to study further for their safety and efficacy to be used in human subjects. This will become an effective adjunct to the reperfusion strategy and hence salvage of human myocardium in an acute myocardial infarction setting. Also it will be interesting to see whether other interventions which have been demonstrated to protect the heart against lethal reperfusion injury, when applied solely at reperfusion, such as the phenomenon of 'ischemic post-conditioning' or the opening of the mitochondrial K_{ATP} channel, do so by inhibiting MPTP opening and could be used in combination with pharmacological MPTP inhibitors at the time of reperfusion.

Chapter Ten: REFERENCES

- 1 Murray, C. J. & Lopez, A. D. Alternative projections of mortality and disability by cause 1990-2020: Global Burden of Disease Study. *Lancet* **349**, 1498-1504, (1997).
- 2 Braunwald, E. & Kloner, R. A. Myocardial reperfusion: a double-edged sword? *J Clin Invest* **76**, 1713-1719, (1985).
- 3 Murry, C. E., Jennings, R. B. & Reimer, K. A. Preconditioning with ischemia: a delay of lethal cell injury in ischemic myocardium. *Circulation* **74**, 1124-1136 (1986).
- 4 Loukogeorgakis, S. P. *et al.* Remote ischemic preconditioning provides early and late protection against endothelial ischemia-reperfusion injury in humans: role of the autonomic nervous system. *J Am Coll Cardiol* **46**, 450-456,(2005).
- 5 Loukogeorgakis, S. P. *et al.* Transient limb ischemia induces remote preconditioning and remote postconditioning in humans by a K(ATP)-channel dependent mechanism. *Circulation* **116**, 1386-1395, (2007).
- 6 Okamoto, F., Allen, B. S., Buckberg, G. D., Bugyi, H. & Leaf, J. Reperfusion conditions: importance of ensuring gentle versus sudden reperfusion during relief of coronary occlusion. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* **92**, 613-620 (1986).
- 7 Hunter, D. R., Haworth, R. A. & Southard, J. H. Relationship between configuration, function, and permeability in calcium-treated mitochondria. *J Biol Chem* **251**, 5069-5077 (1976).
- ⁸ Jennings, R. B., Sommers, H. M., Smyth, G. A., Flack, H. A. & Linn, H. Myocardial necrosis induced by temporary occlusion of a coronary artery in the dog. *Arch Pathol* **70**, 68-78 (1960).
- 9 Kloner, R. A. Does reperfusion injury exist in humans? *J Am Coll Cardiol* **21**, 537-545, (1993).
- 10 Yellon, D. M. & Baxter, G. F. Reperfusion injury revisited: is there a role for growth factor signaling in limiting lethal reperfusion injury? *Trends Cardiovasc Med* **9**, 245-249, (1999).
- 11 Halestrap, A. P., Kerr, P. M., Javadov, S. & Woodfield, K. Y. Elucidating the molecular mechanism of the permeability transition pore and its role in reperfusion injury of the heart. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1366**, 79-94 (1998).
- 12 Halestrap, A. P. Calcium, mitochondria and reperfusion injury: a pore way to die. *Biochem Soc Trans* **34**, 232-237, (2006).
- 13 Solaini, G. & Harris, D. A. Biochemical dysfunction in heart mitochondria exposed to ischaemia and reperfusion. *Biochem J* **390**, 377-394, (2005).
- 14 Murry, C. E., Richard, V. J., Jennings, R. B. & Reimer, K. A. Myocardial protection is lost before contractile function recovers from ischemic preconditioning. *Am J Physiol* **260**, H796-804 (1991).
- 15 Sack, S., Mohri, M., Arras, M., Schwarz, E. R. & Schaper, W. Ischaemic preconditioning-time course of renewal in the pig. *Cardiovasc Res* 27, 551-555 (1993).
- 16 Marber, M. S., Latchman, D. S., Walker, J. M. & Yellon, D. M. Cardiac stress protein elevation 24 hours after brief ischemia or heat stress is associated with resistance to myocardial infarction. *Circulation* 88, 1264-1272 (1993).
- 17 Walker, D. M., Marber, M. S., Walker, J. M. & Yellon, D. M. Preconditioning in isolated superfused rabbit papillary muscles. *Am J Physiol* **266**, H1534-1540 (1994).
- Walker, D. M., Walker, J. M., Pugsley, W. B., Pattison, C. W. & Yellon, D. M.
 Preconditioning in isolated superfused human muscle. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* 27, 1349-1357 (1995).
- 19 Ikonomidis, J. S., Tumiati, L. C., Weisel, R. D., Mickle, D. A. & Li, R. K. Preconditioning human ventricular cardiomyocytes with brief periods of simulated ischaemia. *Cardiovasc Res* 28, 1285-1291, (1994).
- 20 Arstall, M. A. *et al.* Human ventricular myocytes in vitro exhibit both early and delayed preconditioning responses to simulated ischemia. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* **30**, 1019-1025, (1998).
- 21 Cleveland, J. C., Jr., Meldrum, D. R., Cain, B. S., Banerjee, A. & Harken, A. H. Oral sulfonylurea hypoglycemic agents prevent ischemic preconditioning in human myocardium. Two paradoxes revisited. *Circulation* **96**, 29-32 (1997).
- 22 Ghosh, S., Standen, N. B. & Galinanes, M. Preconditioning the human myocardium by simulated ischemia: studies on the early and delayed protection. *Cardiovasc Res* **45**, 339-350, (2000).

- 23 Okazaki, Y. *et al.* Attenuation of increased regional myocardial oxygen consumption during exercise as a major cause of warm-up phenomenon. *J Am Coll Cardiol* **21**, 1597-1604, (1993).
- 24 Stewart, R. A., Simmonds, M. B. & Williams, M. J. Time course of "warm-up" in stable angina. *Am J Cardiol* **76**, 70-73, (1995).
- 25 Tomai, F. et al. Mechanisms of the warm-up phenomenon. Eur Heart J 17, 1022-1027 (1996).
- 26 Tomai, F. *et al.* Effects of K(ATP) channel blockade by glibenclamide on the warm-up phenomenon. *Eur Heart J* **20**, 196-202, (1999).
- 27 Ovunc, K. Effects of glibenclamide, a K(ATP) channel blocker, on warm-up phenomenon in t ype II diabetic patients with chronic stable angina pectoris. *Clin Cardiol* **23**, 535-539 (2000).
- 28 Kloner, R. A. *et al.* Previous angina alters in-hospital outcome in TIMI 4. A clinical correlate to preconditioning? *Circulation* **91**, 37-45 (1995).
- 29 Tamura, K., Tsuji, H., Nishiue, T., Tokunaga, S. & Iwasaka, T. Association of preceding angina with in-hospital life-threatening ventricular tachyarrhythmias and late potentials in patients with a first acute myocardial infarction. *Am Heart J* **133**, 297-301, (1997).
- 30 Ishihara, M. *et al.* Implications of prodromal angina pectoris in anterior wall acute myocardial infarction: acute angiographic findings and long-term prognosis. *J Am Coll Cardiol* **30**, 970-975, (1997).
- 31 Kloner, R. A. *et al.* Prospective temporal analysis of the onset of preinfarction angina versus outcome: an ancillary study in TIMI-9B. *Circulation* **97**, 1042-1045 (1998).
- 32 Yamagishi, H. *et al.* Effects of preinfarction angina on myocardial injury in patients with acute myocardial infarction: a study with resting 123I-BMIPP and 201T1 myocardial SPECT. *J Nucl Med* **41**, 830-836 (2000).
- 33 Airaksinen, K. E. & Huikuri, H. V. Antiarrhythmic effect of repeated coronary occlusion during balloon angioplasty. *J Am Coll Cardiol* **29**, 1035-1038, (1997).
- 34 Cribier, A. *et al.* Improved myocardial ischemic response and enhanced collateral circulation with long repetitive coronary occlusion during angioplasty: a prospective study. *J Am Coll Cardiol* **20**, 578-586, (1992).
- 35 Eltchaninoff, H. *et al.* Adaptation to myocardial ischemia during coronary angioplasty demonstrated by clinical, electrocardiographic, echocardiographic, and metabolic parameters. *Am Heart J* **133**, 490-496, (1997).
- 36 Yellon, D. M., Alkhulaifi, A. M. & Pugsley, W. B. Preconditioning the human myocardium. *Lancet* **342**, 276-277, (1993).
- 37 Jenkins, D. P. *et al.* Ischaemic preconditioning reduces troponin T release in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass surgery. *Heart* **77**, 314-318 (1997).
- 38 Illes, R. W. & Swoyer, K. D. Prospective, randomized clinical study of ischemic preconditioning as an adjunct to intermittent cold blood cardioplegia. *Ann Thorac Surg* 65, 748-752; discussion 752-743, (1998).
- 39 Tomai, F. *et al.* Beneficial impact of isoflurane during coronary bypass surgery on troponin I release. *G Ital Cardiol* **29**, 1007-1014 (1999).
- 40 Belhomme, D. *et al.* Evidence for preconditioning by isoflurane in coronary artery bypass graft surgery. *Circulation* **100**, II340-344 (1999).
- 41 Zhao, Z. Q. *et al.* Reperfusion induces myocardial apoptotic cell death. *Cardiovasc Res* **45**, 651-660, (2000).
- 42 Sodi-Pallares, D. *et al.* Effects of an intravenous infusion of a potassium-glucose-insulin solution on the electrocardiographic signs of myocardial infarction. A preliminary clinical report. *Am J Cardiol* **9**, 166-181 (1962).
- 43 Malmberg, K. *et al.* Randomized trial of insulin-glucose infusion followed by subcutaneous insulin treatment in diabetic patients with acute myocardial infarction (DIGAMI study): effects on mortality at 1 year. *J Am Coll Cardiol* **26**, 57-65, (1995).
- 44 Diaz, R. *et al.* Metabolic modulation of acute myocardial infarction. The ECLA (Estudios Cardiologicos Latinoamerica) Collaborative Group. *Circulation* **98**, 2227-2234 (1998).
- 45 Doenst, T., Bothe, W. & Beyersdorf, F. Therapy with insulin in cardiac surgery: controversies and possible solutions. *Ann Thorac Surg* **75**, S721-728 (2003).
- 46 Woods, K. L., Fletcher, S., Roffe, C. & Haider, Y. Intravenous magnesium sulphate in suspected acute myocardial infarction: results of the second Leicester Intravenous Magnesium Intervention Trial (LIMIT-2). *Lancet* **339**, 1553-1558, (1992).
- ISIS-4: a randomised factorial trial assessing early oral captopril, oral mononitrate, and intravenous magnesium sulphate in 58,050 patients with suspected acute myocardial infarction. ISIS-4 (Fourth International Study of Infarct Survival) Collaborative Group. *Lancet* 345, 669-685 (1995).

- 48 Mahaffey, K. W. *et al.* Adenosine as an adjunct to thrombolytic therapy for acute myocardial infarction: results of a multicenter, randomized, placebo-controlled trial: the Acute Myocardial Infarction STudy of ADenosine (AMISTAD) trial. *J Am Coll Cardiol* **34**, 1711-1720, (1999).
- 49 Rupprecht, H. J. *et al.* Cardioprotective effects of the Na(+)/H(+) exchange inhibitor cariporide in patients with acute anterior myocardial infarction undergoing direct PTCA. *Circulation* **101**, 2902-2908 (2000).
- 50 Zeymer, U. *et al.* The Na(+)/H(+) exchange inhibitor eniporide as an adjunct to early reperfusion therapy for acute myocardial infarction. Results of the evaluation of the safety and cardioprotective effects of eniporide in acute myocardial infarction (ESCAMI) trial. *J Am Coll Cardiol* **38**, 1644-1650, (2001).
- 51 Theroux, P. *et al.* Inhibition of the sodium-hydrogen exchanger with cariporide to prevent myocardial infarction in high-risk ischemic situations. Main results of the GUARDIAN trial. Guard during ischemia against necrosis (GUARDIAN) Investigators. *Circulation* **102**, 3032-3038 (2000).
- 52 Pizzetti, G. *et al.* Beneficial effects of diltiazem during myocardial reperfusion: a randomized trial in acute myocardial infarction. *Ital Heart J* **2**, 757-765 (2001).
- 53 Zhao, Z. Q. *et al.* Inhibition of myocardial injury by ischemic postconditioning during reperfusion: comparison with ischemic preconditioning. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **285**, H579-588, (2003).
- 54 Vinten-Johansen, J. Postconditioning: a mechanical maneuver that triggers biological and molecular cardioprotective responses to reperfusion. *Heart Fail Rev* **12**, 235-244, (2007).
- 55 Yellon, D. M. & Hausenloy, D. J. Myocardial reperfusion injury. *N Engl J Med* **357**, 1121-1135, (2007).
- 56 Hausenloy, D. J., Tsang, A. & Yellon, D. M. The reperfusion injury salvage kinase pathway: a common target for both ischemic preconditioning and postconditioning. *Trends Cardiovasc Med* **15**, 69-75, (2005).
- 57 Hausenloy, D. J. & Yellon, D. M. Survival kinases in ischemic preconditioning and postconditioning. *Cardiovasc Res* **70**, 240-253, (2006).
- 58 Hausenloy, D. J. & Yellon, D. M. Preconditioning and postconditioning: united at reperfusion. *Pharmacol Ther* **116**, 173-191, (2007).
- 59 Hausenloy, D. J. & Yellon, D. M. Reperfusion injury salvage kinase signalling: taking a RISK for cardioprotection. *Heart Fail Rev* **12**, 217-234, (2007).
- 60 Laskey, W. K. Brief repetitive balloon occlusions enhance reperfusion during percutaneous coronary intervention for acute myocardial infarction: a pilot study. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv* **65**, 361-367, (2005).
- 61 Staat, P. *et al.* Postconditioning the human heart. *Circulation* **112**, 2143-2148, (2005).
- 62 Lonborg, J. *et al.* ST-Segment resolution and clinical outcome with ischemic postconditioning and comparison to magnetic resonance. *Am Heart J* **160**, 1085-1091, (2010).
- 63 Garcia, S. *et al.* Long-term follow-up of patients undergoing postconditioning during STelevation myocardial infarction. *J Cardiovasc Transl Res* **4**, 92-98, (2011).
- 64 Limalanathan, S. *et al.* Rationale and design of the POSTEMI (postconditioning in STelevation myocardial infarction) study. *Cardiology* **116**, 103-109, (2010).
- 65 Luo, W., Li, B., Lin, G. & Huang, R. Postconditioning in cardiac surgery for tetralogy of Fallot. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* **133**, 1373-1374, (2007).
- 66 Luo, W., Li, B., Chen, R., Huang, R. & Lin, G. Effect of ischemic postconditioning in adult valve replacement. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* **33**, 203-208, (2008).
- 67 Luo, W., Zhu, M., Huang, R. & Zhang, Y. A comparison of cardiac post-conditioning and remote pre-conditioning in paediatric cardiac surgery. *Cardiol Young* **21**, 266-270, (2011).
- 68 Hausenloy, D. J., Duchen, M. R. & Yellon, D. M. Inhibiting mitochondrial permeability transition pore opening at reperfusion protects against ischaemia-reperfusion injury. *Cardiovasc Res* **60**, 617-625, (2003).
- 69 Kloner, R. A. *et al.* Impact of time to therapy and reperfusion modality on the efficacy of adenosine in acute myocardial infarction: the AMISTAD-2 trial. *Eur Heart J* **27**, 2400-2405, (2006).
- 70 Nikolaidis, L. A. *et al.* Effects of glucagon-like peptide-1 in patients with acute myocardial infarction and left ventricular dysfunction after successful reperfusion. *Circulation* **109**, 962-965, (2004).

- 71 Sokos, G. G., Nikolaidis, L. A., Mankad, S., Elahi, D. & Shannon, R. P. Glucagon-like peptide-1 infusion improves left ventricular ejection fraction and functional status in patients with chronic heart failure. *J Card Fail* **12**, 694-699, (2006).
- 72 Kitakaze, M. *et al.* Human atrial natriuretic peptide and nicorandil as adjuncts to reperfusion treatment for acute myocardial infarction (J-WIND): two randomised trials. *Lancet* **370**, 1483-1493, (2007).
- 73 Hausenloy, D. J. & Yellon, D. M. Time to take myocardial reperfusion injury seriously. N Engl J Med 359, 518-520, (2008).
- 74 Symons, J. A. & Myles, P. S. Myocardial protection with volatile anaesthetic agents during coronary artery bypass surgery: a meta-analysis. *Br J Anaesth* **97**, 127-136, (2006).
- 75 Yu, C. H. & Beattie, W. S. The effects of volatile anesthetics on cardiac ischemic complications and mortality in CABG: a meta-analysis. *Can J Anaesth* **53**, 906-918, (2006).
- 76 Przyklenk, K., Bauer, B., Ovize, M., Kloner, R. A. & Whittaker, P. Regional ischemic 'preconditioning' protects remote virgin myocardium from subsequent sustained coronary occlusion. *Circulation* 87, 893-899 (1993).
- 77 Gho, B. C., Schoemaker, R. G., van den Doel, M. A., Duncker, D. J. & Verdouw, P. D. Myocardial protection by brief ischemia in noncardiac tissue. *Circulation* 94, 2193-2200 (1996).
- Pell, T. J., Baxter, G. F., Yellon, D. M. & Drew, G. M. Renal ischemia preconditions myocardium: role of adenosine receptors and ATP-sensitive potassium channels. *Am J Physiol* 275, H1542-1547 (1998).
- 79 Kerendi, F. *et al.* Remote postconditioning. Brief renal ischemia and reperfusion applied before coronary artery reperfusion reduces myocardial infarct size via endogenous activation of adenosine receptors. *Basic Res Cardiol* **100**, 404-412, (2005).
- 80 Li, C. M., Zhang, X. H., Ma, X. J. & Luo, M. Limb ischemic postconditioning protects myocardium from ischemia-reperfusion injury. *Scand Cardiovasc J* **40**, 312-317, (2006).
- 81 Andreka, G. *et al.* Remote ischaemic postconditioning protects the heart during acute myocardial infarction in pigs. *Heart* **93**, 749-752, (2007).
- 82 Schmidt, M. R. *et al.* Intermittent peripheral tissue ischemia during coronary ischemia reduces myocardial infarction through a KATP-dependent mechanism: first demonstration of remote ischemic perconditioning. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **292**, H1883-1890, (2007).
- 83 Venugopal, V., Laing, C. M., Ludman, A., Yellon, D. M. & Hausenloy, D. Effect of remote ischemic preconditioning on acute kidney injury in nondiabetic patients undergoing coronary artery bypass graft surgery: a secondary analysis of 2 small randomized trials. *Am J Kidney Dis* **56**, 1043-1049, (2010).
- 84 Birnbaum, Y., Hale, S. L. & Kloner, R. A. Ischemic preconditioning at a distance: reduction of myocardial infarct size by partial reduction of blood supply combined with rapid stimulation of the gastrocnemius muscle in the rabbit. *Circulation* **96**, 1641-1646 (1997).
- 85 Gunaydin, B. *et al.* Does remote organ ischaemia trigger cardiac preconditioning during coronary artery surgery? *Pharmacol Res* **41**, 493-496, (2000).
- 86 Kharbanda, R. K. *et al.* Transient limb ischemia induces remote ischemic preconditioning in vivo. *Circulation* **106**, 2881-2883 (2002).
- 87 Hausenloy, D. J. *et al.* Effect of remote ischaemic preconditioning on myocardial injury in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass graft surgery: a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet* **370**, 575-579, (2007).
- 88 Iliodromitis, E. K. *et al.* Increased C reactive protein and cardiac enzyme levels after coronary stent implantation. Is there protection by remote ischaemic preconditioning? *Heart* **92**, 1821-1826, (2006).
- 89 Hoole, S. P. *et al.* Cardiac Remote Ischemic Preconditioning in Coronary Stenting (CRISP Stent) Study: a prospective, randomized control trial. *Circulation* **119**, 820-827, (2009).
- 90 Walsh, S. R., Tang, T. Y., Sadat, U. & Gaunt, M. E. Remote ischemic preconditioning in major vascular surgery. *J Vasc Surg* **49**, 240-243, (2009).
- 91 Haworth, R. A. & Hunter, D. R. The Ca2+-induced membrane transition in mitochondria. II. Nature of the Ca2+ trigger site. *Arch Biochem Biophys* **195**, 460-467 (1979).
- 92 Hunter, D. R. & Haworth, R. A. The Ca2+-induced membrane transition in mitochondria. I. The protective mechanisms. *Arch Biochem Biophys* **195**, 453-459 (1979).
- 93 Hunter, D. R. & Haworth, R. A. The Ca2+-induced membrane transition in mitochondria. III. Transitional Ca2+ release. Arch Biochem Biophys 195, 468-477 (1979).
- 94 Bernardi, P. Mitochondrial transport of cations: channels, exchangers, and permeability transition. *Physiol Rev* **79**, 1127-1155 (1999).

- 95 Yellon, D. M. & Downey, J. M. Preconditioning the myocardium: from cellular physiology to clinical cardiology. *Physiol Rev* **83**, 1113-1151, (2003).
- 96 Crompton, M. & Costi, A. Kinetic evidence for a heart mitochondrial pore activated by Ca2+, inorganic phosphate and oxidative stress. A potential mechanism for mitochondrial dysfunction during cellular Ca2+ overload. *Eur J Biochem* **178**, 489-501 (1988).
- 97 Crompton, M. & Costi, A. A heart mitochondrial Ca2(+)-dependent pore of possible relevance to re-perfusion-induced injury. Evidence that ADP facilitates pore interconversion between the closed and open states. *Biochem J* 266, 33-39 (1990).
- 98 Murphy, E., Perlman, M., London, R. E. & Steenbergen, C. Amiloride delays the ischemiainduced rise in cytosolic free calcium. *Circ Res* **68**, 1250-1258 (1991).
- 99 Murphy, E., Cross, H. & Steenbergen, C. Sodium regulation during ischemia versus reperfusion and its role in injury. *Circ Res* **84**, 1469-1470 (1999).
- 100 Imahashi, K. *et al.* Cardiac-specific ablation of the Na+-Ca2+ exchanger confers protection against ischemia/reperfusion injury. *Circ Res* **97**, 916-921, (2005).
- 101 Piper, H. M., Abdallah, Y. & Schafer, C. The first minutes of reperfusion: a window of opportunity for cardioprotection. *Cardiovasc Res* **61**, 365-371, (2004).
- 102 Steenbergen, C., Murphy, E., Levy, L. & London, R. E. Elevation in cytosolic free calcium concentration early in myocardial ischemia in perfused rat heart. *Circ Res* **60**, 700-707 (1987).
- 103 Kim, J. S., Jin, Y. & Lemasters, J. J. Reactive oxygen species, but not Ca2+ overloading, trigger pH- and mitochondrial permeability transition-dependent death of adult rat myocytes after ischemia-reperfusion. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **290**, H2024-2034, (2006).
- 104 Marban, E., Kitakaze, M., Chacko, V. P. & Pike, M. M. Ca2+ transients in perfused hearts revealed by gated 19F NMR spectroscopy. *Circ Res* 63, 673-678 (1988).
- 105 Namekata, I., Shimada, H., Kawanishi, T., Tanaka, H. & Shigenobu, K. Reduction by SEA0400 of myocardial ischemia-induced cytoplasmic and mitochondrial Ca2+ overload. *Eur J Pharmacol* 543, 108-115, (2006).
- 106 Novgorodov, S. A., Gudz, T. I., Milgrom, Y. M. & Brierley, G. P. The permeability transition in heart mitochondria is regulated synergistically by ADP and cyclosporin A. *J Biol Chem* 267, 16274-16282 (1992).
- 107 Griffiths, E. J. *et al.* Mitochondrial calcium transporting pathways during hypoxia and reoxygenation in single rat cardiomyocytes. *Cardiovasc Res* **39**, 423-433, (1998).
- 108 Miyata, H., Lakatta, E. G., Stern, M. D. & Silverman, H. S. Relation of mitochondrial and cytosolic free calcium to cardiac myocyte recovery after exposure to anoxia. *Circ Res* **71**, 605-613 (1992).
- 109 Basso, E., Petronilli, V., Forte, M. A. & Bernardi, P. Phosphate is essential for inhibition of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore by cyclosporin A and by cyclophilin D ablation. *J Biol Chem* 283, 26307-26311, (2008).
- 110 Palma, E. *et al.* Genetic ablation of cyclophilin D rescues mitochondrial defects and prevents muscle apoptosis in collagen VI myopathic mice. *Hum Mol Genet* **18**, 2024-2031, (2009).
- 111 Garlick, P. B., Davies, M. J., Hearse, D. J. & Slater, T. F. Direct detection of free radicals in the reperfused rat heart using electron spin resonance spectroscopy. *Circ Res* 61, 757-760 (1987).
- 112 Zweier, J. L. Measurement of superoxide-derived free radicals in the reperfused heart. Evidence for a free radical mechanism of reperfusion injury. *J Biol Chem* **263**, 1353-1357 (1988).
- 113 Becker, L. B., vanden Hoek, T. L., Shao, Z. H., Li, C. Q. & Schumacker, P. T. Generation of superoxide in cardiomyocytes during ischemia before reperfusion. *Am J Physiol* **277**, H2240-2246 (1999).
- 114 Kevin, L. G., Camara, A. K., Riess, M. L., Novalija, E. & Stowe, D. F. Ischemic preconditioning alters real-time measure of O2 radicals in intact hearts with ischemia and reperfusion. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **284**, H566-574, (2003).
- 115 Vanden Hoek, T. L. *et al.* Reperfusion injury on cardiac myocytes after simulated ischemia. *Am J Physiol* **270**, H1334-1341 (1996).
- 116 Sack, M. N. Mitochondrial depolarization and the role of uncoupling proteins in ischemia tolerance. *Cardiovasc Res* **72**, 210-219, (2006).
- 117 McStay, G. P., Clarke, S. J. & Halestrap, A. P. Role of critical thiol groups on the matrix surface of the adenine nucleotide translocase in the mechanism of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore. *Biochem J* **367**, 541-548, (2002).

- 118 Petronilli, V. *et al.* The voltage sensor of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore is tuned by the oxidation-reduction state of vicinal thiols. Increase of the gating potential by oxidants and its reversal by reducing agents. *J Biol Chem* **269**, 16638-16642 (1994).
- 119 Skulachev, V. P. Fatty acid circuit as a physiological mechanism of uncoupling of oxidative phosphorylation. *FEBS Lett* **294**, 158-162, (1991).
- 120 Petronilli, V., Cola, C., Massari, S., Colonna, R. & Bernardi, P. Physiological effectors modify voltage sensing by the cyclosporin A-sensitive permeability transition pore of mitochondria. *J Biol Chem* 268, 21939-21945 (1993).
- 121 Le Quoc, K. & Le Quoc, D. Involvement of the ADP/ATP carrier in calcium-induced perturbations of the mitochondrial inner membrane permeability: importance of the orientation of the nucleotide binding site. *Arch Biochem Biophys* **265**, 249-257 (1988).
- 122 Paulson, D. J. & Shug, A. L. Inhibition of the adenine nucleotide translocator by matrixlocalized palmityl-CoA in rat heart mitochondria. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **766**, 70-76, (1984).
- 123 Penzo, D. *et al.* Arachidonic acid released by phospholipase A(2) activation triggers Ca(2+)dependent apoptosis through the mitochondrial pathway. *J Biol Chem* **279**, 25219-25225, (2004).
- 124 Fournier, N., Ducet, G. & Crevat, A. Action of cyclosporine on mitochondrial calcium fluxes. *J Bioenerg Biomembr* **19**, 297-303 (1987).
- 125 Crompton, M., Ellinger, H. & Costi, A. Inhibition by cyclosporin A of a Ca2+-dependent pore in heart mitochondria activated by inorganic phosphate and oxidative stress. *Biochem J* **255**, 357-360 (1988).
- 126 Broekemeier, K. M., Dempsey, M. E. & Pfeiffer, D. R. Cyclosporin A is a potent inhibitor of the inner membrane permeability transition in liver mitochondria. *J Biol Chem* **264**, 7826-7830 (1989).
- 127 Nazareth, W., Yafei, N. & Crompton, M. Inhibition of anoxia-induced injury in heart myocytes by cyclosporin A. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* **23**, 1351-1354, (1991).
- 128 Xu, M., Wang, Y., Hirai, K., Ayub, A. & Ashraf, M. Calcium preconditioning inhibits mitochondrial permeability transition and apoptosis. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **280**, H899-908 (2001).
- 129 Griffiths, E. J., Ocampo, C. J., Savage, J. S., Stern, M. D. & Silverman, H. S. Protective effects of low and high doses of cyclosporin A against reoxygenation injury in isolated rat cardiomyocytes are associated with differential effects on mitochondrial calcium levels. *Cell Calcium* **27**, 87-95, (2000).
- 130 Griffiths, E. J. & Halestrap, A. P. Protection by Cyclosporin A of ischemia/reperfusioninduced damage in isolated rat hearts. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* **25**, 1461-1469, (1993).
- 131 Halestrap, A. P., Connern, C. P., Griffiths, E. J. & Kerr, P. M. Cyclosporin A binding to mitochondrial cyclophilin inhibits the permeability transition pore and protects hearts from ischaemia/reperfusion injury. *Mol Cell Biochem* **174**, 167-172 (1997).
- 132 Woodfield, K., Ruck, A., Brdiczka, D. & Halestrap, A. P. Direct demonstration of a specific interaction between cyclophilin-D and the adenine nucleotide translocase confirms their role in the mitochondrial permeability transition. *Biochem J* **336** (**Pt 2**), 287-290 (1998).
- 133 Crompton, M. & Andreeva, L. On the interactions of Ca2+ and cyclosporin A with a mitochondrial inner membrane pore: a study using cobaltammine complex inhibitors of the Ca2+ uniporter. *Biochem J* **302** (**Pt 1**), 181-185 (1994).
- 134 He, L. & Lemasters, J. J. Regulated and unregulated mitochondrial permeability transition pores: a new paradigm of pore structure and function? *FEBS Lett* **512**, 1-7, (2002).
- 135 Piot, C. *et al.* Effect of cyclosporine on reperfusion injury in acute myocardial infarction. *N Engl J Med* **359**, 473-481, (2008).
- 136 Karlsson, L. O. *et al.* Cyclosporine does not reduce myocardial infarct size in a porcine ischemia-reperfusion model. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol Ther* **15**, 182-189, (2010).
- 137 Leung, C. H., Wang, L., Fu, Y. Y., Yuen, W. & Caldarone, C. A. Transient mitochondrial permeability transition pore opening after neonatal cardioplegic arrest. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* **141**, 975-982, (2011).
- 138 Cour, M. *et al.* Inhibition of mitochondrial permeability transition to prevent the post-cardiac arrest syndrome: a pre-clinical study. *Eur Heart J* **32**, 226-235, (2011).
- 139 Clarke, S. J., McStay, G. P. & Halestrap, A. P. Sanglifehrin A acts as a potent inhibitor of the mitochondrial permeability transition and reperfusion injury of the heart by binding to cyclophilin-D at a different site from cyclosporin A. *J Biol Chem* **277**, 34793-34799, (2002).
- 140 Javadov, S. A. *et al.* Ischaemic preconditioning inhibits opening of mitochondrial permeability transition pores in the reperfused rat heart. *J Physiol* **549**, 513-524, (2003).

- 141 Sanglier, J. J. *et al.* Sanglifehrins A, B, C and D, novel cyclophilin-binding compounds isolated from Streptomyces sp. A92-308110. I. Taxonomy, fermentation, isolation and biological activity. *J Antibiot (Tokyo)* **52**, 466-473 (1999).
- 142 Zenke, G. *et al.* Sanglifehrin A, a novel cyclophilin-binding compound showing immunosuppressive activity with a new mechanism of action. *J Immunol* **166**, 7165-7171 (2001).
- 143 Griffiths, E. J. & Halestrap, A. P. Mitochondrial non-specific pores remain closed during cardiac ischaemia, but open upon reperfusion. *Biochem J* **307** (**Pt 1**), 93-98 (1995).
- 144 Suleiman, M. S., Halestrap, A. P. & Griffiths, E. J. Mitochondria: a target for myocardial protection. *Pharmacol Ther* **89**, 29-46, (2001).
- 145 Halestrap, A. P., McStay, G. P. & Clarke, S. J. The permeability transition pore complex: another view. *Biochimie* 84, 153-166, (2002).
- 146 Halestrap, A. P. & Brenner, C. The adenine nucleotide translocase: a central component of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore and key player in cell death. *Curr Med Chem* 10, 1507-1525 (2003).
- 147 Murata, M., Akao, M., O'Rourke, B. & Marban, E. Mitochondrial ATP-sensitive potassium channels attenuate matrix Ca(2+) overload during simulated ischemia and reperfusion: possible mechanism of cardioprotection. *Circ Res* **89**, 891-898 (2001).
- 148 Zorov, D. B., Filburn, C. R., Klotz, L. O., Zweier, J. L. & Sollott, S. J. Reactive oxygen species (ROS)-induced ROS release: a new phenomenon accompanying induction of the mitochondrial permeability transition in cardiac myocytes. *J Exp Med* **192**, 1001-1014 (2000).
- 149 Bernardi, P., Veronese, P. & Petronilli, V. Modulation of the mitochondrial cyclosporin Asensitive permeability transition pore. I. Evidence for two separate Me2+ binding sites with opposing effects on the pore open probability. *J Biol Chem* **268**, 1005-1010 (1993).
- 150 Dhalla, N. S., Elmoselhi, A. B., Hata, T. & Makino, N. Status of myocardial antioxidants in ischemia-reperfusion injury. *Cardiovasc Res* **47**, 446-456, (2000).
- 151 Kerr, P. M., Suleiman, M. S. & Halestrap, A. P. Reversal of permeability transition during recovery of hearts from ischemia and its enhancement by pyruvate. *Am J Physiol* **276**, H496-502 (1999).
- 152 Javadov, S. A. *et al.* Protection of hearts from reperfusion injury by propofol is associated with inhibition of the mitochondrial permeability transition. *Cardiovasc Res* **45**, 360-369, (2000).
- 153 Mallet, R. T. Pyruvate: metabolic protector of cardiac performance. *Proc Soc Exp Biol Med* **223**, 136-148 (2000).
- 154 Cross, H. R., Clarke, K., Opie, L. H. & Radda, G. K. Is lactate-induced myocardial ischaemic injury mediated by decreased pH or increased intracellular lactate? *J Mol Cell Cardiol* 27, 1369-1381, (1995).
- 155 Kokita, N. *et al.* Propofol improves functional and metabolic recovery in ischemic reperfused isolated rat hearts. *Anesth Analg* **86**, 252-258 (1998).
- 156 Kokita, N. & Hara, A. Propofol attenuates hydrogen peroxide-induced mechanical and metabolic derangements in the isolated rat heart. *Anesthesiology* **84**, 117-127 (1996).
- 157 Lim, K. H., Halestrap, A. P., Angelini, G. D. & Suleiman, M. S. Propofol is cardioprotective in a clinically relevant model of normothermic blood cardioplegic arrest and cardiopulmonary bypass. *Exp Biol Med (Maywood)* **230**, 413-420, (2005).
- 158 Broekemeier, K. M. & Pfeiffer, D. R. Inhibition of the mitochondrial permeability transition by cyclosporin A during long time frame experiments: relationship between pore opening and the activity of mitochondrial phospholipases. *Biochemistry* **34**, 16440-16449 (1995).
- 159 Halestrap, A. P., Woodfield, K. Y. & Connern, C. P. Oxidative stress, thiol reagents, and membrane potential modulate the mitochondrial permeability transition by affecting nucleotide binding to the adenine nucleotide translocase. *J Biol Chem* **272**, 3346-3354 (1997).
- 160 Krasinskaya, I. P., Kudryashova, I. A. & Yaguzhinsky, L. S. On the mechanism of oligomycin inhibition of Ca(2+)-induced mitochondrial respiration. *FEBS Lett* **290**, 52-54, (1991).
- 161 Novgorodov, S. A., Gudz, T. I., Kushnareva, Y. E., Zorov, D. B. & Kudrjashov, Y. B. Effect of cyclosporine A and oligomycin on non-specific permeability of the inner mitochondrial membrane. *FEBS Lett* **270**, 108-110, (1990).
- 162 Al-Nasser, I. & Crompton, M. The reversible Ca2+-induced permeabilization of rat liver mitochondria. *Biochem J* 239, 19-29 (1986).
- 163 Al-Nasser, I. & Crompton, M. The entrapment of the Ca2+ indicator arsenazo III in the matrix space of rat liver mitochondria by permeabilization and resealing. Na+-dependent and -

independent effluxes of Ca2+ in arsenazo III-loaded mitochondria. *Biochem J* 239, 31-40 (1986).

- 164 Crompton, M., Costi, A. & Hayat, L. Evidence for the presence of a reversible Ca2+dependent pore activated by oxidative stress in heart mitochondria. *Biochem J* 245, 915-918 (1987).
- 165 Petronilli, V., Szabo, I. & Zoratti, M. The inner mitochondrial membrane contains ionconducting channels similar to those found in bacteria. *FEBS Lett* **259**, 137-143, (1989).
- 166 Bernardi, P. *et al.* The mitochondrial permeability transition from in vitro artifact to disease target. *FEBS J* **273**, 2077-2099, (2006).
- 167 Le-Quoc, D. & Le-Quoc, K. Relationships between the NAD(P) redox state, fatty acid oxidation, and inner membrane permeability in rat liver mitochondria. *Arch Biochem Biophys* 273, 466-478 (1989).
- 168 Halestrap, A. P. & Davidson, A. M. Inhibition of Ca2(+)-induced large-amplitude swelling of liver and heart mitochondria by cyclosporin is probably caused by the inhibitor binding to mitochondrial-matrix peptidyl-prolyl cis-trans isomerase and preventing it interacting with the adenine nucleotide translocase. *Biochem J* **268**, 153-160 (1990).
- 169 Kokoszka, J. E. *et al.* The ADP/ATP translocator is not essential for the mitochondrial permeability transition pore. *Nature* **427**, 461-465, (2004).
- 170 Halestrap, A. P., Clarke, S. J. & Javadov, S. A. Mitochondrial permeability transition pore opening during myocardial reperfusion--a target for cardioprotection. *Cardiovasc Res* 61, 372-385, (2004).
- 171 Camara, Y., Mampel, T., Armengol, J., Villarroya, F. & Dejean, L. UCP3 expression in liver modulates gene expression and oxidative metabolism in response to fatty acids, and sensitizes mitochondria to permeability transition. *Cell Physiol Biochem* **24**, 243-252, (2009).
- 172 Halestrap, A. Biochemistry: a pore way to die. *Nature* **434**, 578-579, (2005).
- 173 Griffiths, E. J. & Halestrap, A. P. Further evidence that cyclosporin A protects mitochondria from calcium overload by inhibiting a matrix peptidyl-prolyl cis-trans isomerase. Implications for the immunosuppressive and toxic effects of cyclosporin. *Biochem J* **274** (**Pt 2**), 611-614 (1991).
- 174 Connern, C. P. & Halestrap, A. P. Purification and N-terminal sequencing of peptidyl-prolyl cis-trans-isomerase from rat liver mitochondrial matrix reveals the existence of a distinct mitochondrial cyclophilin. *Biochem J* 284 (Pt 2), 381-385 (1992).
- 175 Woodfield, K. Y., Price, N. T. & Halestrap, A. P. cDNA cloning of rat mitochondrial cyclophilin. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1351**, 27-30, (1997).
- 176 Azzolin, L. *et al.* The mitochondrial permeability transition from yeast to mammals. *FEBS Lett* **584**, 2504-2509, (2010).
- Halestrap, A. P. What is the mitochondrial permeability transition pore? *J Mol Cell Cardiol* 46, 821-831, (2009).
- 178 Hausenloy, D. J., Lim, S. Y., Ong, S. G., Davidson, S. M. & Yellon, D. M. Mitochondrial cyclophilin-D as a critical mediator of ischaemic preconditioning. *Cardiovasc Res* **88**, 67-74, (2010).
- 179 Nguyen, T. T. *et al.* Cysteine 203 of cyclophilin D is critical for cyclophilin D activation of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore. *J Biol Chem* **286**, 40184-40192, (2011).
- 180 Zoratti, M. & Szabo, I. Electrophysiology of the inner mitochondrial membrane. *J Bioenerg Biomembr* **26**, 543-553 (1994).
- 181 Haworth, R. A. & Hunter, D. R. Allosteric inhibition of the Ca2+-activated hydrophilic channel of the mitochondrial inner membrane by nucleotides. *J Membr Biol* **54**, 231-236 (1980).
- 182 Brdiczka, D. G., Zorov, D. B. & Sheu, S. S. Mitochondrial contact sites: their role in energy metabolism and apoptosis. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1762**, 148-163, (2006).
- 183 Petronilli, V., Cola, C. & Bernardi, P. Modulation of the mitochondrial cyclosporin Asensitive permeability transition pore. II. The minimal requirements for pore induction underscore a key role for transmembrane electrical potential, matrix pH, and matrix Ca2+. J Biol Chem 268, 1011-1016 (1993).
- 184 Crompton, M., Virji, S. & Ward, J. M. Cyclophilin-D binds strongly to complexes of the voltage-dependent anion channel and the adenine nucleotide translocase to form the permeability transition pore. *Eur J Biochem* **258**, 729-735 (1998).
- 185 Cesura, A. M. *et al.* The voltage-dependent anion channel is the target for a new class of inhibitors of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore. *J Biol Chem* **278**, 49812-49818, (2003).

- 186 Krauskopf, A., Eriksson, O., Craigen, W. J., Forte, M. A. & Bernardi, P. Properties of the permeability transition in VDAC1(-/-) mitochondria. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1757, 590-595, (2006).
- 187 Baines, C. P., Kaiser, R. A., Sheiko, T., Craigen, W. J. & Molkentin, J. D. Voltage-dependent anion channels are dispensable for mitochondrial-dependent cell death. *Nat Cell Biol* 9, 550-555, (2007).
- 188 Tan, W. & Colombini, M. VDAC closure increases calcium ion flux. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1768, 2510-2515, (2007).
- 189 Tikunov, A. *et al.* Closure of VDAC causes oxidative stress and accelerates the Ca(2+)induced mitochondrial permeability transition in rat liver mitochondria. *Arch Biochem Biophys* **495**, 174-181, (2010).
- 190 Krestinina, O. V. *et al.* Effect of peripheral benzodiazepine receptor (PBR/TSPO) ligands on opening of Ca2+-induced pore and phosphorylation of 3.5-kDa polypeptide in rat brain mitochondria. *Biochemistry (Mosc)* **74**, 421-429, (2009).
- 191 Kusano, T., Tateda, C., Berberich, T. & Takahashi, Y. Voltage-dependent anion channels: their roles in plant defense and cell death. *Plant Cell Rep* **28**, 1301-1308, (2009).
- 192 Tomasello, F. *et al.* Outer membrane VDAC1 controls permeability transition of the inner mitochondrial membrane in cellulo during stress-induced apoptosis. *Cell Res* **19**, 1363-1376, (2009).
- 193 Shoshan-Barmatz, V., Keinan, N., Abu-Hamad, S., Tyomkin, D. & Aram, L. Apoptosis is regulated by the VDAC1 N-terminal region and by VDAC oligomerization: release of cytochrome c, AIF and Smac/Diablo. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1797**, 1281-1291, (2010).
- 194 Leung, A. W. & Halestrap, A. P. Recent progress in elucidating the molecular mechanism of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1777**, 946-952, (2008).
- Baines, C. P. *et al.* Loss of cyclophilin D reveals a critical role for mitochondrial permeability transition in cell death. *Nature* **434**, 658-662, (2005).
- 196 Basso, E. *et al.* Properties of the permeability transition pore in mitochondria devoid of Cyclophilin D. *J Biol Chem* **280**, 18558-18561, (2005).
- 197 Nakagawa, T. *et al.* Cyclophilin D-dependent mitochondrial permeability transition regulates some necrotic but not apoptotic cell death. *Nature* **434**, 652-658, (2005).
- 198 Kramer, R. Mitochondrial carrier proteins can reversibly change their transport mode: the cases of the aspartate/glutamate and the phosphate carrier. *Exp Physiol* **83**, 259-265 (1998).
- 199 Di Lisa, F. & Bernardi, P. A CaPful of mechanisms regulating the mitochondrial permeability transition. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* **46**, 775-780, (2009).
- 200 Giorgio, V. *et al.* Cyclophilin D modulates mitochondrial F0F1-ATP synthase by interacting with the lateral stalk of the complex. *J Biol Chem* **284**, 33982-33988, (2009).
- 201 Hausenloy, D. J., Yellon, D. M., Mani-Babu, S. & Duchen, M. R. Preconditioning protects by inhibiting the mitochondrial permeability transition. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **287**, H841-849, (2004).
- 202 Qian, T., Nieminen, A. L., Herman, B. & Lemasters, J. J. Mitochondrial permeability transition in pH-dependent reperfusion injury to rat hepatocytes. *Am J Physiol* **273**, C1783-1792 (1997).
- 203 Di Lisa, F., Menabo, R., Canton, M., Barile, M. & Bernardi, P. Opening of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore causes depletion of mitochondrial and cytosolic NAD+ and is a causative event in the death of myocytes in postischemic reperfusion of the heart. *J Biol Chem* **276**, 2571-2575, (2001).
- 204 Abramov, A. Y. & Duchen, M. R. Measurements of threshold of mitochondrial permeability transition pore opening in intact and permeabilized cells by flash photolysis of caged calcium. *Methods Mol Biol* **793**, 299-309, (2011).
- 205 Halestrap, A. P. Calcium-dependent opening of a non-specific pore in the mitochondrial inner membrane is inhibited at pH values below 7. Implications for the protective effect of low pH against chemical and hypoxic cell damage. *Biochem J* **278** (**Pt 3**), 715-719 (1991).
- 206 Bond, J. M., Chacon, E., Herman, B. & Lemasters, J. J. Intracellular pH and Ca2+ homeostasis in the pH paradox of reperfusion injury to neonatal rat cardiac myocytes. *Am J Physiol* **265**, C129-137 (1993).
- 207 Miyamae, M., Camacho, S. A., Weiner, M. W. & Figueredo, V. M. Attenuation of postischemic reperfusion injury is related to prevention of [Ca2+]m overload in rat hearts. *Am J Physiol* 271, H2145-2153 (1996).
- 208 Mitchell, P. & Moyle, J. Chemiosmotic hypothesis of oxidative phosphorylation. *Nature* **213**, 137-139 (1967).

- 209 Di Lisa, F., Canton, M., Menabo, R., Dodoni, G. & Bernardi, P. Mitochondria and reperfusion injury. The role of permeability transition. *Basic Res Cardiol* **98**, 235-241, (2003).
- Halestrap, A. P. Mitochondrial permeability: dual role for the ADP/ATP translocator? *Nature* 430, 1 p following 983 (2004).
- 211 Moquin, D. & Chan, F. K. The molecular regulation of programmed necrotic cell injury. *Biochem Sci* **35**, 434-441, (2010).
- 212 Vandenabeele, P., Declercq, W., Van Herreweghe, F. & Vanden Berghe, T. The role of the kinases RIP1 and RIP3 in TNF-induced necrosis. *Sci Signal* **3**, re4, (2010).
- 213 Baines, C. P. The mitochondrial permeability transition pore and the cardiac necrotic program. *Pediatr Cardiol* **32**, 258-262, (2011).
- 214 Leducq, N. *et al.* Mitochondrial and energetic dysfunctions of the liver during normothermic reperfusion: protective effect of cyclosporine and role of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore. *Transplant Proc* **32**, 479-480, (2000).
- 215 Martinou, J. C. & Green, D. R. Breaking the mitochondrial barrier. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **2**, 63-67, (2001).
- 216 Crompton, M. On the involvement of mitochondrial intermembrane junctional complexes in apoptosis. *Curr Med Chem* **10**, 1473-1484 (2003).
- 217 Bahi, N. *et al.* Switch from caspase-dependent to caspase-independent death during heart development: essential role of endonuclease G in ischemia-induced DNA processing of differentiated cardiomyocytes. *J Biol Chem* **281**, 22943-22952, (2006).
- 218 Gottlieb, R. ICE-ing the heart. *Circ Res* **96**, 1036-1038, (2005).
- 219 Mocanu, M. M., Baxter, G. F. & Yellon, D. M. Caspase inhibition and limitation of myocardial infarct size: protection against lethal reperfusion injury. *Br J Pharmacol* 130, 197-200, (2000).
- 220 Stephanou, A. *et al.* Distinct initiator caspases are required for the induction of apoptosis in cardiac myocytes during ischaemia versus reperfusion injury. *Cell Death Differ* **8**, 434-435, (2001).
- 221 Vandenabeele, P., Vanden Berghe, T. & Festjens, N. Caspase inhibitors promote alternative cell death pathways. *Sci STKE* **2006**, pe44, Resche-Rigon, M. The mitochondrial death/life regulator in apoptosis and necrosis. *Annu Rev Physiol* **60**, 619-642, (1998).
- 223 Tafani, M., Schneider, T. G., Pastorino, J. G. & Farber, J. L. Cytochrome c-dependent activation of caspase-3 by tumor necrosis factor requires induction of the mitochondrial permeability transition. *Am J Pathol* **156**, 2111-2121, (2000).
- 224 von Ahsen, O. *et al.* Preservation of mitochondrial structure and function after Bid- or Baxmediated cytochrome c release. *J Cell Biol* **150**, 1027-1036 (2000).
- 225 Wei, M. C. *et al.* tBID, a membrane-targeted death ligand, oligomerizes BAK to release cytochrome c. *Genes Dev* 14, 2060-2071 (2000).
- Lin, D. T. & Lechleiter, J. D. Mitochondrial targeted cyclophilin D protects cells from cell death by peptidyl prolyl isomerization. *J Biol Chem* **277**, 31134-31141, (2002).
- 227 Schubert, A. & Grimm, S. Cyclophilin D, a component of the permeability transition-pore, is an apoptosis repressor. *Cancer Res* **64**, 85-93 (2004).
- 228 Li, Y., Johnson, N., Capano, M., Edwards, M. & Crompton, M. Cyclophilin-D promotes the mitochondrial permeability transition but has opposite effects on apoptosis and necrosis. *Biochem J* 383, 101-109, (2004).
- 229 Hausenloy, D. J., Maddock, H. L., Baxter, G. F. & Yellon, D. M. Inhibiting mitochondrial permeability transition pore opening: a new paradigm for myocardial preconditioning? *Cardiovasc Res* **55**, 534-543, (2002).
- 230 Schinzel, A. C. *et al.* Cyclophilin D is a component of mitochondrial permeability transition and mediates neuronal cell death after focal cerebral ischemia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **102**, 12005-12010, (2005).
- Periasamy, M. Calcineurin and the heartbeat, an evolving story. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* **34**, 259-262, (2002).
- 232 Schreiber, S. L. & Crabtree, G. R. The mechanism of action of cyclosporin A and FK506. *Immunol Today* **13**, 136-142, (1992).
- Argaud, L. *et al.* Specific inhibition of the mitochondrial permeability transition prevents lethal reperfusion injury. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* **38**, 367-374, (2005).
- 234 Gomez, L. *et al.* Inhibition of mitochondrial permeability transition improves functional recovery and reduces mortality following acute myocardial infarction in mice. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **293**, H1654-1661, (2007).

- 235 Sztark, F., Ichas, F., Ouhabi, R., Dabadie, P. & Mazat, J. P. Effects of the anaesthetic propofol on the calcium-induced permeability transition of rat heart mitochondria: direct pore inhibition and shift of the gating potential. *FEBS Lett* **368**, 101-104, (1995).
- 236 Chiari, P. C. *et al.* Isoflurane protects against myocardial infarction during early reperfusion by activation of phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase signal transduction: evidence for anestheticinduced postconditioning in rabbits. *Anesthesiology* **102**, 102-109, (2005).
- 237 Lange, M., Roewer, N. & Kehl, F. Anesthetic preconditioning as the alternative to ischemic preconditioning. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* **131**, 252-253; author reply 253, (2006).
- 238 Javadov, S., Huang, C., Kirshenbaum, L. & Karmazyn, M. NHE-1 inhibition improves impaired mitochondrial permeability transition and respiratory function during postinfarction remodelling in the rat. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* **38**, 135-143, (2005).
- 239 Javadov, S. *et al.* NHE-1 inhibition-induced cardioprotection against ischaemia/reperfusion is associated with attenuation of the mitochondrial permeability transition. *Cardiovasc Res* 77, 416-424, (2008).
- 240 Massoudy, P., Becker, B. F., Seligmann, C. & Gerlach, E. Preischaemic as well as postischaemic application of a calcium antagonist affords cardioprotection in the isolated guinea pig heart. *Cardiovasc Res* **29**, 577-582, (1995).
- 241 Lemasters, J. J. *et al.* The pH paradox in ischemia-reperfusion injury to cardiac myocytes. *EXS* **76**, 99-114 (1996).
- Bond, J. M., Herman, B. & Lemasters, J. J. Protection by acidotic pH against anoxia/reoxygenation injury to rat neonatal cardiac myocytes. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 179, 798-803, (1991).
- 243 Downey, J. M., Davis, A. M. & Cohen, M. V. Signaling pathways in ischemic preconditioning. *Heart Fail Rev* **12**, 181-188, (2007).
- Argaud, L. *et al.* Postconditioning inhibits mitochondrial permeability transition. *Circulation* 111, 194-197, (2005).
- 245 Deutsch, E. *et al.* Adaptation to ischemia during percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty. Clinical, hemodynamic, and metabolic features. *Circulation* **82**, 2044-2051 (1990).
- Tomai, F. *et al.* Mechanisms of cardiac pain during coronary angioplasty. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 22, 1892-1896, (1993).
- 247 Ottani, F. *et al.* Prodromal angina limits infarct size. A role for ischemic preconditioning. *Circulation* **91**, 291-297 (1995).
- 248 Lasley, R. D., Anderson, G. M. & Mentzer, R. M., Jr. Ischaemic and hypoxic preconditioning enhance postischaemic recovery of function in the rat heart. *Cardiovasc Res* **27**, 565-570 (1993).
- 249 Shizukuda, Y., Mallet, R. T., Lee, S. C. & Downey, H. F. Hypoxic preconditioning of ischaemic canine myocardium. *Cardiovasc Res* **26**, 534-542 (1992).
- 250 Engelman, D. T. *et al.* Hypoxic preconditioning preserves antioxidant reserve in the working rat heart. *Cardiovasc Res* **29**, 133-140, (1995).
- 251 Webster, K. A., Discher, D. J. & Bishopric, N. H. Cardioprotection in an in vitro model of hypoxic preconditioning. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* **27**, 453-458, (1995).
- 252 Jenkins, D. P., Pugsley, W. B. & Yellon, D. M. Ischaemic preconditioning in a model of global ischaemia: infarct size limitation, but no reduction of stunning. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* 27, 1623-1632 (1995).
- 253 Cohen, M. V., Liu, G. S. & Downey, J. M. Preconditioning causes improved wall motion as well as smaller infarcts after transient coronary occlusion in rabbits. *Circulation* **84**, 341-349 (1991).
- 254 Paradise, N. F., Schmitter, J. L. & Surmitis, J. M. Criteria for adequate oxygenation of isometric kitten papillary muscle. *Am J Physiol* **241**, H348-353 (1981).
- 255 Hill, A. V. The Diffusion of Oxygen and Lactic Acid through Tissues *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London* **104**, 58 (1928).
- 256 Prasad, K. & Callaghan, J. C. Effect of replacement of potassium by rubidium on the transmembrane action potential and contractility of human papillary muscle. *Circ Res* 24, 157-166 (1969).
- 257 Page, E. & Solomon, A. K. Cat heart muscle in vitro. I. Cell volumes and intracellular concentrations in papillary muscle. *J Gen Physiol* **44**, 327-344 (1960).
- 258 Bristow, M. R. *et al.* Beta-adrenergic neuroeffector abnormalities in the failing human heart are produced by local rather than systemic mechanisms. *J Clin Invest* **89**, 803-815, (1992).

- 259 White, M. *et al.* Age-related changes in beta-adrenergic neuroeffector systems in the human heart. *Circulation* **90**, 1225-1238 (1994).
- 260 Carr, C. S., Grover, G. J., Pugsley, W. B. & Yellon, D. M. Comparison of the protective effects of a highly selective ATP-sensitive potassium channel opener and ischemic preconditioning in isolated human atrial muscle. *Cardiovasc Drugs Ther* **11**, 473-478 (1997).
- 261 Carr, C. S. & Yellon, D. M. Ischaemic preconditioning may abolish the protection afforded by ATP-sensitive potassium channel openers in isolated human atrial muscle. *Basic Res Cardiol* 92, 252-260 (1997).
- 262 Speechly-Dick, M. E., Grover, G. J. & Yellon, D. M. Does ischemic preconditioning in the human involve protein kinase C and the ATP-dependent K+ channel? Studies of contractile function after simulated ischemia in an atrial in vitro model. *Circ Res* **77**, 1030-1035 (1995).
- 263 Harding, S. E. *et al.* Isolated ventricular myocytes from failing and non-failing human heart; the relation of age and clinical status of patients to isoproterenol response. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* 24, 549-564, (1992).
- 264 Andree, H. A. *et al.* Binding of vascular anticoagulant alpha (VAC alpha) to planar phospholipid bilayers. *J Biol Chem* **265**, 4923-4928 (1990).
- 265 Boersma, H. H. *et al.* Past, present, and future of annexin A5: from protein discovery to clinical applications. *J Nucl Med* **46**, 2035-2050, (2005).
- 266 Foglieni, C., Meoni, C. & Davalli, A. M. Fluorescent dyes for cell viability: an application on prefixed conditions. *Histochem Cell Biol* **115**, 223-229 (2001).
- 267 Duchen, M. R. Mitochondria and Ca(2+)in cell physiology and pathophysiology. *Cell Calcium* **28**, 339-348, (2000).
- 268 Duchen, M. R., Leyssens, A. & Crompton, M. Transient mitochondrial depolarizations reflect focal sarcoplasmic reticular calcium release in single rat cardiomyocytes. *J Cell Biol* **142**, 975-988 (1998).
- 269 Ichas, F., Jouaville, L. S. & Mazat, J. P. Mitochondria are excitable organelles capable of generating and conveying electrical and calcium signals. *Cell* **89**, 1145-1153, (1997).
- 270 Jacobson, J. & Duchen, M. R. Mitochondrial oxidative stress and cell death in astrocytes-requirement for stored Ca2+ and sustained opening of the permeability transition pore. *J Cell Sci* 115, 1175-1188 (2002).
- 271 Ehrenberg, B., Montana, V., Wei, M. D., Wuskell, J. P. & Loew, L. M. Membrane potential can be determined in individual cells from the nernstian distribution of cationic dyes. *Biophys* J 53, 785-794, (1988).
- 272 Bunting, J. R., Phan, T. V., Kamali, E. & Dowben, R. M. Fluorescent cationic probes of mitochondria. Metrics and mechanism of interaction. *Biophys J* 56, 979-993, (1989).
- 273 Zamzami, N. & Kroemer, G. Apoptosis: mitochondrial membrane permeabilization--the (w)hole story? *Curr Biol* **13**, R71-73, (2003).
- Feldmann, G. *et al.* Opening of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore causes matrix expansion and outer membrane rupture in Fas-mediated hepatic apoptosis in mice. *Hepatology* 31, 674-683, (2000).
- 275 Sullivan, P. G., Thompson, M. B. & Scheff, S. W. Cyclosporin A attenuates acute mitochondrial dysfunction following traumatic brain injury. *Exp Neurol* **160**, 226-234, (1999).
- 276 Esumi, K., Nishida, M., Shaw, D., Smith, T. W. & Marsh, J. D. NADH measurements in adult rat myocytes during simulated ischemia. *Am J Physiol* **260**, H1743-1752 (1991).
- 277 Yaoita, H., Ogawa, K., Maehara, K. & Maruyama, Y. Attenuation of ischemia/reperfusion injury in rats by a caspase inhibitor. *Circulation* **97**, 276-281 (1998).
- 278 Nakayama, H. *et al.* Ca2+- and mitochondrial-dependent cardiomyocyte necrosis as a primary mediator of heart failure. *J Clin Invest* **117**, 2431-2444, (2007).
- 279 Huser, J., Rechenmacher, C. E. & Blatter, L. A. Imaging the permeability pore transition in single mitochondria. *Biophys J* 74, 2129-2137, (1998).
- 280 Akao, M. *et al.* Differential actions of cardioprotective agents on the mitochondrial death pathway. *Circ Res* **92**, 195-202 (2003).
- 281 Piper, H. M., Garcia-Dorado, D. & Ovize, M. A fresh look at reperfusion injury. *Cardiovasc Res* **38**, 291-300, (1998).
- 282 Di Lisa, F., Carpi, A., Giorgio, V. & Bernardi, P. The mitochondrial permeability transition pore and cyclophilin D in cardioprotection. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1813**, 1316-1322, (2011).
- 283 Matsumoto-Ida, M., Akao, M., Takeda, T., Kato, M. & Kita, T. Real-time 2-photon imaging of mitochondrial function in perfused rat hearts subjected to ischemia/reperfusion. *Circulation* 114, 1497-1503, (2006).

- 284 Skyschally, A., Schulz, R. & Heusch, G. Cyclosporine A at reperfusion reduces infarct size in pigs. *Cardiovasc Drugs Ther* **24**, 85-87, (2010).
- 285 Oka, N., Wang, L., Mi, W. & Caldarone, C. A. Inhibition of mitochondrial remodeling by cyclosporine A preserves myocardial performance in a neonatal rabbit model of cardioplegic arrest. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* **135**, 585-593, (2008).
- 286 Holmuhamedov, E. L., Jovanovic, S., Dzeja, P. P., Jovanovic, A. & Terzic, A. Mitochondrial ATP-sensitive K+ channels modulate cardiac mitochondrial function. *Am J Physiol* 275, H1567-1576 (1998).
- 287 Holmuhamedov, E. L., Wang, L. & Terzic, A. ATP-sensitive K+ channel openers prevent Ca2+ overload in rat cardiac mitochondria. *J Physiol* **519 Pt 2**, 347-360, (1999).
- 288 Ishida, H. *et al.* Opening of mitochondrial K(ATP) channels attenuates the ouabain-induced calcium overload in mitochondria. *Circ Res* **89**, 856-858 (2001).
- 289 Ishida, T., Yarimizu, K., Gute, D. C. & Korthuis, R. J. Mechanisms of ischemic preconditioning. *Shock* 8, 86-94 (1997).
- 290 Riess, M. L. *et al.* Anesthetic preconditioning attenuates mitochondrial Ca2+ overload during ischemia in Guinea pig intact hearts: reversal by 5-hydroxydecanoic acid. *Anesth Analg* **95**, 1540-1546, table of contents (2002).
- 291 Fryer, R. M., Hsu, A. K., Nagase, H. & Gross, G. J. Opioid-induced cardioprotection against myocardial infarction and arrhythmias: mitochondrial versus sarcolemmal ATP-sensitive potassium channels. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 294, 451-457 (2000).
- 292 Iwai, T., Tanonaka, K., Koshimizu, M. & Takeo, S. Preservation of mitochondrial function by diazoxide during sustained ischaemia in the rat heart. *Br J Pharmacol* **129**, 1219-1227, (2000).
- 293 Crestanello, J. A., Lingle, D. M., Kamelgard, J., Millili, J. & Whitman, G. J. Ischemic preconditioning decreases oxidative stress during reperfusion: a chemiluminescence study. *J Surg Res* **65**, 53-58, (1996).
- 294 Ozcan, C., Bienengraeber, M., Dzeja, P. P. & Terzic, A. Potassium channel openers protect cardiac mitochondria by attenuating oxidant stress at reoxygenation. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **282**, H531-539, (2002).
- 295 Vanden Hoek, T., Becker, L. B., Shao, Z. H., Li, C. Q. & Schumacker, P. T. Preconditioning in cardiomyocytes protects by attenuating oxidant stress at reperfusion. *Circ Res* **86**, 541-548 (2000).
- 296 Bell, S. P., Sack, M. N., Patel, A., Opie, L. H. & Yellon, D. M. Delta opioid receptor stimulation mimics ischemic preconditioning in human heart muscle. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 36, 2296-2302, (2000).
- 297 Cleveland, J. C., Jr., Meldrum, D. R., Rowland, R. T., Banerjee, A. & Harken, A. H. Adenosine preconditioning of human myocardium is dependent upon the ATP-sensitive K+ channel. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* **29**, 175-182, (1997).
- 298 Crompton, M. The mitochondrial permeability transition pore and its role in cell death. *Biochem J* **341** (**Pt 2**), 233-249 (1999).
- 299 Schneider, A. *et al.* Protection of myocardium by cyclosporin A and insulin: in vitro simulated ischemia study in human myocardium. *Ann Thorac Surg* **76**, 1240-1245, (2003).
- 300 Hausenloy, D. J. & Yellon, D. M. Clinical translation of cardioprotective strategies : report and recommendations of the Hatter Institute 5th International Workshop on Cardioprotection. *Basic Res Cardiol* **103**, 493-500, (2008).